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Biotest GRoup – Key Figures

Key FiGuRes

Biotest GRoup*  2012 2011 Change in %

Revenue € million 440.0 422.0 4.3

thereof:

Germany € million 89.4 96.9 – 7.7

Rest of World € million 350.6 325.1 7.8

thereof:

therapy € million 330.9 324.7 1.9

plasma & services € million 97.0 87.9 10.4

other segments € million 12.1 9.4 28.7

eBitDA € million 76.1 72.4 5.1

eBit € million 44.7 41.6 7.5

EBIT in % of sales % 10.2 9.9

earnings before taxes € million 36.5 28.6 27.6

earnings after taxes € million 23.1 18.7 23.5

structure of expenses:

Cost of materials € million 167.9 165.1 1.7

personnel expenses € million 116.1 106.7 8.8

Research and development costs € million 51.4 49.4 4.0

Research and development costs in % of sales % 11.7 11.7

Capital expenditure in property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets € million 34.5 26.7 29.2

Financing

Cash flow** € million 34.7 72.5 – 52.1

Depreciation and amortisation € million 31.4 30.8 1.9

equity (as of 31 December) € million 369.4 346.7 6.5

Equity ratio (as of 31 December) % 54.1 50.8

total assets and liabilities (as of 31 December) € million 682.3 682.8 – 0.1

employees (full-time equivalents as of 31 December) 1,726.9 1.661.5 3.9

earnings per share € 1.94 1.57 23.6

*   Continuing operations

** from operating activities
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2 Biotest GRoup – Foreword

DeAR sHAReHolDeRs,

We are very pleased to report that 2012 was a successful year for Biotest. Over the last 12 months, 

we achieved for both our sales and our earnings considerable increases. Despite a European market 

environment characterised by stagnant prices and the challenges faced in Southern Europe, we 

managed to successfully pursue our path of growth. We would like you, our valued shareholders, to 

participate in this success and will once again recommend an increased dividend payment at the 

Annual Shareholders' Meeting.

With our new strategic realignment, our focus is on patients and their needs. Our goal is to support 

their therapy programmes with our diverse range of products. And through our research and develop-

ment efforts, we seek to create additional new treatment opportunities for the future.

Since the beginning of financial year 2012, the Biotest Group has been re-aligned into the following 

segments: Therapy, Plasma & Services and Other Segments. In the Therapy segment, we focus on 

three indication areas, where our products are used: haematology, clinical immunology and intensive 

medicine. These areas all have a high medical demand and offer stable growth prospects.

Keeping this in mind, an important milestone in the past year was the granting of marketing 

authorisation for the immunoglobulin BivigamTM in the US in December 2012. The market intro-

duction – the first Biotest-developed product on the US market – represents another important 

page in our success story. A major milestone in this process was the takeover of the plasma protein 

business of Nabi Biopharmaceuticals Corporation and the founding of our US subsidiary, BPC. We 

expect the medium- and long-term sales potential for BivigamTM, which is used to treat patients 

with primary immunodeficiencies (PID), to be around USD 100 million. Thus, another important 

step in the history of Biotest has been taken.

Our consistent internationalisation strategy includes our planned expansion into China – one of 

the fastest growing pharmaceutical markets in the world. Due to a distribution agreement with 

Wanbang Biopharma for the marketing of human albumin, we will gain access to the high-price 

Chinese albumin market. We expect this to generate an additional € 20 to € 30 million in medium-

term sales. A new distribution partnership in Russia with Merz Pharma GmbH represents a further 

step toward the geographical diversification of our business model in 2012.

pRoF. DR. GReGoR sCHul z

Chairman of the Board of Management

–
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We were also successful in restructuring our activities in Greece. The takeover of marketing authori-

sation and distribution of our products by the distributor Vianex allowed us to greatly reduce our 

risks in this market, as Vianex will requires advance payment for further distribution of Biotest 

products. At the same time, with this solution we are ensuring the continuous supply of our products 

for patients.

Besides our efforts to continuously expand our plasma protein business, we are also moving forward 

in our development of monoclonal antibodies. Especially noteworthy in the past year has been our 

progress in the clinical development of Tregalizumab (BT-061), which is being developed by Biotest 

in cooperation with AbbVie (a global, research-based biopharmaceutical company formed in 2013 

following separation from Abbott). Also worth mentioning are our preclinical study findings for our 

immunoconjugate BT-062, which showed efficacy against aggressive solid tumours in mice. Thus, in 

addition to its efficacy against multiple myeloma (a type of bone marrow cancer), which we already 

examined in clinical studies, the drug presents completely new opportunities: In preclinical tries, 

human breast and pancreatic tumours that were resistant to all other therapy procedures were 

completely destroyed. Although our research and development with this product is just beginning, 

early findings already point to the enormous potential of our latest development efforts.

Overall, Biotest was able to increase sales in Continuing Operations in the past year from € 422.0 

million to € 440.0 million. Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to € 44.7 million (2011: 

€ 41.6 million) – an increase of 7.5 %. Thus, despite the tense market situation in Europe, we clearly 

met our projections and laid the foundation for future growth. With a 27.6 % rise in earnings before 

taxes (EBT) from € 28.6 million to € 36.5 million and a 23 % increase in earnings after taxes (EAT) 

from € 18.7 million to € 23.1 million, we considerably exceeded our results from the previous year.

In financial year 2013, we expect Group sales to grow by 10 to 15 %. For EBIT, we expect results of a 

similar magnitude for the current reporting year. 

With the sale of the Microbiological Monitoring division in 2011, Biotest realigned both its strategy 

as well as its organisation, a move which already began to produce efficiencies in 2012. On this basis, 

Biotest will pursue its opportunities with greater focus and generate even greater growth in the future.

Our continued success in 2012 and the promising prospects of the Biotest Group were reflected in the 

capital markets with a rise in our stock price.

For this, we would like to thank you, our valued shareholders, business partners and financing 

institutions, and we hope you will continue to support us on this exciting journey.

We would also like to thank our staff, whose daily commitment helps ensure the long-term success 

of the Biotest Group.

Cordially yours,

Prof. Dr. Gregor Schulz

Chairman of the Board of Management



+ 27.6 % 
 

earnings before taxes increased significantly  

due to the positive operating performance.

€ 440 million 
 

of revenue the Biotest Group generated in fiscal year 2012.  

Around 80 % with customers from abroad.

1,870 
 

employees worked for the Biotest Group  

at the end of 2012 – an increase of 5.4 %.

Biotest GRoup – Group Management Report4
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6 Biotest GRoup – Group Management Report

A . Economic REpoRt

i. BusinEss And gEnER Al fR AmEwoRk

A . At A gl AncE

the Biotest Group was able to increase sales (in Continuing 

operations) in financial year 2012 as expected by 4.3 % from 

€ 422.0 million in the previous year in Continuing operations 

to € 440.0 million in 2012.

earnings before interest and taxes (eBit) also increased signi-

ficantly in Continuing operations during the reporting period 

from € 41.6 million in 2011 to € 44.7 million – an increase of 

7.5 %. the growth in Group sales and earnings was driven pri-

marily by the international markets. While business in europe 

remained mostly stagnant due to continued price pressure as 

well as the euro and sovereign debt crises, revenue from out-

side europe increased significantly in some cases. Furthermore, 

improvements in production processes resulted in higher yields 

and, along with rigorous cost management, an improved cost 

of sales ratio.

An important milestone in the past year was the granting of 

marketing authorisation for the immunoglobulin BivigamtM 

in the us in December 2012. the launch of the product in 

February 2013 will provide a significant boost to the Com-

pany’s us business. the intravenous immunoglobulin is used 

to treat patients with primary immunodeficiencies (piDs) and 

has a medium- to long-term sales potential of around usD 

100 million.

B. BusinEss Activit y And coRpoR AtE stRuctuRE

the Biotest Group, with its headquarter in Dreieich, Germany, 

is an international supplier of biological medications. products 

currently on the market and new developments are both 

obtained from human blood plasma and manufactured using 

biotechnology methods. the indication areas are haematology, 

clinical immunology and intensive care medicine.

the Biotest Group is engaged in research and development in all 

three of these indication areas. the company covers all essential 

stages in the value chain, from preclinical and clinical develop-

ment – which is conducted in collaboration with internation-

ally well-known partners in the case of certain development 

projects – to global marketing. As a strategic option, further 

strengthening of marketing and sales is being pursued through 

collaboration with leading global pharmaceutical companies.

corporate structure

the consolidated financial statements include the parent com-

pany, Biotest AG, together with 15 other fully consolidated 

companies. the complete list of participating interests of 

the Biotest Group is provided in section F10 of the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements. Biotest AG has issued 

ordinary and preference shares, both of which are listed on 

the prime standard of the German stock exchange (Deutsche 

Börse).

For detailed information regarding corporate structure, man-

agement and controlling, see the “Management Declaration” 

available on the company website.

GRoup MAnAGeMent RepoRt
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segments of the Biotest group

As of the beginning of financial year 2012, the Company’s oper-

ations have been divided into the following segments: therapy, 

plasma & services and other segments. the therapy segment 

includes products and development projects assigned to the 

three indication areas. plasma sales and toll manufacturing are 

combined under the plasma & services segment. Merchandise 

sales and overhead costs that cannot be attributed to the 

therapy or plasma & services segments are reported by Biotest 

under other segments. previous years figures for Continuing 

operations have been adjusted to reflect the new segment struc-

ture. the claim to the subsequent purchase price payment from 

Merck KGaA was disclosed under Discontinued operation, as 

were the value of the sold Microbiological Monitoring segment 

and the remaining activities of the Medical Diagnostic segment 

in the previous year.

group strategy

the core element of the Biotest strategy in the therapy seg-

ment is a clear focus on marketing and developing products in 

the three indication areas of haematology, clinical immunology 

and intensive care medicine.

As a quality provider, an important factor in implementing this 

strategy is utilising internal resources to cover key portions 

of the value chain. these include research and development, 

plasma collection, production, quality assurance and distribu-

tion. the expertise acquired by the Company, especially in the 

areas of plasma collection and fractionation, is also used to 

offer available capacity on the market in the form of primary 

and intermediate products as well as toll manufacturing.

Another goal is the consistent internationalisation of the 

Company. By expanding the business into the us, among other 

countries, the Biotest Group will maintain a presence in nearly 

every major pharmaceutical market in the world.

in addition to sales of existing products, Biotest addresses 

the demands of additional lead indications with high medical 

need and large patient populations with monoclonal anti bodies 

and plasma proteins, which are currently in clinical develop-

ment. these preparations – provided they receive marketing 

authorisation – will enhance the product range significantly. 

they are characterised by a specific mechanism of action that 

distinguishes them from other therapeutic approaches, either 

approved or in development.

Alongside the continued pursuit of the Company's own 

research and development efforts, opportunities for further 

increasing the volume of business over the next several years 

through international acquisitions and licensing are being care-

fully examined.

Added value

the Biotest Group covers the entire value chain from production 

to marketing and sales for its primary product, plasma proteins. 

production takes place both at the headquarter in Dreieich as 

well as in Boca Raton, Florida, usA. in addition, Biotest main-

tains its own distribution operations in six european countries 

and Brazil to market its products in these countries. the Biotest 

Group is also active in over 70 countries through additional 

partnerships. sales activities are centrally initiated and man-

aged by Biotest, thus creating additional potential synergies 

along the value chain.

Human blood plasma is the basis for manufacturing current 

Biotest products. Biotest currently operates 22 of its own col-

lection centres in europe and the us to obtain this raw material 

and to sell some of it on to contracted partners. in these centres, 

blood is collected from qualified and strictly monitored healthy 

donors, and the required blood plasma is separated by plasma-

pheresis; this is then processed further at the production sites.

the prices that can be achieved for the finished products are 

influenced significantly by the available volume of plasma 

proteins relative to the demand. 

Also in the area of monoclonal antibodies, which are not 

obtained from human blood plasma but are manufactured 

using biotechnology methods, Biotest covers the essential 

elements of the value chain at its international locations. 

Further more, resources are supplemented by collaboration 

with well-known partners.

product portfolio

Biotest’s product range is divided between the indication areas 

of haematology, clinical immunology and intensive care medi-

cine. the portfolio contains products that are already on the 

market and also products that are at various phases of research 

and clinical development.
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pRoDuCts AnD DevelopMent pRojeCts FRoM tHe Biotest GRoup

preparations lead indication status

Haematology indication area

Haemoctin® Haemophilia A (acute therapy and prophylaxis) Marketing in south America, Asia, the eu and rest of the world

Haemonine® Haemophilia B (acute therapy and prophylaxis) Marketing in europe 

Bt-062* Multiple myeloma Clinical development; various ongoing trials, phase i/iia

Clinical immunology indication area

Bivigam™ primary immune deficiency (piD) since February 2013: marketing in usA;  
marketing authorisation granted by the FDA on 19 December 2012 

Cytotect® Cytomegalovirus infection (CMv prophylaxis) Marketing in Central and south America, Asia,  
the eu and rest of the world

Fovepta® ** Hepatitis B prophylaxis in newborns Marketing authorisation in Germany in 2012, marketing authori-
sation in nine other countries planned

Hepatect®,  
nabi-HB®

Hepatitis B (re)infection prophylaxis Marketing in south America, Asia and the eu 
nabi-HB® exclusively for the us market

intratect 5 % ® primary immune deficiency (piD)  
and secondary antibody deficiency syndromes 
as well as autoimmune diseases 

Marketing in America, Asia, the eu and rest of the world

intratect ® 100 g/l 
(10 % solution)

primary immune deficiency (piD)  
and secondary antibody deficiency syndromes 
as well as autoimmune diseases 

start of marketing in Germany in january 2013,  
introduction in five other european countries planned for 2013; 
extension to 13 additional european countries is planned

varitect® zoster virus infection (prophylaxis and therapy) Marketing in south America, Asia and the eu 

zutectra® Hepatitis B re-infection prophylaxis  
after liver transplantation

Marketing in Asia and the eu; additional clinical trial  
to extend the indication started in 2012 

Bt-063* systemic lupus erythematosus Clinical development; phase i trial concluded

Bt-094 (Cytotect 70)* prevention of CMv infection of the foetus  
during pregnancy of CMv-infected mother

Clinical development; phase iii trial ongoing

Civacir™ * Hepatitis C re-infection prophylaxis  
after liver transplantations

Clinical development; preparation of a clinical phase ii trial

tregalizumab (Bt-061)* Rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis Clinical development; various ongoing trials, phase iib

Intensive care medicine indication area

Biseko® Deficiency of volume and serum protein Marketing in Asia and the eu

Cofact® Deficiency of clotting factor Marketing in the eu

Humanalbumin volume depletion Marketing in south America, Asia, the eu and rest of the world

pentaglobin® severe bacterial infection Marketing in south America, Asia, the eu and rest of the world 

Fibrinogen* Deficiency of fibrinogen Clinical development; start of phase i/ii trial approved 

igM concentrate* severe bacterial infection 
(scap = severe community acquired pneumonia)

Clinical development; (phase ii trial ongoing) 

*   preparations under development (as of 31 December 2012)
** Brand name refers to Germany
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Human resources

Changes in personnel

As of 31 December 2012 the Biotest Group had a staff of 1,727 

full-time equivalents. Compared to 1,662 full-time equivalents 

at the end of 2011, this represents an increase of 3.9 %.

this growth is mainly attributable to newly created positions in 

plasma protein production at Biotest pharmaceuticals Corpo-

ration (BpC) as well as the establishment of additional plasma 

centres in the us. As of 31 December 2012 726 positions 

(42.1 %) were assigned to Biotest AG and another 696 (40.3 %) 

to BpC. over half of all employees (914) work in Germany.

Remuneration

the next phase of the long term incentive programme for 

success-based remuneration of management staff began as 

scheduled on 15 May 2012. this variable remuneration com-

ponent is based on the achievement of predefined targets. the 

programme is described in detail in section F1 of the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements.

Personnel and organisational development

the exceptional qualifications, motivation and performance of 

our staff are the reasons behind our long-term business success 

and growth. in 2012, we continued to give high priority to con-

tinuing education and professional development.

the focus of our efforts was on developing management teams 

and their departments. the current and future areas of activity 

of each department were discussed in tailored management 

workshops with an emphasis on organisation, processes and 

management. Based on this, we introduced a 360° feedback 

process for management performance in production and pro-

duction-related areas as well as leadership and communication 

training for project managers.

to ensure our ability to recruit qualified young specialists and 

managers, we established a partnership with the polytechnic 

university in Bingen. our cooperation allows top employees 

with a technical or biotechnical educational background or work 

experience the chance to participate in a four-year, in-service 

Bachelor of science programme in process technology. in 2012, 

two employees participated in the programme. the Biotest AG 

trainee programme was also expanded.

Traineeships

to attract and retain young talent and thus meet the challenges 

of the demographic shift, Biotest AG provides traineeships in 

seven different professions. school-leavers can begin their 

career in either a technical or commercial field. A new pro-

fession, Fachinformatiker systemintegration (it specialist in 

systems integration), was added in order to meet the growing 

requirements of it infrastructures. Biotest AG currently employs 

22 trainees as well as two students majoring in international 

Business Administration.

the quality of the company’s trainee programmes is reflected 

in the final examination results of the nine trainees who gradu-

ated in 2012. three of them were honoured by the Chamber of 

industry and Commerce (industrie- und Handelskammer) for 

their above-average examination scores.

to ensure its position as an employer of choice, Biotest contin-

ued to market its trainee programmes. the Company attended 

various vocational training trade fairs in an effort to raise 

awareness among school-leavers and their parents.

Business performance management

Biotest’s business performance is managed using both finan-

cial and non-financial indicators, changes in which influence 

enterprise value in different ways. Financial and non-financial 

performance indicators are measured continuously and form 

part of the monthly reports to the Board of Management.

these reports include an analysis of actual figures and their 

variances from planning and previous years figures by segment 

and company. Additional specific analyses are performed on 

an event-driven basis.
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Financial performance indicators

the indicators used to monitor the business performance of 

the Group are listed in the table below:

Key peRFoRMAnCe inDiCAtoRs At tHe GRoup level

indicator calculation
value on 

31.12.2012

Return on Capital  
employed (RoCe) eBit/capital employed 7.4 %

eBit margin eBit/sales 10.2 %

eBt margin eBt/sales 8.3 %

Contribution margin (sales – cost of sales)/sales 42.0 %

Cash flow from  
operating activities 

see the cash flow statement 
for a detailed calculation € 34.7 million

Cost of sales ratio Cost of sales/sales 58.0 %

Distribution expense ratio Distribution expenses/sales 13.0 %

At the segment level, earnings before interest and taxes (eBit) 

is the primary performance indicator. other indicators include 

sales and contribution margin by product as well as by sales 

representative.

sales figures are an important indicator of Biotest’s share of the 

overall market or target market segment.

in addition, the structure of receivables and their associated 

risks are continuously analysed. inventories are measured and 

verified on a monthly basis.

Non-financial indicators

Control-relevant non-financial performance indicators for the 

Group as a whole include, in the case of production: the degree 

of utilisation, cycle times and downtimes, inventory amounts 

along the production chain and yield per unit of plasma.

Regulatory environment

Biotest’s manufacturing facilities for plasma proteins are 

subject to mandatory inspection and approval by the Darm-

stadt Regional Government Commission and the paul ehrlich 

institute (pei) as well as by the united states Food and Drug 

Administration (FDA).

in the member states of the european union, plasma proteins 

are approved by the centralised marketing authorisation proce-

dure or by mutual recognition of national marketing authorisa-

tions. in the united states, drugs are subject to the regulatory 

provisions of the FDA.

Biotest is a member of the plasma protein therapeutics Asso-

ciation (pptA) and has adopted the association’s strict safety 

standards for obtaining and processing blood plasma beyond 

the legally prescribed requirements.

the monitoring and authorising agencies for monoclonal anti-

bodies in both europe and the us are the same as those for 

plasma proteins.

social responsibility

With its products, Biotest is active in a highly ethical environ-

ment. Biotest’s products help to save lives and confer a degree 

of normality on the daily lives of many (chronic) patients. 

Further more, the company is engaged in various scientific 

medical initiatives, research projects and measures taken by 

patient organisations.

Among other things, Biotest set up a haemophilia foundation 

some years ago that assists haemophilia patients in financial 

difficulties. in this connection, children with haemophilia from 

more socially deprived families are able this year to take part 

in an integrated leisure programme of the Deutsche Hämo-

philiegesellschaft e.v. (German Haemophilia society) and in 

injection training provided by the interessengemeinschaft 

Hämophiler e.v. (Haemophiliac interest).

to acknowledge the great importance of its employees in com-

pany development and also to promote compatibility between 

work and family, various measures are being planned at the 

Dreieich site. in addition, Biotest is again providing young 

people with prospects for starting a career through extensive 

training options and dual study.

Biotest is also linked with johann Wolfgang Goethe university 

in Frankfurt am Main through various projects and partner-

ships, where it promotes selected scientific projects by stu-

dents and doctoral students.

in addition, Biotest makes an important contribution to the 

promotion of national and international research through its 

active collaboration in the board of trustees of the paul ehrlich 

Foundation. the Foundation awards the paul ehrlich and ludwig 

Darmstaedter prize once a year. outstanding research in the 

areas of immunology, cancer, haematology, microbiology and 

chemotherapy is promoted with this globally recognised dis-

tinction.
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c. tHE yEAR 2012

overall economic performance

the performance of the world economy in financial year 2012 

was significantly impacted by the continuing sovereign debt 

crisis in some eu nations, the economic slowdown of the Asian 

markets and the persistently difficult fiscal policy situation in 

the us. this led increasingly to a reluctance to invest and a high 

degree of uncertainty regarding future prospects on the world 

markets. German GDp, for instance, grew only 0.7 % in 2012 

compared to 3.0 % the previous year.1 in its 2013 Annual eco-

nomic Report, the German Federal Government predicted that 

the German economy will grow by just 0.4 % in 2013.2 the loss 

of momentum is due to the recessive trend in europe, especially 

in the eurozone, as well as negative economic growth in the 

emerging markets. 

the overall economic situation in the eurozone thus remains 

tense. Despite the financial markets’ reaction to the european 

Central Bank’s (eCB) announcement of its plan to purchase 

unlimited amounts of government bonds, the eurozone 

economy remains in recession. the statistical office of the 

european union (eurostat) expects economic output in 2012 

to drop by 0.4 %. For 2013, the experts predict low growth of 

just 0.1 %.3 

the outlook for the us economy is declining as well. the us 

Federal Reserve in December 2012 projected gross domestic 

product growth of only 1.7 % to 1.8 % despite its earlier prognosis 

of 1.7 % to 2.0 % in september 2012.4 

After a rise in the first quarter of 2012, the euro fell sharply 

against the dollar between April and july, reaching its annual low 

of 1.21 euR/usD on 24 july 2012. By the end of 2012, however, 

the common european currency had rebounded significantly, 

closing out the year at 1.3194 euR/usD. exchange rates of 

importance to Biotest are listed in section B3 of the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements.

performance by industry environment

the market for immunoglobulins, the main product group 

for Biotest, continues to show stable growth. Whereas the 

worldwide market for immunoglobulins totalled 107 tonnes in 

2011, an increase of 7 – 8 % to about 115 tonnes is expected for 

the whole of 2012. this is consistent with the annual average 

growth rate from 2005 to 2011. We expect this trend to con-

tinue in the coming years, with the cumulative global market 

exceeding 140 tonnes by 2015.

GloBAl MARKet FoR iMMunoGloBulins in 2011*

2011 market volume
in t

share of global market
in %

usA 46 43

europe 26 24

Rest of world 35 33

* estimates based on data from the Marketing Research Bureau5

According to estimates by uBs investment Research, the demand 

for immunoglobulins will grow by 2015, driven by a marked 

increase in Asia and south America. While annual growth rates 

of 5 – 7 % are projected for the developed markets of europe and 

the us, the rest of the world will grow faster (> 10 %).

Market prices for immunoglobulins remained under pressure in 

2012, particularly in europe. prices over the course of the report-

ing year fell in europe, but we were able to achieve slightly higher 

prices in the us market. prices per gram in the us currently 

exceed average european prices by 30 – 40 %.6 the Biotest Group 

hopes to benefit from this development over the long term by 

introducing Bivigam™ in the us.

Both the demand as well as prices for plasma-based clotting 

factors remained largely stable according to Biotest data for 

2012.

1   Federal office of statistics (statistisches Bundesamt) press release, German economy defies 2012 european economic crisis  
(Deutsche Wirtschaft trotzt 2012 europäischer Wirtschaftskrise), 15 january 2013 

2   Federal Ministry of economics and technology, 2013 Annual economic Report, 16 january 2013

3   statistical office of the european union (eurostat), growth rate of real GDp volume, last update on 13 February 2013

4   Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve system, Minutes of the Federal open Market Committee, 12 December 2012 

5   Marketing Research Bureau: the plasma proteins Market in the us 2011; Marketing Research Bureau, the Worldwide plasma proteins Market 2011

6   uBs, Mar-12 qtr plasma price & supply survey – supply tightens, us price gains, but eu soft, 29 May 2012; uBs investment Research,  
two speed market presents Csl with lower price volume / market share gains?, 9 july 2012; uBs investment Research,  
sep12 qtr plasma price & supply survey – solid markets a prelude to price increases, 3 December 2012
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Biotest in 2012

2012 goals: target-performance comparison

the Biotest Group met all of the targets set out in the previous 

year’s annual report. in 2012 the company successfully generated 

sales growth of 4.3 %, well within the projected target range of 

3 – 5 %. in addition, operating profit (eBit) of € 44.7 million in 

2012 met the target of a slight increase over the previous years 

figure comfortably (€ 41.6 million).

this is a very good outcome, especially considering the adverse 

impact of two key factors on business performance in the report-

ing period: the delay in the granting of marketing authorisation 

for Bivigam™ due to additional requirements from the FDA and 

the necessary caution exercised in measuring current Greek 

receivables. these factors were subsequently offset by the 

positive operating performance.

Group business strategy and implementation  

in the 2012 financial year

Internationalisation

in the 2012 financial year, Biotest continued its efforts to 

expand its presence in important international markets. the 

Company was able to significantly enhance its product portfolio 

by obtaining marketing authorisation for BivigamtM in the us, 

the world’s largest and most important pharmaceutical market. 

the intravenous immunoglobulin is used to treat patients with 

primary immunodeficiencies (piD). its subsidiary BpC expanded 

its production facilities over the past years and is now capable of 

producing up to 1.5 tonnes of Bivigam™. BpC expects additional 

medium- to long-term sales potential of around usD 100 million 

from the expansion.

the Biotest Group will also intensify its involvement in China 

as planned. through a distribution agreement with Wanbang 

Biopharma for the marketing of human albumin, Biotest will 

gain access to the fast-growing, high-price Chinese albumin 

market. the Company expects this to generate an additional 

€ 20 to 30 million in medium-term sales.

the Company’s presence in Russia was also expanded last 

year. on 1 january 2013, a long-term distribution agreement 

with Merz pharma GmbH & Co. KGaA entered into force, 

under which Merz pharma GmbH & Co. KGaA will distribute 

Biotest products such as intratect® and pentaglobin® via their 

distribution channels. the goal of this agreement is to make 

use of synergies and significantly strengthen Biotest’s market 

position over the long term through the systematic marketing 

of its products.

in addition, a decentralised european marketing authorisation 

procedure for intratect® 100 g/l (10 % solution), which will allow 

the sale of the product in up to 19 european countries, will help 

improve the Company’s market position in Germany and europe.

Operational segment performance

Therapy

the strategic goal within the therapy segment is to continuously 

expand the international sales base for previously marketed 

products and promote further research and development for 

new and existing products. the efforts to expand sales of 

authorised products in new and existing markets, as described 

in the “internationalisation” section, mark an important step 

towards realising strategic targets.

By developing additional active agents within the three defined 

indication areas and optimising products already on the market 

(such as through additional concentrations or dosage forms), 

Biotest is also expanding its revenue base. 

Finally, the development efforts in both the clinical and pre-

clinical areas described in the “Research and Development” 

section represent the basis for the future growth of the Biotest 

Group.

Plasma & Services

the core element of the business strategy within the plasma & 

services segment is the optimal management of plasma sales 

together with the best possible utilisation of capacity. Biotest 

will decide in each case when to allocate capacity to in-house 

manufacturing, when to sell collected plasma and when and 

to what degree to use available capacity most efficiently to 

provide toll manufacturing to third parties.

in financial year 2012, BpC expanded its contractual relationship 

with viropharma Biologics inc. (viropharma) in the us. over the 

next three years, BpC will sell increasing quantities of blood 

plasma to viropharma. under its long-term agreement with 

BpC, which will initially run through the end of 2017, viropharma 

will purchase around usD 70 million of blood plasma over the 

next two years. the purchased volume will depend on market 

prices, inflation and guaranteed price discounts. the current 

global network of 22 plasma collection centres will be further 

expanded through this step, thus laying the foundation for 

additional sales and profits for this segment.
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Research and development

Research and development constitute an integral part of the 

Biotest Group’s company strategy. important progress was 

achieved in the following development projects in the 2012 

financial year:

Haematology indication area

Bt-062: in the dose escalation study (no. 975) for the lead 

indication of multiple myeloma (monotherapy with multiple 

doses of Bt-062), more than 30 patients have now been treated 

at doses up to 160 mg/m². the results of this phase i/iia study 

were presented at the annual conference of the American 

society of Hematology. the study patients had very advanced 

disease, failing to respond to conventional therapies. Despite 

this, tolerability of Bt-062 was good, and clinical benefit was 

observed in more than 50 % of the patients. A stable disease 

phase without disease progression for more than 14 months 

was achieved in one of the patients. treatment of the first 

patients has also started in the combination study (no. 983), 

which is investigating the efficacy of Bt-062 in combination 

with lenalidomide and dexamethasone. the first dosage level 

was tolerated well and two of three treated patients show 

obvious clinical improvement.

Also, in initial preclinical studies, Bt-062 has demonstrated 

activity against several types of aggressive solid tumours, for 

example breast, pancreatic, prostate and bladder cancer. Addi-

tional preclinical evaluation of the activity of Bt-062 in these 

cancers is now underway, for which Biotest receives funding 

from the Ci3 Rhein-Main leading edge Cluster ’individualised 

immune intervention’.

Clinical immunology indication area

Bivigam™: prior to the approval of Bivigam™ in December 2012, 

Biotest received new information regarding the approval pro-

cess from the American Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 

in August. the FDA demanded an additional new test system 

in validated form to detect thrombogenic activity – for the first 

time to date in the case of a new approval. in collaboration 

with a laboratory that is well known in this area and works 

closely with the FDA, Biotest carried out the test validation 

and submitted the data to the FDA at the end of october in 

a Complete Response letter. on 19 December 2012, approval 

of Bivigam™ was granted for the American market. Delivery of 

the first lots and market introduction of the immunoglobulin 

took place in February 2013.

Bt-094 (cytotect 70): in a phase iii trial (no. 963) for the hyper-

immune globulin Bt-094 (Cytotect 70) roughly 13,600 pregnant 

women were screened up to 31 December 2012 in the indica-

tion of prevention of cytomegalovirus infection of the unborn 

with primary CMv infection of the mother during pregnancy. 

out of the screened patients, about 8,460 were randomised 

and 80 were included in the study.

fovepta®: in the first quarter of 2012, Biotest obtained national 

marketing authorisation in Germany for the hepatitis B immuno-

globulin Fovepta® for the prophylaxis in newborns from hepatitis 

B-infected mothers. this marketing authorisation is the basis for 

the application for approval in nine other countries – in countries 

outside europe and the us as well as for tender transactions. 

the first sales figures with this product are expected in 2013.

intratect® 100 g/l (10 % solution): At the end of october 2012, 

Biotest obtained marketing authorisation for the 10 % intra-

venous immunoglobulin solution intratect® (100 g/l) in the 

decentralised european approval procedure. intratect® 100 g/l 

(10 % solution) was developed especially for patients receiving 

outpatient therapy, for whom a faster infusion rate is usually 

desirable and also tolerated. the approval application for a 

faster infusion rate with intratect® 100 g/l (10 % solution) was 

submitted at the end of 2012.

tregalizumab (Bt-061): the further development of the bio-

therapeutic agent tregalizumab (Bt-061) in conjunction with 

Abbvie (a global, research-based biopharmaceutical company 

formed in 2013, following separation from Abbott) is being 

driven forward in various studies. in the currently running phase 

iib trial (no. 979), which is investigating the combination with 

methotrexate for the indication rheumatoid arthritis, treatment 

of the last patients in the first part of the study was concluded 

in December 2012. An extra study (no. 985) was also started in 

the second quarter of 2012 to further investigate the pharma-

codynamics of the drug. Another prospective, randomised phase 

iib trial (no. 986) is at the planning stage. this will be a study 

with a six-month treatment duration, followed by an optional 

six-month extension phase, in which more than 350 patients 

will be included.
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Zutectra®: For the hepatitis B immunoglobulin zutectra®, treat-

ment of the first patients started in the 2012 financial year in 

an additional study (zeus, zutectra early use, no. 987). in this 

study, extension of the treatment to the early phase after liver 

transplantation is being investigated and an attempt is made 

to switch from intravenous (i.v.) treatment to subcutaneous 

(s.c.) treatment only a week after the transplant and not after 

six months as hitherto.

oveRvieW oF CliniCAl tRiAls

type of study
study 
number

dosage/
study design

number of study 
participants 

status on  
31 december 2012

Haematology indication area

Bt-062

phase i/iia
Multiple myeloma

969 Repeated single dose,  
intravenously every 21 days, 10 – 200 mg/m²

32 study concluded

phase i/iia
Multiple myeloma

975 Repeated multiple dosing,  
intravenous day 1, 8 and 15; every 28 days,  
dose escalation above 40 mg/m²

35 patient recruitment 
ongoing

phase i/iia
Multiple myeloma

983 Combination with lenalidomide  
and dexamethasone based on 975 design  
(repeated multiple dosing)

50 patient recruitment 
ongoing

Clinical immunology indication area

Bt-094 (cytotect 70)

phase iii
Cytomegalovirus (CMv)  
infection transmitted in pregnancy

963 Multiple dosing in pregnant women  
with primary CMv infection (seroconversion)
Control group without treatment

screening of 
roughly 25,000 
pregnant women

patient recruitment 
ongoing

tregalizumab (Bt-061)

phase iib
Rheumatoid arthritis

979 Combination with methotrexate,  
subcutaneous up to 75 mg, multiple dosing, 
treatment duration twelve weeks,  
placebo-controlled

176 treatment in the first 
part of the study 
concluded 

phase i
use in volunteers
pharmacodynamics/pharmacokinetics study

985 subcutaneous up to 200 mg,
single dose

36 inclusion of probands 
ongoing

phase iib
Rheumatoid arthritis

986 Combination with methotrexate,  
subcutaneous, multiple dosing, treatment  
duration 24 weeks with subsequent optional  
28-week extension phase; placebo-controlled

more than 350 planning phase

Zutectra®

phase iii
Hepatitis B reinfection in the early phase 
after liver transplantation

987 zutectra® (s.c. HBiG);  
Multiple dosing after liver transplantation

60 patient recruitment 
ongoing

Intensive care medicine indication area

fibrinogen

phase i/ii
Congenital fibrinogen deficiency

984 single dose to determine pharmacokinetics,  
dosage and frequency of treatment of acute 
bleedings in the case of treatment individually 
according to patient 

20 start of patient re-
cruitment in the first 
quarter of 2013

igm concentrate

phase ii
severe community acquired pneumonia

982 Multiple dosing after sCAp  
(severe community acquired pneumonia);  
treatment for five days, i.v. administration,
placebo-controlled double-blind study

82 patient recruitment 
ongoing
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Intensive care medicine indication area

fibrinogen: the trial protocol for a multinational phase i/ii study 

(no. 984) for a clinical trial was approved. Recruitment of the first 

patients is expected in early 2013. the study will investigate, on 

the one hand, whether a congenital fibrinogen deficiency can 

be compensated by administration of fibrinogen concentrate. 

on the other hand, a second stage will investigate the extent 

to which acute bleeding in these patients can be arrested by 

administration of fibrinogen concentrate. About 20 patients 

(aged 6 to 75 years) will initially be included in the study, which 

will be conducted in several countries.

in a subsequent study, the efficacy of the fibrinogen concen-

trate in severe acquired bleeding complications will be studied.

igm  concentrate: in the ongoing phase ii trial (CiGMA, 

concentrated igM for application, no. 982) on the use of an 

immunoglobulin M concentrate, additional patients with 

severe acquired lung inflammation were treated. An interim 

analysis after 40 treated patients will be performed in the 

first half of 2013.

i i .    pREsEntAtion of REsults of 
opER Ations, cAsH flows And 
finAnciAl position

A . REsults of opER Ations

in financial year 2012, the Biotest Group generated revenue 

of € 440.0 million. this corresponds to a 4.3 % increase over 

Continuing operations in 2011, from which sales of € 422.0 

million were generated. plasma & services and other segments 

experienced high growth, with the two segments recording 

a 10.4 % and 28.7 % increase in sales revenue, respectively. in 

general, all segments performed positively.

sAles By seGMent

in € million 2012 2011*, ** Change in %

therapy 330.9 324.7 1.9

plasma & services 97.0 87.9 10.4

other segments 12.1 9.4 28.7

Biotest group 440.0 422.0 4.3

*   Continuing operations
** Figures adjusted to new segmentation

the Group’s internationalisation strategy impacts the way sales 

revenue is distributed by region. in financial year 2012, 79.7 % 

of revenues were generated outside the German home market 

(previous year: 77.0 %). While sales to customers in Germany 

and north and south America fell sharply, significant increases 

were seen elsewhere, particularly in Asia, where total sales 

rose from € 77.6 million in 2011 to € 121.8 million in 2012 – 

an increase of 57.0 %. the Group recorded high growth in the 

Asian markets in plasma & services, with revenue up 86.0 % 

in this segment.

sAles By ReGion

in € million 2012 2011* Change in %

Germany 89.4 96.9 – 7.7

Rest of europe 160.5 161.5 – 0.6

north and south America 58.5 74.9 – 21.9

Asia 121.8 77.6 57.0

Rest of world 9.8 11.1 – 11.7

Biotest group 440.0 422.0 4.3

* Continuing operations
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Despite the significant increase in sales, the cost of sales 

remained relatively constant, rising just 0.4 % over the previous 

year from € 254.2 million to now € 255.3 million. Consequently, 

the company was able to significantly reduce the cost of sales 

ratio in financial year 2012 from 60.2 % to 58.0 %. this was due 

to a consistently high level of capacity utilisation throughout 

the year and – as a result of continuous process optimisation 

– an overall improvement in production efficiency. necessary 

one-time expenses due to the delayed restart of plasma protein 

production at BpC, adversely impacted this figure.

Costs for marketing and sales rose in the wake of the business 

expansion realised, particularly in Asia, by 17.7 % to € 57.1 mil-

lion in 2012 (previous year: € 48.5 million). their share of sales 

also increased from 11.5 % in 2011 to the current 13.0 %. in 

contrast, administrative costs were reduced by almost 13 % 

from € 32.0 million to € 27.9 million. this was due to savings 

in facility management and expenses for consulting services 

related to the signing of the contract with Abbvie (a global, 

research-based biopharmaceutical company formed in 2013, 

following separation from Abbott) in financial year 2011. 

Research and development expenditure increased following 

intensification of studies and amounted to € 51.4 million 

compared to € 49.4 million in the previous year. its share of 

sales remained stable at 11.7 %.

other operating income, composed primarily of income from 

services and from the release of provisions and deferred liabili-

ties, decreased to € 11.6 million (previous year: € 13.4 million). in 

contrast, other operating expenses increased significantly from 

€ 9.7 million in the previous year to € 15.2 million in 2012. this 

was particularly due to impairment of receivables from Greek 

hospitals and expenses for the closure of the Greek subsidiary.

in Continuing operations, earnings before interest and taxes 

(eBit) of the Biotest Group improved significantly by 7.5 % to 

€ 44.7 million from € 41.6 million in 2011. As a result, the eBit 

margin rose from 9.9 % to a current 10.2 %. in the therapy seg-

ment, eBit of € 26.3 million was generated in 2012 compared 

to € 24.9 million in 2011. in contrast, earnings contributed by 

the plasma & services segment fell moderately from € 18.8 

million to € 18.4 million. the profitability of the therapy and 

plasma & services segments is not directly comparable, as the 

plasma & services segment has only minor or no project-based 

research and development expenses. the distribution expenses 

of plasma & services segment are also significantly lower in 

relation to sales. in other segments, the Group effectively broke 

even (€ 0.0 million) after last year's loss of € 2.1 million.

the financial and investing result improved significantly in 

the past year, amounting to € – 8.2 million, up from € – 13.0 

million in the previous year. the main reason for this was last 

year’s impairment of Greek government bonds that were on 

the books, which had an impact on the financial result.

this resulted in earnings before taxes (eBt) from Continuing 

operations of € 36.5 million – an increase of 27.6 % compared 

to the previous year (€ 28.6 million). Due to an increased tax 

liability resulting from undeducted losses from the Greek sub-

sidiary and start-up losses from the Brazilian subsidiary as well 

as from not fully utilised deferred taxes for BpC, earnings after 

taxes (eAt) rose from € 18.7 million to € 23.1 million (+ 23.5 %) 

in 2012. the Biotest Group thus generated earnings per share 

in Continuing operations of € 1.94 compared to € 1.57 in 2011.

MAjoR Cost pools oF tHe Biotest GRoup*, **

in € million 2012 As a % of sales 2011 As a % of sales

Cost of sales – 255.3 58.0 – 254.2 60.2

Distribution expenses – 57.1 13.0 – 48.5 11.5

Administrative expenses – 27.9 6.3 – 32.0 7.6

Research and development expenses – 51.4 11.7 – 49.4 11.7

other operating income and expenses – 3.6 0.8 3.7 0.9

Financial and investing result – 8.2 1.9 – 13.0 3.1

*   expenses are marked with a negative sign

** Continuing operations
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Key FinAnCiAl peRFoRMAnCe FiGuRes oF tHe Biotest GRoup

in € million 2012 2011* Change in %

eBit 44.7 41.6 7.5

eBt 36.5 28.6 27.6

eAt 23.1 18.7 23.5

earnings per share (€) 1.94 1.57 23.6

* Continuing operations

in addition, a decision on pending litigation in connection 

with the sale of the former Biotest Microbiological Monitor-

ing segment was made in favour of the former subsidiary of 

Biotest AG. Biotest is consequently entitled to receive the out-

standing portions of the purchase price, which were reported in 

earnings after tax from Discontinued operation by the Biotest 

Group in financial year 2012 in the amount of € 10.3 million.

B. finAnciAl position

the total assets of the Biotest Group remained virtually un-

changed as of 31 December 2012 compared to 31 December 

2011, amounting to € 682.3 million compared to € 682.8 million 

at the end of last year.

on the asset side, non-current assets increased slightly from 

€ 312.8 million to € 314.9 million. increased property, plant 

and equipment and deferred tax assets were offset by lower 

intangible assets and other financial investments. property, 

plant and equipment increased sharply as of 31 December 

2012 to € 243.0 million (31 December 2011: € 234.9 mil-

lion). While a total of € 33.3 million was invested in tangible 

fixed assets during the 2012 financial year, depreciation and 

amortisation amounted to € 22.1 million in the same period. 

intangible assets as of 31 December 2012 fell to € 54.6 million 

(31 December 2011: € 62.8 million). investments of € 1.2 million 

in intangible assets were offset by depreciation, amortisation 

and impairment of € 9.3 million.

in current assets, which, including assets from Discontinued 

operation, decreased only slightly as of the reporting date 

of 31 December 2012 from € 370.0 million to € 367.4 million 

(31 December 2012), the increase in inventories was offset by 

a decrease in trade receivables. inventories increased from 

€ 153.0 million to € 184.2 million. At Biotest AG, the increase 

resulted from necessary build-up of preliminary product stocks 

in preparation for the expected volume increase in 2013. At 

BpC, pre-production on BivigamtM began. However, related 

to the reporting date of 31 December 2012 trade receivables 

decreased to € 96.1 million (31 December 2011: € 121.0 million). 

Cash decreased by 31.2 % as planned from € 83.2 million to 

€ 57.2 million at the end of 2012. this reduction was due to 

investments, tax payments and the repayment of loans.

on the equity and liabilities side, equity increased significantly 

after taking into account dividends (€ – 5.5 million), earnings 

after taxes (€ 33.4 million), currency translation differences 

(€ – 0.2 million) and changes recognised directly in equity 

(€ –5.0 million). equity of € 369.4 million was recorded as of 

the reporting date of 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: 

€ 346.7 million). As a result, the equity ratio increased signifi-

cantly to 54.1 % at the end of 2012 from 50.8 % as of 31 Decem-

ber 2011.

A reduction in non-current debts was offset by an increase in 

current debts. pension provisions increased from € 51.0 mil-

lion to € 57.1 million, while long-term debts decreased as of 

31 December 2012 to € 148.0 million from € 188.3 million as of 

31 December 2011 due to lower non-current financial liabilities 

and liabilities from deferred sales revenue. liabilities from sales 

settlements will include partial payments from the Abbvie 

agreement (Abbvie is a global, research-based biopharma-

ceutical company formed in 2013, following separation from 

Abbott) through 2014. Current debt as of 31 December 2012, 

including debt from Discontinued operation in the amount of 

€ 8.0 million, increased from € 147.8 million to € 164.9 million. 

Current financial liabilities increased here, along with trade 

payables, which rose 36.6 % related to the reporting date.
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c. cAsH flows

the cash flow statement for the financial year 2012 was char-

acterised in particular by investments in fixed assets and the 

repayment of loans. Cash flows from operating activities of 

Continuing operations for the 2012 financial year amounted 

to € 34.7 million. in 2011, significantly higher inflows of € 72.5 

million were recorded. the main reason for the change was 

the proceeds from the cooperation agreement with Abbvie 

(a global, research-based biopharmaceutical company formed 

in 2013, following separation from Abbott), which signifi-

cantly affected the operating cash flow in the previous year. 

Moreover, tax payments on the proceeds from the sale of the 

former Microbiological Monitoring segment were not due 

until financial year 2012, which had a substantial impact on 

the operating cash flow for the current period.

operating cash flow was therefore sufficient to fully finance 

the increased capital expenditure of the Group.

Cash flow from investing activities at the end of 2012 amounted 

to € – 29.3 million. this includes increased investments in 

Dreieich (primarily for the new filling and packaging systems) 

and in Boca Raton, Florida, usA, for the completion of the pro-

duction facilities and the establishment of plasma centres. in 

the previous year, an inflow of € 22.7 million was recorded. this 

was attributable to the proceeds from the sale of the activities 

of the former Microbiological Monitoring segment.

Cash flow from financing activities in financial year 2012 was 

a cash outflow of € 31.4 million. this was only slightly more 

than in the previous year (€ – 30.7 million). A significant portion 

of this item was due to the repayment of loans serviced from 

cash as well as dividend payments. Consequently, cash and 

cash equivalents as of 31 December 2012 decreased as planned 

to € 57.2 million from € 83.2 million as of 31 December 2011.

Key CAsH FloW stAteMent FiGuRes FoR tHe Biotest GRoup*

in € million 2012* 2011*

operating cash flow before  
changes in working capital 73.7 72.9

Cash flow from changes in working capital – 8.6 12.9

interest and taxes paid – 30.4 – 13.3

cash flow from operating activities 34.7 72.5

Cash flow from investing activities – 29.3 22.7

Cash flow from financing activities – 31.4 – 30.7

cash changes in cash and cash equivalents – 26.0 64.5

* Continuing operations

financing strategy

the financing strategy of the Biotest Group is designed to 

ensure that sufficient liquidity is available at all times, to 

provide adequate options for financing the growth of Group 

operations and to ensure its ability to implement all investment 

projects as scheduled.

Biotest uses both equity and debt financing with the aim of 

maintaining a solid, conservative financing structure. the target 

equity ratio is at least 40 %; with an equity ratio of 54.1 % at the 

reporting date, Biotest has a solid basis for financing its future 

investments. equity combined with the long-term component 

of debt financing together should cover fixed assets. Biotest 

obtains revolving working capital loans for terms of typically 

one or two years to finance its operations.

For a description of the capital structure, please refer to section 

e14 of the notes.

d.  summARy AssEssmEnt By   

tHE BoARd of mAnAgEmEnt

Financial year 2012 was a year of growth for the Biotest Group. 

Both sales (+ 4.3 %) and eBit (+ 7.5 %) increased significantly 

compared to the previous year. the plasma & services seg-

ment in particular saw a marked increase in sales. Regionally, 

the Asian markets were the main drivers behind the growth 

in business.

overall, the Biotest Group has the resources to move forward 

with its operational business plans. the launch of Bivigam™ in 

the united states as well as medium- and long-term develop-

ments in the area of monoclonal antibodies offer additional 

profit potential. the financial position of the Biotest Group, 

with the further improvement in the equity ratio to 54.1 % and 

a balanced financing structure, will serve as the foundation for 

the planned future growth of the Biotest Group.
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B. supplEmEntARy REpoRt

After the reporting date, the supervisory Board of Biotest AG 

appointed Dr. Georg Floß to the Board of Management with 

effect from 9 january 2013. As Chief operations officer (Coo), 

a newly created position, he is responsible for the areas of 

production and operations. Dr. Floß has been employed with 

Biotest in a management capacity since 2008.

c. Risk REpoRt

As a global company in a highly advanced field of technology, 

the Biotest Group is subject to a variety of risk factors that 

could negatively impact the business. When and where risks 

resulting from its business activities or external factors will 

materialise – if at all – cannot always be predicted and may be 

partially or completely beyond the control of Biotest.

sales and profits, along with the Company’s financial position 

and cash flows, may be negatively affected. the risk report 

describes the risks to which Biotest is exposed, both as a Group 

and at segment level. it explains how the Company deals with 

these risks and how they are controlled and managed. An 

assessment by the Board of Management of the likelihood 

that any of the individual risks outlined will materialise is given 

below.

i .    gEnER Al stAtEmEnt on   
tHE gRoup’s Risk position

in the Board of Management’s opinion, Biotest is currently 

not subject to any risks extending beyond those that are an 

inevitable part of its business operations. All material risks are 

monitored continuously, and, wherever possible and reason-

able, the necessary precautions are and will continue to be taken 

to prevent any potential financial consequences. no risks are 

currently apparent that might jeopardise the Biotest Group’s 

financial stability.

i i .  Risk stR AtEgy

As specified by the Board of Management and supervisory 

Board in their joint risk strategy report, the company may take 

controlled risks in order to generate prospects for long-term 

profitable growth. the risk strategy is aimed at ensuring the 

company’s continued existence and enhancing its value sustain-

ably and systematically.

i i i .    Risk mAnAgEmEnt And contRolling

Biotest systematically identifies and evaluates operational and 

strategic risks. All risks with fundamental implications and a 

reasonable likelihood of arising are closely monitored.

the it-based risk management system of the Biotest Group 

meets the requirements of the German Corporate sector 

supervision and transparency Act (KontraG). Risk management 

processes are documented in detail, and the corresponding 

documents are stored in the risk management system.

the implemented risk management system is aimed at iden-

tifying and evaluating risks that might negatively impact 

the compliance of the consolidated financial statements. 

Furthermore, any risks identified are limited, with help from 

external specialists if required. lastly, the risk management 

system is used to evaluate the impact of identified risks on 

the consolidated financial statements and to map these risks.

our monthly internal reports include an assessment of major 

potential risks. in addition, every six months the Risk Manage-

ment Committee reviews the current risk situation in all seg-

ments and drafts a detailed risk report, which is submitted to 

the Board of Management. this report covers the following 

risk areas: market risks, process and production risks, financial 

risks, personnel risks and organisational risks.

Between meetings of the Risk Management Committee, the 

segment managers brief the Board of Management at regularly 

held Board meetings on the current risk situation in their respec-

tive areas of responsibility. in the case of a sudden change in the 

risk position, the Board of Management is notified directly and 

at short notice if necessary.

All Biotest employees must behave in a risk-conscious manner 

within the scope of their responsibilities. the management staff 

is responsible for controlling and managing risks. Within the 

Group, about 50 risk reporters cover all potential risks. All risk 

reporters are subject to binding principles for dealing with risks.
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the internal Audit department reviews risk management and 

controlling standards and processes regularly for suitability and 

effectiveness. the last audit took place in 2012.

Biotest has taken out insurance policies to limit the financial 

consequences of liability risks and material damage to plant and 

machinery. the level of protection afforded by the insurance is 

reviewed regularly and adjusted where necessary.

iv.   intERnAl contRol systEms foR 
Accounting pRocEssEs

Biotest has implemented an accounting-related internal control 

system that covers all main business processes at Biotest AG 

and all of its subsidiaries. the aim of the accounting-related 

internal control system is to ensure with adequate certainty 

through a series of checks that, despite any risks identified, the 

consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with applicable policies. the relevant guidelines are summa-

rised in an organisational manual to which all employees have 

access.

Biotest AG’s accounting manual conforms to international 

Financial Reporting standards (iFRs). this manual is binding 

for all Group companies and covers all accounting standards 

of relevance to Biotest. it is continuously updated to reflect any 

changes to iFRs. All managers in charge of financial accounting 

are continuously informed of and trained in relevant accounting 

practices.

the accounts of Biotest AG and all subsidiaries included in the 

consolidated financial statements are maintained in accord-

ance with strict schedules and procedures, in which all the 

necessary activities are set forth in detail.

single-entity and consolidated financial statements are prepared 

with the help of approved systems. in each Group company, 

internal control processes have been established through 

organisational procedures and clear responsibilities, including 

separation of duties through a dual control system.

Companies enter data for the consolidated financial statements 

into a standardised, detailed reporting package, the content 

of which is reviewed on a monthly basis by the departments 

responsible for finance and controlling. All single-entity financial 

statements prepared by Group companies undergo plausibil-

ity checks, and any differences in consolidation processes are 

analysed and rectified where necessary.

Measures undertaken in the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements are subject to electronic and manual 

checks. Further checks at the consolidated financial statement 

level include target performance comparisons and analyses of 

changes in items on the statement of financial position and the 

statement of income.

Confidential data and documents are protected against access 

by unauthorised persons. this applies to accounting-related it 

systems (access authorisation, passwords, encryption) and all 

business premises (access control, access privileges).

the single-entity and consolidated financial statements are 

either audited or reviewed by external auditors.

the internal Audit department reviews business processes in 

all segments and subsidiaries. its powers, duties and position 

within the Group are laid down in the internal audit guidelines. 

Audits are undertaken in accordance with an annual internal 

audit plan established by the Board of Management and the 

supervisory Board’s Audit Committee. individual audit findings 

are submitted to the Board of Management in a timely manner. 

in addition, once a year the internal Audit department submits a 

detailed report to the Board of Management and the members 

of the Audit Committee.

v.  Risk mAnAgEmEnt systEm foR 
finAnciAl instRumEnts

Biotest uses derivative financial instruments to hedge currency 

positions. the corresponding contracts are established in obser-

vance of the set risk limits. section F4 of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements contains a detailed description of the 

risk management system with regard to financial instruments.

vi.   pREsEntAtion of significAnt Risk 
cAtEgoRiEs

the material risks affecting the Biotest Group are described 

below. However, Biotest may be exposed to additional risks and 

uncertainties which are still unknown or which are currently 

considered minor. these risks could also have an adverse effect 

on business operations, the financial position, cash flows and 

results of operations of the Biotest Group. the order in which 

the risks below are listed is in no way indicative of the prob-

ability of their occurrence.
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A . EnviRonmEntAl And industRy Risks

Economic risks

Biotest would be unable to permanently escape the conse-

quences of a far-reaching, long-lasting recession, even if its 

direct effects were limited. the risk of a downturn in sales may 

result from lower demand and rising pressure from customers 

to reduce prices.

Another potentially dampening effect is the possibility that 

Biotest will be forced to reduce or discontinue supplies to 

individual markets. this could be the case if the company were 

unable to adequately hedge against default on corresponding 

receivables or only at much less favourable terms.

if a country’s overall economic position deteriorates to such an 

extent that serious consequences for its solvency and its health 

care system are feared, Biotest may be forced to discontinue 

deliveries to such countries in order to reduce risk. this was the 

case in Greece in financial year 2012.

the Board of Management sees the economic risks as elevated 

and is closely monitoring developments. 

sales market risks

sales market risks consist of risks associated with price, quantity, 

substitution and bad debt.

the Biotest Group is reducing the risk of short-term fluctuations 

in sales volumes and prices by expanding into additional interna-

tional markets and establishing longer-term supply agreements. 

However, the risk remains, especially in the case of individual 

tendered contracts in the therapy segment, that the volume of 

sales could be lower than planned.

the risk of further sharp declines in prices for plasma proteins 

has not increased on account of price developments in recent 

years, steadily growing demand and changes in the supply 

situation since the previous year. However, it continues to be 

classified as increased.

Based on the observations of the Biotest Group, the relation-

ship between globally available plasmatic and recombinant 

clotting factors has thus far remained stable. substitution risks 

are therefore manageable in the Company’s view.

Default risk continues to be high due to the lower solvency 

of companies and governments in some regions. Biotest has 

instituted an active receivables management system and will 

implement appropriate measures such as delivery stops to 

reduce risk if necessary.

the sovereign debt crisis has had a particularly negative impact 

on Biotest business in Greece over the past several years. 

Receivables from Greek government hospitals from the years 

2007 to 2009 were settled with bonds. Bonds maturing in 2011 

were paid back on schedule. Bonds maturing at the end of 2012 

or 2013 were traded for new bonds in March 2012 as part of a 

mandatory exchange programme. Biotest subsequently sold 

all of its Greek government bond holdings in order to reduce 

its risk. nevertheless, uncertainties remain with regard to the 

full payment of outstanding receivables from the year 2012 in 

the amount of € 5.4 million from Greek hospitals. Risk-adequate 

provisions have already been made for these receivables in the 

form of impairment losses. the Greek subsidiary ceased opera-

tions on 30 september 2012. the company continues to actively 

manage its receivables.

entering a market is associated with the high cost of register-

ing products along with infrastructure expenses such as the 

formation of a subsidiary. When developing countries change 

their regulatory frameworks and bureaucratic procedures, this 

can cause unexpected delays in entering the market. Biotest 

seeks to assess and, where applicable, minimise the risks of 

market entry by enlisting the help of experts in analysing the 

market situation.

procurement market risks

the Biotest Group needs special raw materials and excipients 

to manufacture its biological and biotechnological products. if 

these materials were to become scarcer or increase substantially 

in price, Biotest’s ability to manufacture or supply might be 

restricted. Biotest covers a large part of its raw material needs 

from its own sources. For the rest, it has long-term contracts 

with suppliers. therefore, in the Company’s assessment, pro-

curement market risks are very low.
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B. politicAl Risks

some of Biotest’s sales are attributable to tender contract busi-

ness. in certain countries, business of this kind may be subject 

to a high level of political influence, which may in certain cases 

be to Biotest’s disadvantage. Because Biotest acts with a high 

level of risk awareness in this market sector, the associated risk 

can be regarded as minor.

Biotest maintains relationships with companies all over the 

world. in unfavourable circumstances, a destabilisation of the 

political situation in individual countries could impair business 

relationships and prospects. in extreme cases, the political 

and economic system of certain countries may destabilise. 

possible effects include currency export restrictions or import 

and export bans, which could threaten business relationships 

between Biotest and typically government-run institutions in 

such countries.

the situation in many countries of the near and Middle east has 

destabilised in recent years. Because Biotest is represented in 

these countries, it is exposed to increased risk. Another risk is 

the increasing difficulty in receiving payment for drug deliveries 

exempt from embargo and sanction restrictions from countries 

that are otherwise subject to an embargo. Biotest is attempting 

to minimise these difficulties through constant contact with 

its banks and explanation of the transactions behind these 

payments.

Biotest monitors all political risks continuously. the potential 

economic consequences of such risks are closely analysed.

c. coRpoR AtE stR AtEgy Risks

Research and development risks

new drugs undergo several clinical trials prior to approval 

and market launch. there is a risk that a previously assumed 

therapeutic effect may not be confirmed or that unexpected 

medical risks will negatively impact the benefit/risk balance. in 

addition, it is impossible to put a precise figure on the amount 

of development investment that will be required, and addi-

tional costs may be incurred. this may also result from current 

regulations in europe that require pharmaceutical companies 

to prove the added benefits of new products over existing 

ones or the advantages of new products in terms of healthcare 

costs. these requirements may become more stringent in the 

future. proving these benefits is necessary as early as possible 

during the product development stage, as otherwise there is 

a high risk that the company will not be able to obtain a high-

enough price on the market to cover the costs of development.

the progress of development projects is constantly monitored 

through milestone planning. in regular interim analyses, new 

data obtained from preclinical and clinical development is 

evaluated to create a reliable basis for decisions on the further 

course of these projects.

d. pERfoRmAncE-REl AtEd Risks

process and production risks

process and production risks include those that could impair 

the ability to provide efficient and environmentally friendly 

goods and services due to inefficient structures or production 

processes or material damage. personnel risks in production 

arise from possible deliberate or accidental misconduct by 

employees that might negatively affect production efficiency 

or safety.

Biotest Group constantly monitors and analyses its produc-

tion processes in order to take early action against any risks 

that may arise. All employees involved in production become 

familiar with production workflows by reviewing our operating 

procedures. to combat possible risks, extensive, precisely docu-

mented standards and operating procedures are maintained 

and staff members are regularly trained. one of the Company’s 

main focus areas is hygiene. Currently there is no increased risk 

evident in this area.

supplier relationship risk

there is a risk that individual business or cooperation partners 

may not duly comply with their obligations or terminate existing 

agreements. the Biotest Group is also at risk of claims brought 

against it for possible breach of duty on the part of its partners. 

Given that its business relationships generally last many years 

and in view of the close dialogue maintained with suppliers, the 

Board of Management believes that the probability that these 

risks will materialise is very low.

Risks relating to plasma as a raw material

there is a very low risk that plasma contaminated with 

currently known but undiscovered or previously unknown 

bacteria, viruses or prions will enter the production cycle. 

this could lead to contamination of end products. possible 

consequences include a recall of individual batches from the 

market or restriction or suspension of approval by the authori-

ties. in addition, contamination caused by previously unknown 

bacteria, viruses or prions could result in tighter legislative 

controls on plasma-based drugs.
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the test procedures employed by Biotest are in line with the 

latest standards of science. the manufacturing process includes 

several steps for viral inactivation or viral depletion. Contamina-

tion of end products is thus highly unlikely.

compliance

there is a fundamental risk of corruption in competing for 

supply contracts and in procurement. Biotest Group employees 

could improperly influence the awarding of contract by grant-

ing or accepting undue advantages. Biotest combats this risk 

through various preventive anti-corruption measures. An inter-

national Compliance system was established for this purpose 

taking due account of country-specific conditions and is now 

periodically updated to reflect current requirements.

the heads of Group companies may only undertake business 

transactions with a material effect on the Group’s financial 

position, cash flows and results of operations or the Group’s 

risk position with the approval of Group management.

on 8 May 2012, the public prosecutor’s office in Frankfurt 

conducted a search of the premises of Biotest AG in Dreieich. 

the search was part of an investigation against several per-

sons based on an anonymous tip alleging, among other things, 

embezzlement and bribery by employees of Biotest AG. the 

case is still under investigation by the prosecutor. Biotest AG 

firmly denies the allegations and is actively cooperating with 

the public prosecutor’s office in the investigation.

personnel risks

other risks include the possibility that Biotest will not be in a 

position to retain employees in key positions or be able to find 

suitable candidates for such positions. Biotest combats this 

risk through continuous and targeted staff education, training 

programmes of interest and performance-based remuneration 

of specialised and management staff.

E. it Risks

Many production and other business processes at Biotest rely 

on it support. the security of the technology used is there-

fore a top priority. this applies both to the stability of the it 

systems and backup solutions as well as to protection against 

unauthorised third-party access and possible attacks from the 

internet. production and administration operate on separate 

it networks.

Biotest is continuously improving its security systems. the 

proper handling of systems and data is covered extensively in 

our operating procedures and authorisation concept.

f. finAnciAl And cuRREncy Risks

Financial risks may arise from the unexpected cancellation of 

credit lines or a sudden increase in lending rates. Biotest has 

established long-term agreements for the majority of its debt 

financing.

in connection with the syndicated loan agreement, Biotest AG 

is required to maintain certain financial ratios, including net 

debt to eBitDA, net debt to liable equity and eBitDA to inter-

est expense. these ratios are calculated at the end of every 

quarter based on the annual or quarterly consolidated financial 

statements. in financial year 2012, as in the previous year, all 

required financial ratios were met.

Biotest counteracts currency risks through the use of derivative 

financial instruments wherever advisable. sales in us dollars 

continue to be largely offset by purchases in the same currency. 

However, despite these measures, the massive devaluation of 

individual currencies could greatly impact consolidated results. 

possible currency risks are therefore monitored continuously 

and appropriate hedges entered into if necessary.

g. otHER Risks

Risks due to side effects or interactions

unexpectedly severe or hitherto unknown side effects or inter-

actions with other medicines can become apparent with already 

approved medications. incorrect handling, storage or use of 

Biotest products can also result in considerable negative effects 

in consumers and patients. the measures to be adopted in such 
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cases in agreement with regulatory authorities range from recall 

of individual lots to restriction or withdrawal of the marketing 

authorisation. in particular, incorrect handling of suspected 

cases of side effects, interactions or quality defects can also 

damage Biotest’s reputation with the regulatory and licens-

ing authorities. Biotest ensures a very high level of reliability 

in this area by continuously developing transparent processes 

and by training of staff who deal with these subjects. our high 

reliability has been confirmed by repeated official inspections. 

in addition, intensive dialogue with clinics and specialist physi-

cians’ practices ensures that we are informed promptly about 

possible newly identified side effects and interactions.

Risks arising from ongoing legal proceedings and tax risks

All identifiable risks from ongoing legal proceedings are covered 

by provisions.

tax risks from previous year financial audits may result if the tax 

authorities assess the tax situation differently from that reported 

by the companies of the Biotest Group.

d. outlook

the expectations and projections of the Board of Management 

regarding the future business performance of the Biotest Group 

are based on assumptions that appear to be the most probable 

scenario from today’s perspective. However, like all statements 

regarding future performance, projections are inherently uncer-

tain. Actual developments in the market environment or Biotest 

segments may differ significantly from our assumptions.

i .    gEnER Al stAtEmEnt By tHE BoARd 
of mAnAgEmEnt REgARding gRoup 
pERfoRmAncE

the Board of Management expects positive performance for 

the Biotest Group for both the 2013 and 2014 financial years. 

the market for plasma proteins based on volume will continue 

to grow. However, pressure on prices is likely to continue, but 

not increase, in 2013.

through successful concentration on the pharmaceutical busi-

ness, the granting of marketing authorisation for and introduc-

tion of Bivigam™ in the us market and further development of 

tregalizumab (Bt-061) in collaboration with Abbvie (a global, 

research-based biopharmaceutical company formed in 2013, 

following separation from Abbott), important foundations for 

the Company’s development have been laid. From this strong 

base, the Board of Management expects Biotest to continue on 

its path of growth in 2013.

i i .    gRoup stR AtEgy in finAnciAl yEARs 
2013/2014

From today's perspective, the general direction of the Biotest 

Group in the 2013 and 2014 financial years will not change.

i i i .  mARkEt dEvElopmEnts

A . ovER All Economy

the persistent sovereign debt crisis in some eu countries along 

with the general downward trend of the world markets will 

continue to impact global economic performance in financial 

year 2013. Because necessary austerity measures in some 

countries may affect health care systems, a negative impact 

on the business of the Biotest Group is also possible. However, 

the efforts of these countries to manage the crisis as well as the 

degree to which the real economy of Biotest’s target markets 

is impacted by these uncertainties will remain deciding factors 

in this development.

B. tARgEt mARkEts

According to current studies, the global demand for immuno-

globulins will increase by around 7 % annually in 2013 and com-

ing years. the supply is growing slightly disproportionately. thus, 

despite the rise in demand, the Biotest Group expects prices 

for these products to remain under pressure. nevertheless, the 

introduction of Bivigam™ in the us, the world’s largest immuno-

globulin market, provides additional sales opportunities that 

were not previously available.
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in the case of plasmatic clotting factors, Biotest expects the 

global market volume to increase by about 2 % per year. in addi-

tion, the resumption of sales of human albumin in China offers 

significant medium-term sales potential. China is expected to 

become the world’s second largest pharmaceutical market by 

2014 with sales of around € 85 billion.

Regarding monoclonal antibodies and new plasma protein 

products still under development, the Company sees high 

long-term sales potential – provided marketing authorisation 

is granted – as these products are quite different from other 

treatments currently available in the market.

iv.   ExpEctEd pERfoRmAncE   
of tHE BiotEst gRoup

A .  ExpEctEd REsults of opER Ation   

of tHE BiotEst gRoup

We expect the Group's sales in financial years 2013 and 2014 

to grow 10 % to 15 % annually. With regard to eBit, we expect 

a comparable performance in 2013, with perhaps a slight 

increase in 2014. this will depend, however, on whether Biotest 

achieves the expected level of success in China.

B.   ExpEctEd cAsH flows And finAnciAl position 

of tHE BiotEst gRoup

in 2013 Biotest will maintain a balanced financing structure, 

both in terms of the ratio of debt to equity as well as the ratio 

of short-term to long-term debt financing. A significant portion 

of the Company’s cash will be used to finance the necessary 

increase in current assets. this increase is due primarily to the 

planned expansion of marketing efforts for Bivigam™, which 

will require the build-up of adequate stocks of the end product. 

Current assets will also increase due to the rise in sales of intra-

tect® 100 g/l (10 % solution) as well as the planned doubling of 

albumin production by the end of the year.

in addition to financing the continued expansion of capacity, 

further acquisitions of suitable companies as well as the licens-

ing of near-market products represent additional strategic 

options.

Capital expenditures in the Biotest Group of € 33 million are 

planned for 2013, followed by € 41 million for 2014. the largest 

individual projects in 2013 and 2014 will be the construction of 

a new plasma receiving centre with supporting infrastructure 

for testing, the development of a fibrinogen plant and the 

expansion of albumin production. in 2013, the expansion of 

the filling and packaging facility for plasma protein products 

in Dreieich will be completed. in addition, up to five new plas-

mapheresis centres will be constructed or put into operation 

in 2013 and 2014.

c. ExpEctEd dEvElopmEnt in tHE sEgmEnts

therapy segment

the following significant advances and developments are 

expected in the therapy segment in the current 2013 financial 

year:

Haematology indication area

Bt-062: the first results from the clinical trial assessing Bt-062 

used in a combination regimen for the lead indication multiple 

myeloma are expected at the end of 2013. After the conclusion 

of the necessary preclinical studies, submission of a clinical 

trial in solid tumours is planned in the second half of 2013. the 

clinical development of Bt-062 is therefore being continued as 

planned and extended to other tumour indications.

Clinical immunology indication area

Bt-063: toxicology studies necessary for the phase ii trial.

civacir™: A clinical phase ii trial in the indication “prevention 

of reinfection after hepatitis C-induced liver transplantation“ 

is planned for the second quarter of 2013.

fovepta®: the initial marketing authorisations and sales 

outside europe and the us are expected in 2013. Marketing 

authorisation is being sought in nine other countries.

intratect® 100 g/l (10 % solution): the market introduction 

of intratect® 100 g/l (10 % solution) in Germany took place in 

january 2013. up to 18 other european markets could follow 

soon. Biotest anticipates an increase in sales of up to 20 % with 

intratect® 5 % and intratect® 100 g/l (10 % solution) in 2013.

tregalizumab (Bt-061): the phase iib trial (no. 986) with more 

than 350 patients, which will investigate the combination 

of tregalizumab (Bt-061) with methotrexate, will probably 

be submitted for approval in early 2013. An additional study 

(no. 985) was also started in the second quarter of 2012 to 

investigate the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics 

of the drug.
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Zutectra®: Biotest plans to introduce zutectra® for mainte-

nance treatment after hepatitis B-induced liver transplantation 

to other Asian and south American markets in the current 2013 

financial year.

Intensive care medicine indication area

fibrinogen: the conclusion of patient recruitment for the phase 

i/ii trial is planned for the third quarter of 2013.

igm concentrate: An interim analysis after 40 treated patients 

will be performed in the first half of 2013 by a statistician who 

will make a recommendation on the total number of patients 

to be investigated in this study. 

plasma & service segment

part of the group’s strategy in the plasma & services seg-

ment is to offer free raw material and production capacities 

in the market in contract manufacturing and subsequently to 

expand these. As a result, BpC concluded a strategic long-term 

contract with ADMA Biologics, inc. (ADMA) in December 2012, 

which will run initially for ten years. in this contract, ADMA has 

undertaken to meet its global production volume of Rsv (res-

piratory syncytial virus) immunoglobulin, which is produced 

from human plasma with Rsv antibodies, exclusively with 

BpC. in addition, ADMA has a licence to grant to Biotest AG 

for the marketing and sale of Rsv immunoglobulin in europe 

and selected countries in north Africa and the Middle east. 

the aim is to increase sales continuously in the plasma & 

services segment. Both contract manufacturing volumes and 

plasma sales should be increased, especially in the special 

plasma area. profitability should remain at the present level.

v. oppoRtunitiEs

Biotest views risks and opportunities from an integrated manage-

ment perspective. By continuously monitoring develop ments in 

sales markets and regulatory conditions, the Company is able to 

identify opportunities at an early stage. Current opportunities 

are the subject of regular reports to the Board of Management. 

in the event of a change in opportunities requiring immediate 

action, the Board of Management is notified directly and at short 

notice.

Biotest thoroughly evaluates any identified opportunities 

and makes decisions regarding possible investments based 

on the results of the evaluation, which may include the use 

of risk-adjusted net present values or comparisons of differ-

ent scenarios. possible risks are also considered in assessing 

opportunities. Finally, the potential project must be in line 

with the strategic orientation of the segment and the Group.

A .  oppoRtunitiEs ARising fRom dEvElopmEnt   

of tHE pRoduct poRtfolio

extension of the use of existing products to additional indica-

tions might open up further marketing potentials for the Biotest 

Group, especially with respect to immunoglobulins.

in addition, extended indication areas may also result from 

improved or more widely used diagnostic methods, leading 

to better detection of potentially treatable diseases which 

can benefit from the administration of immunoglobulins. inter-

nationalisation, for example, with the planned sale of albumin 

in China, will also contribute to further development of the 

portfolio.

Consistent product and life cycle management of existing prod-

ucts also results in additional potentials. By developing products 

already on the market, by establishing additional concentrations 

or administration forms, among other things, the product port-

folio will be further differentiated, thus enabling other market 

segments to be addressed.

B.   oppoRtunitiEs ARising fRom   

coRpoR AtE stR AtEgy

As described, the internationalisation strategy of the Group 

offers significant potential for the future growth of the Company. 

the introduction of Bivigam™ in the us as well as the planned 

resumption of activities in the Chinese market is proof of this 

development. in addition, future corporate takeovers could offer 

additional strategic competitive advantages and opportunities.

the development of monoclonal antibodies and new plasma 

protein products – provided marketing authorisation is granted – 

also offers high sales potential, as these therapy options are 

quite different from anything else on the market. 

c. pERfoRm AncE-REl AtEd oppoRtunitiEs

in recent years, Biotest has invested heavily in expanding its 

resources and expertise in the fields of drug development and 

approval. At the same time, it has maintained the benefits of its 

efficiently managed corporate headquarters in Dreieich, where 

all of the major business departments are concentrated. the 

resulting synergies and potential will continue to be used to 

conduct projects more quickly and cost-effectively, especially 

those in the area of research and development.
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E. REmunER Ation REpoRt

the remuneration report on pages 104 to 106 of the Corporate 

Governance report is considered part of the management 

report. the remuneration report summarises the methods 

used to determine the remuneration of members of the Board 

of Management and explains the structure and amount of 

remuneration provided to Board of Management and super-

visory Board members.

f.   Expl AnAtoRy notEs in AccoRdAncE 
witH sEction 315 (4) of tHE gERmAn 
commERciAl codE (HgB)

in accordance with the Articles of Association the subscribed 

capital of Biotest AG is € 30,025,152. it is divided into 6,595,242 

no-par ordinary shares as well as 5,133,333 no-par preference 

shares. the shares are bearer shares; preference shares do not 

carry voting rights. 

oGel GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany, notified us on 12 February 

2008 that it holds 50.03 % of Biotest AG’s ordinary shares. the 

company is controlled by Dr. Cathrin schleussner, Germany, who 

is a member of Biotest AG’s supervisory Board. Kreissparkasse 

Biberach, Biberach, Germany, notified us that it held 24.36 % of 

the company’s shares with voting rights as of 20 january 2007. 

Based on the new rules under section 41 paragraph 4d of the 

WpHG in effect from 1 February 2012, Dr. Martin schleuss-

ner, Renate schleussner and Dr. Hans schleussner (all based 

in Germany) announced on 22 February 2012 that effective 

1 February 2012 they each held a reportable share in Biotest AG 

with voting rights of 50.27 %. Beyond this, the Board of Manage-

ment is not aware of any direct or indirect shareholdings in the 

company exceeding 10 % of voting rights. there are no holders 

of shares with special rights granting powers of control.

Members of the Board of Management are appointed and 

dismissed by the supervisory Board in accordance with sec-

tions 84 and 85 of the German stock Corporation Act (AktG) 

and section 7 (2) of the Articles of Association. in accordance 

with section 179 (1) of the AktG, all changes to the Articles of 

Association must be made by resolution of the Annual share-

holders’ Meeting (section 133 of the AktG). Authorisation to 

amend the Articles of Association affecting only the wording 

thereof was transferred to the supervisory Board in accordance 

with section 27 of the Articles of Association in conformity with 

section 179 (1) sentence 2 of the AktG.

pursuant to the resolutions of the Annual shareholders’ Meeting 

of 6 May 2010, the company is authorised under section 71 (1) 

sentence 8 of the AktG to acquire ordinary bearer shares and/

or preference bearer shares up to 10 % of the share capital 

outstanding at the time of the Annual shareholders’ Meeting 

of € 30,025,152.00. At no time may the acquired shares, along 

with other treasury shares held by the company or ascribed 

to it under sections 71d and 71e of the AktG, represent more 

than 10 % of the company’s share capital. this authorisation is 

valid until 5 May 2015; to date the company has not exercised 

its rights under this authorisation.

By resolution of the same Annual shareholders’ meeting, the 

Board of Management is authorised to increase the company’s 

share capital by 5 May 2015 with the approval of the super-

visory Board by up to € 3,742,487.04 through a single or several 

issue(s) of new preference bearer shares with no voting rights 

in return for cash contributions (equivalent to 1,461,909 pref-

erence bearer shares with no voting rights) (Authorised Capital 

2010/i). the shareholders shall be granted pre-emptive rights 

to these shares. this authorisation has not yet been exercised.

Biotest AG has entered into major agreements with third par-

ties regarding the Group’s long-term financing contracts, which 

take effect in the event of a change of control. the syndicated 

loan agreement grants the lending banks the right to terminate 

the agreement in the event of a change of control at Biotest AG 

or Biotest pharmaceuticals Corporation, if, in their view, this 

change of control would make continuance of the agreement 

unacceptable.

the participation rights agreement relating to a bullet loan for 

a nominal value of € 10 million provides for the possibility of 

extraordinary termination by the creditors in the case of a change 

in control. in the event of termination, the entire sum would be 

due immediately together with an early prepayment penalty.

the Board of Management agreement signed by Board of 

Manage ment members prof. Dr. schulz and Dr. Ramroth includes 

a supplementary agreement regarding severance pay in the 

event of the early termination of the Board of Management 

agreement due to circumstances clearly defined as a change of 

control. the severance payment shall consist of the member’s 

fixed salary until the end of the contractual term plus pro-rata 

bonuses calculated on the basis of the average for the previous 

two financial years plus compensation for the value in use of the 

company vehicle provided. in addition to these entitlements, the 

severance payment shall also include a sum equal to twice the 

annual fixed salary. in total, however, the severance payment 

may not exceed three times the annual fixed salary.

there shall be no entitlement if the Board of Management 

agreement is terminated for good cause, illness or incapacity to 

work or if the Board of Management member receives monetary 

or non-monetary benefits from a third party in connection with 

the change of control.



+ 23.5 % 
 

Earnings after taxes increased significantly compared  

to previous year from € 18.7 million to € 23.1 million.

1.94 Euro 
 

Earnings per share the Biotest Group achieved in 2012 – 

an increase of 23.6 % compared to previous year‘s result.
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statEmEnt of inComE
of the Biotest Group for the period from 1 January to 31 december 2012

in € thousand annex 2012 2011

revenue d 1 439,967 422,027

Cost of sales – 255,304 – 254,266

Gross profit 184,663 167,761

other operating income d 5 11,625 13,430

distribution costs – 57,151 – 48,517

administrative costs – 27,886 – 31,958

research and development costs d 4 – 51,438 – 49,406

other operating expenses d 6 – 15,160 – 9,750

Operating profit 44,653 41,560

financial income d 7 20,589 21,052

financial expenses d 8 – 29,788 – 34,571

Financial result – 9,199 – 13,519

income from associated companies d 9 1,024 539

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 36,478 28,580

income tax d10 – 13,430 – 9,850

Earnings after taxes from Continuing Operations 23,048 18,730

Earnings after taxes from discontinued operation d 11 10,373 29,419

Earnings after taxes (EAT) 33,421 48,149

thereof:

Retained earnings attributable to equity holders of the parent company 33,408 46,353

from Continuing operations 23,035 18,722

from discontinued operation 10,373 27,631

Minority interests 13 1,796

from Continuing operations 13 8

from discontinued operation – 1,788

Earnings per share in € E 11 2.82 3.93

from Continuing operations 1.94 1.57

from discontinued operation 0.88 2.36

Additional dividend rights per preference share in € E 11 0.06 0.06

from Continuing operations 0.06 0.06

from discontinued operation – –

Earnings per preference share in € E 11 2.88 3.99

from Continuing operations 2.00 1.63

from discontinued operation 0.88 2.36

the notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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statEmEnt of ComPrEhEnsivE inComE
of the Biotest Group for the period from 1 January to 31 december 2012

in € thousand 2012  2011

Profit for the period 33,421 48,149

actuarial gains/losses from defined benefit pension plans – 7,017 888

deferred taxes thereon 2,036 – 263

actuarial gains from defined-benefit pension plans in discontinued operation – 452

deferred taxes thereon – – 78

Currency translation of foreign subsidiaries – 206 2,421

Total deferred taxes on income and expenses recognised in equity 2,036 – 341

Income and expenses recognised directly in equity – 5,187 3,420

Comprehensive income 28,234 51,569 

Income and expenses recognised directly in equity – 5,187 3,420

from Continuing operations – 5,187 3,046

from discontinued operation – 374

Profit for the period 33,421 48,149

from Continuing operations 23,048 18,730

from discontinued operation 10,373 29,419

Comprehensive income 28,234 51,569

from Continuing operations 17,861 21,776

from discontinued operation 10,373 29,763

thereof:

Retained earnings attributable to equity holders of the parent company 28,221 49,773

from Continuing operations 17,848 21,768

from discontinued operation 10,373 28,005

Minority interest 13 1,796

from Continuing operations 13 8

from discontinued operation – 1,788

Comprehensive income 28,234 51,569

from Continuing operations 17,861 21,776

from discontinued operation 10,373 29,793

the notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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statEmEnt of finanCial Position 
of the Biotest Group as of 31 december 2012

in € thousand annex 31 December 2012 31 december 2011

AssETs

Non-current assets

intangible assets E 1 54,598 62,833

Property, plant and equipment E 2 243,033 234,857

investments in associates E 3 2,777 2,042

other financial investments E 4 154 4,733

other assets E 8 519 618

deferred tax assets E 5 13,805 7,729

Total non-current assets 314,886 312,812

Current assets

inventories E 6 184,216 152,983

trade receivables E 7 96,143 120,961

Current income tax assets 3,756 3,493

other assets E 8 7,688 9,314

Cash and cash equivalents E 9 57,241 83,199

349,044 369,950

assets from discontinued operation E 10 18,417 –

Total current assets 367,461 369,950

Total equity and liabilities 682,347 682,762

EquITy AND lIABIlITIEs

Total equity

subscribed capital 30,025 30,025

share premium 153,332 153,332

reserves 152,559 116,862

retained earnings attributable to equity holders of the parent company 33,408 46,353

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company E 11 369,324 346,572

minority interests 109 96

Total equity E 11 369,433 346,668

Non-current liabilities

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations E 12 57,122 51,049

other provisions E 13 3,946 3,192

financial liabilities E 14 71,034 101,343

other liabilities E 15 16 194

deferred tax liabilities E 5 7,591 7,598

liabilities from sales settlement E 16 8,328 24,983

Total non-current liabilities 148,037 188,359

Current liabilities

other provisions E 13 18,998 19,340

Current income tax liabilities 5,128 13,074

financial liabilities E 14 41,445 37,690

trade payables 47,373 34,678

other liabilities E 15 27,233 26,298

liabilities from sales settlement E 16 16,655 16,655

156,832 147,735

liabilities from discontinued operation E  10 8,045 –

Total current liabilities 164,877 147,735

Total liabilities 312,914 336,094

Total equity and liabilities 682,347 682,762

the notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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in € thousand annex 2012 2011

Earnings before taxes 36,478 28,580

depreciation and impairment of intangible assets and  
property, plant and equipment E 1, E 2 31,432 30,828

income from associated companies E 9 – 1,024 – 539

losses from the disposal of fixed assets 833 47

Changes in pension provisions E 12 – 3,242 429

financial result 9,199 13,519

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital 73,676 72,864

Changes in other provisions E 13 560 1,487

Changes in inventories, receivables and other assets – 5,108 – 24,035

Changes in liabilities from sales settlement – 16,655 41,638

Changes in accounts payable and other liabilities 12,667 – 6,138

Cash flow from changes in working capital – 8,536 12,952

interest paid – 4,673 – 4,930

taxes paid – 25,741 – 8,371

Cash flow from operating activities in Continuing Operations 34,726 72,515

Cash flow from operating activities in discontinued operation – – 237

Total cash flow from operating activities 34,726 72,278

Cash from the disposal of fixed assets 629 217

Payments for investment in fixed assets E 1, E 2 – 34,505 – 26,716

Cash from the sale of discontinued operation – 41,770

Changes in other financial assets 3,997 6,623

interest received 548 737

Cash flow from investing activities in Continuing Operations – 29,331 22,631

Cash flow from investing activities in discontinued operation – – 635

Total cash flow from investing activities – 29,331 21,996

dividend payments for the previous year E 11 – 5,469 – 4,765

dividend payments to minority interests E 11 – – 1,722

Proceeds from the assumption of financial liabilities E 14 1,296 4,261

Payments for redemption of financial liabilities E 14 – 27,214 – 28,424

Cash flow from financing activities in Continuing Operations – 31,387 – 30,650

Cash flow from financing activities in discontinued operation – –

Total cash flow from financing activities – 31,387 – 30,650

Cash changes to cash and cash equivalents – 25,992 63,624

Exchange rate-related changes 34 162

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period E 9 83,199 19,413

Cash and cash equivalents total at end of period E 9 57,241 83,199

less cash and cash equivalents at end of period in discontinued operation E 9 – – 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period in Continuing Operations E 9 57,241 83,199

Cash flow statEmEnt
of the Biotest Group for the period from 1 January to 31 december 2012

the notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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statEmEnt of ChanGEs in EqUity  
of the Biotest Group for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 december 2012

in € thousand
subscribed

capital
Capital 

reserves

Accumulated
differences 

from currency
translation

Earnings 
and

reserves

Equity  
excluding

minority 
interests

Minority
interests

Total
Total equity

Balance on 1 January 2011 30,025 153,332 5,721 112,486 301,564 6,044 307,608

Gains/losses recognised 
directly in equity – – 2,421 999 3,420 – 3,420

Profit for the period – – – 46,353 46,353 1,796 48,149

Comprehensive income – – 2,421 47,352 49,773 1,796 51,569

disposal of minority interests – – – – – – 6,022 – 6,022

dividend payments for 2010 – – – – 4,765 – 4,765 – 1,722 – 6,487

Balance on 31 December 2011 30,025 153,332 8,142 155,073 346,572 96 346,668

Gains/losses recognised 
directly in equity – – – 206 – 4,981 – 5,187 – – 5,187

Profit for the period – – – 33,408 33,408 13 33,421

Comprehensive income – – – 206 28,427 28,221 13 28,234

dividend payments for 2011 – – – – 5,469 – 5,469 – – 5,469

Balance on 31 December 2012 30,025 153,332 7,936 178,031 369,324 109 369,433

the notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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A . GENER Al INFORMATION

the Biotest Group consists of the parent company, Biotest 

aktiengesellschaft (Biotest aG), with its registered office in 

dreieich, Germany, and its domestic and foreign subsidiaries. 

the Group’s headquarters are located at landsteinerstrasse 5, 

63303 dreieich, Germany. Biotest aG is registered with the 

district Court of offenbach am main under hrB 42396. 

Biotest is a provider and developer of biological and bio-

technological pharmaceutical products. with a value added 

chain that extends from preclinical and clinical development 

to worldwide sales, Biotest has specialised primarily in the 

indication areas of clinical immunology, haematology and 

intensive medicine.

with refocusing on its core business since the beginning of 

financial year 2012, the Biotest Group has been divided into 

the following segments: therapy, Plasma & services and other 

segments.

the Therapy segment essentially combines the previous 

Plasma Proteins and Biotherapeutics segments. it therefore 

comprises the development and production of blood plasma-

based immuno globulins, clotting factors and albumins, which 

are used in diseases of the immune system, haematological 

diseases and intensive care medicine. it also includes the pre-

clinical and clinical development of monoclonal antibodies, 

indications for which include rheumatoid arthritis and blood 

cancers.

the Plasma & services segment includes the areas of plasma 

sales and toll manufacturing.

Other segments include retail business and costs that cannot be 

allocated to either the therapy segment or the Plasma & services 

segment.

as of the reporting date, the Biotest Group has 1,870 (previous 

year: 1,774) employees worldwide.

the consolidated financial statements of Biotest aG and 

its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with the 

international financial reporting standards (ifrs) which are 

mandatory in the European Union. the ifrs comprise both the 

international financial reporting standards (ifrs) and inter-

national accounting standards (ias) as well as the interpreta-

tions of the international financial reporting interpretations 

Committee (ifriC) and the interpretations of the standing 

interpretation Committee (siC). the accounting of the Biotest 

Group is prepared in accordance with the ifrs which are man-

datory for financial years beginning on 1 January 2012.

in their present version, the consolidated financial statements 

comply with the provisions of section 315a of the German 

Commercial Code (hGB). these provisions form the legal basis 

in Germany for consolidated accounting in accordance with 

international standards in conjunction with regulation (EC) 

no. 1606/2002 on the application of international accounting 

standards issued by the European Parliament and Council on 

19 July 2002.

Unless otherwise noted, all amounts are stated in thousand 

euros (€ thousand). the consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared in euros.

the amounts disclosed in the consolidated financial statements 

in the previous year, unless otherwise stated, relate exclusively 

to Continuing operations.

in the current financial year, the claim to the subsequent pur-

chase price payment from the merck KGaa Group, darmstadt, 

Germany, is reported in the statement of financial position and 

statement of income under discontinued operation; in the pre-

vious year, the sold medical diagnostics and microbiological 

monitoring divisions were reported under the same category.

notEs
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as in the previous year, reconciliations for the period from 

31 december 2011 to 31 december 2012 do not include 

discontinued operation. the exception is the statement of 

changes in equity for the previous year, which refers generally 

to all business divisions.

the Board of management of Biotest aG will submit the 

consolidated financial statements to the supervisory Board 

on 13 march 2013. the supervisory Board will decide on the 

release of the consolidated financial statements for publica-

tion on 22 march 2013.

ChANGEs IN RECOGNITION AND  

MEAsuREMENT METhODs

all valid and mandatory international financial reporting 

standards and interpretations of the international financial 

reporting interpretations Committee (ifriC) of relevance for 

the Biotest Group have been applied in the preparation of these 

financial statements. the accounting and valuation methods 

applied are generally the same as those of the previous year.

the first-time mandatory application of new standards in 

financial year 2012 had no impact on the consolidated financial 

statements.

Recently released accounting pronouncements –  

not yet implemented

standards published on or prior to the date of publication of the 

consolidated financial statements but not yet mandatory are 

listed below. this list is based on published standards and inter-

pretations that the Group reasonably expects will be applicable 

in the future. the Biotest Group intends to apply these standards 

if and when they become mandatory.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (amended)

the amendments to ias 1 change the grouping of items pre-

sented in other comprehensive income. items that could be 

reclassified (so-called ‘recycled’) to profit or loss at a future point 

in time would be presented separately from items which will 

remain in equity. this change affects only the presentation in the 

financial statements and therefore has no impact on the financial 

position, cash flows and results of operation of the Group. the 

change applies to financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (amended)

the amended standard applies to financial years beginning on 

or after 1 January 2013. the amended ias 19 eliminates the 

corridor approach and requires actuarial gains and losses to 

be recognised in other comprehensive income. in addition, the 

expected return on plan assets and the interest cost on the pen-

sion liability are replaced with a single net interest component. 

in the future, past service costs will be recognised in full in the 

period of the corresponding plan change. the amendment to 

ias 19 changes the requirements for benefits upon termination 

of employment and expands disclosure and explanation require-

ments. the Group expects no major impact on the financial 

position, cash flows and results of operations from the applica-

tion of the amended standard.

IAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and  

financial liabilities (amended)

the amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally 

enforceable right to set-off”. they further clarify the appli-

cation of the ias 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems 

(such as central clearing house systems) which apply gross 

settlement mechanisms in which individual transactions do 

not occur simultaneously. it is not expected that these changes 

will have an impact on the financial position, cash flows and 

results of operations of the Group; they are applicable to finan-

cial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

IAS 7 Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and  

financial liabilities (amended)

Pursuant to these amendments, a company must disclose 

information on netting rights and related agreements (such 

as collateral agreements). in this way, users of financial state-

ments would receive information that is useful in evaluating 

the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements on an 

entity’s financial position. the new disclosures are required for 

all financial instruments offset in the context of ias 32 financial 

instruments: Presentation. disclosure also applies to recognised 

financial instruments subject to enforceable global netting 

agreements or similar agreements, regardless of whether they 

are offset in accordance with ias 32. these amendments do not 

impact the presentation of the financial position, cash flows 

and results of operations of the Group and are applicable to 

financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments:  

Classification and Measurement

in november 2009 the iasB published ifrs 9 financial instru-

ments. this standard covers the first of three phases of the iasB 

project to replace the existing ias 39 financial instruments: 

recognition and measurement. ifrs 9 amends recognition 

and measurement requirements for financial assets, includ-

ing various hybrid contracts. it applies a uniform approach to 

recognising a financial asset at amortised cost or fair value to 

replace the various rules of ias 39. the ifrs 9 approach is based 

on the way in which a company manages its financial instru-

ments (its business model) and on the nature of the contractual 

cash flows of financial assets. the new standard also requires 

a uniformly applicable depreciation method that replaces the 

different methods within ias 39. 

the new standard is required to be applied to financial years 

beginning on or after 1 January 2015, with earlier application 

permitted. the Company is currently assessing the impact of 

its application on the consolidated financial statements. 

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  

(revised 2011)

with the adoption of ifrs 11 Joint arrangements and ifrs 12 

disclosure of interests in other Entities, ias 28 was renamed 

investments in associates and Joint ventures, and its appli-

cability, which had thus far been limited to associates, was 

expanded to the use of the equity method for joint ventures.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,  

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements

ifrs 10 replaces the rules regarding consolidated financial 

statements in ias 27 Consolidated and separate financial state-

ments (amended 2008) as well as siC-12 Consolidation – special 

Purpose Entities. Based on the currently applicable principles, 

ifrs 10 uses a comprehensive control approach to determine 

which companies are to be included in the consolidated 

financial statements. the pronouncement offers additional 

guidelines for interpreting the meaning of control in ambiguous 

cases. an investor controls another entity if, based on his/her 

participating interest, he/she holds a stake in variable results 

and has opportunities to influence the economic success of 

the company’s key business activities. significant changes to 

current rules may exist in situations where an investor holds 

less than half the voting rights in one company but is capable of 

influencing the primary business activities of another company 

through other channels.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

ifrs 11 replaces ias 31 interest in Joint ventures (as amended 

in 2008), and siC 13 Jointly Controlled Entities – nonmonetary 

Contributions by venturers. ifrs 11 governs the recognition 

of joint arrangements and is based on the type of rights and 

responsibilities under the arrangement rather than its legal 

structure. ifrs 11 classifies joint arrangements into two groups: 

joint operations and joint ventures. with ifrs 11 the pre vious 

option for using the proportionate consolidation of joint 

ventures is repealed. in the future, these companies will only 

be included in the consolidated financial statements using 

the equity method.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

ifrs 12 prescribes comprehensive disclosure requirements 

for all types of interests in other companies, including joint 

arrangements, associates, structured companies and off-

balance-sheet entities. disclosures are to be made to enable 

users of financial statements to assess the nature of participat-

ing interests in other companies, the associated risks and the 

impact of these interests on the company’s financial position, 

cash flows and results of operations.

ifrs 10, 11, 12 and the consequential amendments to ias 27 

and ias 28 apply to financial years beginning on or after 1 Janu-

ary 2014. new or modified standards may be applied earlier. in 

this case, all the above new regulations will be applied at the 

same time. the only exception is ifrs 12, for which disclosure 

requirements may be applied early independently of the other 

pronouncements. the pronouncements apply retroactively. 

the only effects for Biotest are on the explanatory notes. 
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IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

in may 2011 the iasB published ifrs 13, fair value measure-

ment. the new pronouncement does not specify the extent to 

which certain assets and liabilities are to be measured at fair 

value but simply defines the term ‘fair value’ and standardises 

the disclosure requirements for measurements at fair value. 

the new pronouncement is effective for financial years begin-

ning on or after 1 January 2013. Early adoption is permitted. 

most of the changes resulting from ifrs 13 regarding finan-

cial instruments have already been introduced, particularly 

through changes to ifrs 7 financial instruments: disclosures. 

the Company is currently assessing the impact on the consoli-

dated financial statements in terms of non-financial assets and 

liabilities and will determine the date of adoption.

Annual amendment process May 2012

•  IAs 1 Presentation of Financial statements

  with this change, the difference between voluntary addi-

tional comparative information and required comparative 

information should be more explicit. in general, the required 

comparative period is the previous reporting period.

•  IAs 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

  this change clarifies that essential spare parts and servicing 

equipment that meet the definition of assets are not consid-

ered inventories.

•  IAs 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

  this amendment clarifies that income taxes on dividends to 

holders of equity instruments are to be recognised in accord-

ance with ias 12 income taxes.

•  IAs 34 Financial Instruments

  with this change, the disclosure requirements for the entire 

assets of the segment are brought into conformity with the 

disclosure requirements for the entire debt of the segment 

in interim financial statements. this specification also results 

in the assimilation of the disclosure requirements for annual 

financial statements.

the changes under this project will apply for the first time to 

financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013. the changes 

resulting from this pronouncement are not expected to impact 

the consolidated financial statements.

B.  MATERIAl RECOGNITION AND 
MEAsuREMENT PRINCIPlEs

1. sCOPE OF CONsOlIDATION

the consolidated financial statements of Biotest aG include all 

material subsidiaries of the Group, which consist of three (pre-

vious year: three) domestic and twelve (previous year: twelve) 

foreign companies in which Biotest aG directly or indirectly 

holds majority voting rights.

in financial year 2012, the scope of consolidation of the Biotest 

Group did not change compared to 31 december 2011. how-

ever, six companies were deconsolidated during 2011.

the Biotest Group sold its microbiological monitoring division 

to the merck KGaa Group in 2011. therefore, the companies 

classified as held for sale in financial year 2010 (the German 

company heipha dr. müller Gmbh, the Us company Biotest 

microbiology Corporation, the Japanese company Biotest K.K. 

and the french company Biotest s.a.r.l.) were deconsolidated 

in financial year 2011.

furthermore, in february 2011 the Biotest Group sold its shares 

in viro-immun labor-diagnostika Gmbh under a purchase 

agreement signed on 18 february 2011. the company was 

deconsolidated effective on 1 april 2011.

with the sale of medical diagnostics, the remaining business of 

the Belgian company Biotest seralc° n.v. was not sufficient to 

sustain the necessary structure. for this reason, the remaining 

business was transferred to external distributors. on 31 decem-

ber 2010 the company existed only as a legal shell and was 

deconsolidated in 2011.

Under the agreement dated 18 January 2011, Biotest aG acquired 

100 % of the shares of Biotest farmaceutica ltda., são Paulo, Bra-

zil (formerly marcos Pedrilson Produtos hospitalares ltda.). the 

company was consolidated for the first time upon acquisition.  

as in the previous year, Biodarou P.J.s. Co., with registered 

offices in tehran, iran, is included in the consolidated financial 

statements as an associate and is recognised at equity. 

the shareholdings of Biotest aG as defined under section 313 (2) 

of the German Commercial Code (hGB) are listed in section f10 

list of participating interests.
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2. CONsOlIDATION METhODs

the reporting date for Biotest aG and all companies included 

in the financial statements is 31 december 2012. the financial 

statements of the included companies are prepared applying 

uniform recognition and measurement methods prescribed 

by Biotest aG.

intra-Group sales, expenses and income as well as all receiv-

ables and liabilities between consolidated companies have been 

eliminated.

subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, 

i.e., the date on which the Company acquires control. Control 

exists whenever the parent company holds more than half of 

the voting shares of any company or is otherwise able to govern 

the financial and operating policies of a company in order to 

benefit from its activities. inclusion in the consolidated financial 

statements ends as soon as control by the parent company no 

longer exists.

Business combinations entered into after 1 January 2010 are 

consolidated using the purchase method in accordance with 

ifrs 3 (revised 2008). Under this method, the cost of a busi-

ness combination is measured as the sum of the consideration 

transferred, measured at fair value at the acquisition date, and 

the non-controlling interest in the acquiree. for each business 

combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling inter-

ests in the acquiree either at fair value or at its corresponding 

share of the identifiable net assets of the acquired company. 

Costs incurred in connection with the business combination are 

expensed. the agreed contingent consideration is recognised 

at fair value at the acquisition date. subsequent changes in the 

fair value of contingent consideration representing an asset or 

liability are recognised either through profit or loss or directly 

in equity as accumulated other comprehensive income. Contin-

gent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its 

subsequent settlement is accounted for in equity. for successive 

business combinations, equity in the acquiree previously held by 

the acquirer is remeasured at fair value at the time of acquisition 

and the resulting profit or loss is recognised in income.

non-controlling interests are the portions of profit or loss 

for the period and of the net assets of Biotest Grundstücks-

verwaltungs Gmbh attributable to interests not wholly owned 

by Biotest Group. minority interests are disclosed as a separate 

item in the statement of income and the statement of financial 

position.

investments in associates are recognised using the equity 

method in accordance with ias 28. Under the equity method, 

investments in associates are recognised on the statement 

of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in 

the shares held by the Group in the net assets of the company 

accounted for under the equity method. 

the Group’s share in the success of the associate is reported 

separately in the profit for the period. Changes disclosed directly 

in the equity of the associate are recognised by the Group in 

the amount of its share and, if applicable, in the statement of 

changes in equity. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an 

associate is included in the amortised carrying amount of the 

associate or jointly-controlled entity and is neither amortised 

nor tested separately for impairment.

after applying the equity method, the Group determines 

whether it is necessary to record an additional impairment on 

investments in associates. on each reporting date, the Group 

determines whether objective evidence exists that the invest-

ments in associates could be impaired. if this is the case, the 

difference between the fair value of the investment and the 

carrying amount of the investment is recognised in the income 

statement as an impairment loss.

according to ias 28 “investments in associates”, the amount 

recognised for the equity investment should include the cost 

of purchase and any other financial exposure (such as loans).
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3. CuRRENCy TR ANsl ATION

the functional currency concept applies to currency trans-

lation. the subsidiaries included in the Biotest Group conduct 

their operations independently and the functional currency 

of these companies is therefore the respective local currency. 

when translating the annual financial statements of the sub-

sidiaries whose functional currency is not the euro, assets and 

liabilities are translated using the mean rate of exchange as 

of the reporting date, and income and expense are translated 

at the average annual rate. the resulting accumulated dif-

ferences are recognised directly in a separate item in equity, 

which is disclosed under reserves in the statement of financial 

position.

Under ias 21 “the Effects of Changes in foreign Exchange rates”, 

goodwill is translated as assets of the economically independent 

foreign subsidiaries using the prevailing exchange rate as of the 

reporting date.

the following exchange rates were applied to currency trans-

lation within the Biotest Group:

Average exchange rates Closing rates

1 euro equals 2012 2011 31 December 2012 31 december 2011

Us dollar 1.2856 1.3917 1.3194 1.2939

UK pound 0.8111 0.8678 0.8161 0.8353

russian ruble 39.9238 40.8797 40.3295 41.7650

swiss franc 1.2053 1.2340 1.2072 1.2156

hungarian forint 289.32 279.31 292.30 314.58

Brazilian real 2.5097 2.3259 2.7036 2.4159

monetary items (cash and cash equivalents, receivables and 

liabilities) denominated in foreign currency in the consolidated 

companies’ individual statements of financial position are recog-

nised in local currency at the exchange rate as of the reporting 

date. income and expense resulting from currency translation 

are reported as financial expense or financial income. 

non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 

recognised at historical cost.
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4. INTANGIBlE FIxED AssETs

A) GOODwIll

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of companies or shares in 

companies and is the difference between the cost of purchase 

(purchase price) and the fair values of the assets and liabili-

ties acquired. Goodwill is recognised at cost of purchase. the 

goodwill disclosed is tested at least annually for impairment 

and, if appropriate, written down in accordance with ias 36 

“impairment of assets”. whenever there is concrete evidence 

of impairment, an additional test for impairment is performed.

Goodwill is allocated to a group of cash-generating units. in 

the Biotest Group, these groups of cash-generating units are 

equivalent to the segments. in cases where goodwill represents 

a portion of the cash-generating unit and a part of the business 

division of this unit is sold, goodwill attributable to the divested 

business division is included in the carrying amount of the busi-

ness division when determining the net income from the sale 

of the division. the value of the divested portion of goodwill is 

determined based on the relative values of the divested busi-

ness and the remaining portion of the cash-generating unit. 

following the realignment of segment reporting, goodwill was 

reallocated based on relative values. 

an impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss if 

the recoverable amount of the asset or the cash-generating 

unit exceeds the carrying amount. the recoverable amount 

is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

for the purpose of impairment testing, the allocable future 

cash flows of the cash generating units are used to calculate 

their value in use on the basis of the discounted cash flow 

method. Under this method, cash flows are discounted based 

on multi-year business projections and a long-term growth 

rate forecast. the growth rate depends on the business under 

review. the discount rates applied after tax are based on the 

relevant waCC (weighted average Cost of Capital). in order to 

determine necessary write-downs, the carrying amount of the 

cash generating unit is compared with the recoverable amount. 

an appropriate valuation model based on the discounting of 

future cash flows is used to determine fair value less costs to 

sell. in order to ensure that the results are objective, valuation 

multiples, stock quotes, exchange-traded shares in companies 

or other available indicators are used to determine fair value.

B) OThER INTANGIBlE FIxED AssETs

other intangible fixed assets acquired are recorded at cost of 

purchase and divided into assets with a limited useful life and 

assets with an indefinite useful life. assets with a limited useful 

life are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated 

useful life. if necessary, impairment losses are recognised in 

accordance with ias 36. Useful life applied in this case ranges 

from 3 to 10 years.

the amortisation period and the amortisation method applied 

to an intangible asset with a definite useful life are reviewed 

at the end of each financial year at a minimum. if there is a 

change in the anticipated useful life of the asset or anticipated 

amortisation period of the asset, another amortisation period 

or amortisation method is to be selected. such changes are 

treated as changes to estimates. amortisation of intangible 

assets with a definite useful life is recorded in the statement 

of income under the expense category corresponding to the 

function of the intangible asset.

intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or intangible 

assets whose amortisation period has not yet begun are 

subject to an impairment test at least once a year at the cash 

generating unit level. whenever there is concrete evidence of 

impairment, an additional test for impairment is performed. 

these assets are not subject to scheduled amortisation. the 

useful life of these intangible assets is to be reviewed at least 

once a year to ensure that the indefinite useful life assessment 

is still justified. if this is not the case, the indefinite useful life 

is reassessed as a definite useful life on a prospective basis.

impairment testing is performed on the basis of future cash 

flows allocated to the cash generating units; to test impairment, 

their recoverable amount is calculated as the value in use using 

the discounted cash flow method. Under this method, cash 

flows are discounted based on multi-year business projections 

and a long-term growth rate forecast. the growth rate depends 

on the business under review. the discount rates applied after 

tax are based on the relevant waCC (weighted average Cost 

of Capital). in order to determine necessary write-downs, the 

carrying amount of the cash generating unit is compared with 

the recoverable amount.
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5 TANGIBlE AssETs

Property, plant and equipment are recognised in accordance with 

the cost of purchase model at cost of purchase or production 

cost less accumulated scheduled depreciation and amortisation 

and accumulated impairment losses. depreciation is allocated 

on a straight line basis over the expected useful life, which is 

estimated as follows:

Buildings up to 50 years 

technical equipment and machinery 5 – 12 years

office furniture and equipment 3 – 10 years

if necessary, an impairment loss is recognised in accordance 

with ias 36. if impairment is indicated, the carrying amounts 

of property, plant and equipment are compared against the 

corresponding recoverable amounts.

Production costs for self-constructed property, plant and equip-

ment include material and personnel costs as well as an appro-

priate share of overhead costs. ongoing repair and maintenance 

expenses are recognised through profit or loss when incurred. 

Extensions and material improvements are capitalised. interest 

on borrowed funds is recognised as an expense provided; it is 

not applicable to the production of qualified assets in accord-

ance with ias 23. Government grants reduce cost of purchase 

or production costs.

6 lEAsING

whether or not an agreement constitutes or contains a leas-

ing relationship is determined based on its economic content. 

for this purpose, an assessment is required as to whether ful-

filment of the contractual agreement is dependent on the use 

of a specific asset or specific assets and whether the agreement 

grants the right to use the asset (ifriC 4).

if fixed assets are rented or leased and the Biotest Group bears 

a substantial portion of the risks and rewards associated with 

the leased assets, such contracts are classified as finance leases. 

these are recognised in accordance with ias 17 “leases” at the 

lower of fair value or the present value of the minimum lease 

payments at the time the agreement is concluded. amortisa-

tion and depreciation are recognised over the expected useful 

life or shorter contract term. if necessary, an impairment loss 

is recognised in accordance with ias 36. future lease payment 

obligations are recognised as liabilities accordingly. the interest 

element of lease payments is recognised through profit or loss 

as interest expense over the term of the lease agreement.

assets recognised under finance leases relate mainly to manu-

facturing plant and software.

if all of the relevant risks and rewards associated with the leased 

item are not transferred to the Biotest Group under the lease 

agreement, the lease is classified by the lessor as an operating 

lease. in this case, lease payments are amortised over the term 

of the lease on a straight-line basis through profit or loss.

7 IMPAIRMENT

should facts or circumstances indicate a need for impairment 

of long-lived assets or should an annual impairment test of an 

asset be required, the recoverable amount, which represents 

the higher of either the net realisable value or value in use, is 

determined.

the recoverable amount is determined for each individual asset, 

unless the asset does not generate cash flows independently 

(to the greatest extent possible) of cash flows from other assets 

or other groups of assets.
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to determine the value in use, the estimated future cash flows 

are discounted to their present value at a pre-tax discount rate 

reflecting current market expectations with regard to the inter-

est rate effect and the specific risks of the asset.

if the recoverable amount is below the carrying amount, the 

value of the asset is considered impaired and is written down 

to the recoverable amount.

impairment expenses are recognised in the expense categories 

corresponding to the function of the impaired asset. in accord-

ance with ias 1, material amounts are disclosed as a separate 

line item in the statement of income.

if the estimated recoverable amount is higher than the carrying 

amount, impairments are reversed up to an amount not greater 

than the amortised cost of purchase or production costs, except 

in the case of goodwill.

8 INvENTORIEs

inventories are recognised at cost of purchase or production 

costs or the lower net realisable value as of the reporting date. 

the latter corresponds to the estimated selling price which may 

be recovered in the course of ordinary business, reduced by 

expected completion or selling costs. Production costs are deter-

mined using the “first in first out” or weighted average method. 

in addition to directly allocable individual costs, pursuant to ias 2 

“inventories”, production costs include an appropriate share of 

overhead costs directly allocable to the production process. 

these are based on the normal capacity of the manufacturing 

plants excluding costs for borrowed capital.

9 TR ADE RECEIvABlEs AND OThER AssETs

trade receivables and other assets are recognised at their nomi-

nal value. accounts receivable denominated in foreign currencies 

are translated at the closing rates prevailing as of the reporting 

date. foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised through 

profit or loss. default and transfer risks are accounted for through 

the recognition of allowances. these allowances are determined 

on the basis of experience and individual risk assessments. an 

allowance is recognised if there is an objective and substantial 

indication that the Group will not be in a position to collect all 

or part of the receivables. receivables are written off as soon as 

they become irrecoverable.

accounts receivable that arise through the application of the 

percentage of completion method are disclosed less payments 

on account if the production costs already incurred, including 

the profit portion, exceed the payments on account received.

10 OThER FINANCIAl AssETs

financial assets are measured at fair value or cost of purchase 

at the time of initial recognition. in the case of financial assets 

that are not subsequently measured at fair value through profit 

or loss, the transaction costs attributable to the acquisition 

are capitalised. the fair values recognised in the statement of 

financial position generally correspond to the market prices of 

the financial assets. where these are not readily available, fair 

values are calculated applying recognised valuation models and 

are based on current market parameters. already established 

cash flows or those calculated based on forward rates using the 

current yield curve are discounted to the reporting date using 

discount factors determined on the basis of the yield curve 

applicable on the reporting date. the mean rates are applied.

11 CAsh AND CAsh EquIvAlENTs

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and current account 

balances, cheques and financial investments realisable at short 

notice with original maturities of less than three months and 

are recognised at their nominal value. 

12 PENsION PROvIsIONs

the Biotest Group operates several defined contribution and 

defined benefit pension plans.

Commitments under defined contribution plans are deter-

mined by contributions to be made in the period, so that in 

this case no actuarial assumptions are required.

defined benefit plans are measured on the basis of actuarial 

opinions in accordance with the projected unit credit method. 

the pension costs for the financial year are forecast at the 

beginning of the financial year based on approaches deter-

mined at that time. the included parameters (interest rate, 

staff turnover rate, salary increases etc.) are anticipated values.
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Pursuant to ias 19.93a – 19.93d all actuarial gains and losses 

are recognised directly in equity.

any service period costs to be charged retrospectively arising 

in a financial year due to a retrospective change in pension 

commitments are determined separately and amortised over 

the period until the claims are vested. if claims are already 

vested at the time of the change, pension costs are recognised 

through profit or loss as pension expense in that period.

13 OThER PROvIsIONs

in accordance with ias 37, provisions are recognised when there 

is a present (legal or constructive) obligation arising out of a 

past event and it is probable that this will result in an outflow 

of resources to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can 

be made of the outflow of resources. Provisions are measured 

at the most probable amount. Provisions with an expected time 

for settlement of more than twelve months after the reporting 

date are recognised at their present value.

Provisions are discounted using a pre-tax interest rate reflecting 

the specific risks of the liability. increases in provisions due to 

the passage of time are recorded as interest expense.

in addition, obligations under the Biotest Group’s share-based 

remuneration system, which are recognised in accordance with 

ifrs 2, are disclosed under other provisions. Costs incurred as a 

result of cash-settled transactions are initially measured using 

a monte Carlo simulation at fair value at the time incurred. fair 

value is distributed through profit or loss over the period until 

the date of first possible exercise as a corresponding liability. 

the liability is remeasured at each reporting date and on the 

settlement date. Changes in fair value are allocated to the 

functional area costs.

14 FINANCIAl lIABIlITIEs

financial liabilities are recognised at the loan amount less 

transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised 

acquisition cost using the effective interest rate method. any 

difference between the net loan amount and the repayment 

value is recognised in the statement of income over the term 

of the financial liability.

15 FINANCIAl INsTRuMENTs

a financial instrument is a contract which results in a financial 

asset for one company and a financial liability or equity instru-

ment for another company.

financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade 

receivables, other loans granted and accounts receivable, 

financial investments held to maturity as well as primary and 

derivative financial assets held for trading.

financial liabilities regularly serve as the basis for repayment 

claims in cash or cash equivalents or another financial asset. this 

includes, in particular, bonds and other securitised liabilities, 

trade payables, liabilities to banks, liabilities from finance leases, 

borrower’s note loans and derivative financial instruments.

the Biotest Group uses derivative financial instruments such 

as currency option and currency forward transactions, interest 

rate caps and payer swaps to hedge against interest rate and 

currency risks. derivative financial instruments are not acquired 

for trading purposes.

derivative financial instruments are values as fair values. the 

fair values of currency option contracts and payer swaps are 

determined by banks based on the prevailing market conditions 

as of the reporting date.
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as the stringent formal criteria for hedge accounting are not 

met in the Biotest Group, all derivative financial instruments 

are recognised in accordance with the rules for trading deriva-

tives, despite a hedge being in place from an economic point 

of view. derivative financial instruments are initially recog-

nised at cost of purchase, excluding incidental charges, and 

subsequently measured at market value. Changes in market 

values are recognised through profit or loss in the statement 

of income.

a financial asset is derecognised when one of the following 

conditions is met:

• Contractual rights to cash flows from a financial asset have 

expired.

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 

from that asset to a third party or has taken on a contractual 

obligation to immediately pass on cash flows to a third party 

under a so-called pass-through agreement and thus has either 

(a) transferred all material opportunities and risks associated 

with ownership of the financial asset or (b) neither transferred 

nor withheld material opportunities and risks associated with 

the financial asset but transferred control of the asset.

if the Group transfers its contractual rights to cash flows from 

an asset or enters into a pass-through agreement, thus neither 

transferring nor withholding all material opportunities and risks 

associated with ownership of that asset but retaining control 

of the asset, the Group recognises the asset to the extent of 

its continuing involvement.

16 DIsCONTINuED OPER ATION

the decision made in 2010 to sell the microbiological monitor-

ing division was implemented on 1 august 2011 upon execu-

tion of the purchase agreement with the merck KGaa Group.

at the time of sale, a patent lawsuit was pending, in which 

heipha dr. müller Gmbh was accused of infringing a patent 

of the plaintiff. therefore, part of the purchase price was 

withheld by the buyer. the German federal Court of Justice 

(Bundesgerichtshof) later declared the enforced patent legally 

null and void. the plaintiff then withdrew the action against 

heipha dr. müller Gmbh, so that Biotest now has a claim to 

payment of the balance of the purchase price from the buyer 

of the sold division.

the discontinued operation is disclosed separately in the 

statement of financial position, the statement of income, the 

cash flow statement and segment reports and explained in 

the notes.

17 sAlEs

sale of goods:

revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the time of 

transfer of economic ownership, that is at the time of transfer 

of the risks and rewards to the purchaser, based on the cor-

responding contractual agreements less any discounts and vat.

Provision of services:

sales from the services business are recorded by the Biotest 

Group at the time the services are rendered. service agreements 

from which the result can be reliably estimated are recognised 

using the percentage of completion method in accordance 

with ias 18 “revenue”. the service provided, including the pro 

rata result, is recognised as revenue based on percentage of 

completion. the percentage of completion to be recognised is 

determined based on expenses incurred (cost-to-cost method). 

Contracts are disclosed under receivables or liabilities using the 

percentage of completion method.
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in individual cases where accumulated performance (con-

tract cost and contract result) exceeds payments received on 

account, construction contracts are disclosed as assets under 

receivables using the percentage of completion method. 

any negative balances remaining after deducting payments 

received are disclosed as liabilities under construction contracts 

using the percentage of completion method. anticipated con-

tract losses determined on the basis of discernible risks are 

covered through write-downs or provisions.

revenue from non-refundable fees for the provision of tech-

nology, fees for the use of technology and royalty payments is 

accrued over the corresponding contract period on a straight-

line basis, provided no more appropriate method of revenue 

recognition is available. this contract period is typically equal 

to the contractually agreed duration of the research or, in the 

case of agreements with no contractually agreed research 

duration, the estimated duration of the collaboration. the use-

ful life of the collaboration is estimated at the time of contract 

signing and is based on the current budget and forecasts. the 

estimated duration of the collaboration is reviewed annually.

Revenue recognition for multiple-component agreements:

sales of products and services may include multiple delivery 

and service components. in these cases, the Company will 

determine whether more than one accounting item exists. a 

transaction will be separated if (1) the delivered component(s) 

offer an independent benefit for the customer, (2) the fair value 

of the still-undelivered component(s) can be reliably measured 

and (3) in the case of a general right to return the delivered 

component(s), delivery or performance of the still-undelivered 

component(s) is likely and significantly controllable by the 

Company. if all three criteria are met, Biotest will use the 

revenue recognition method applicable to each separate 

accounting item.

18 REsEARCh AND DEvElOPMENT COsTs 

research costs are recognised as expenses at the time incurred. 

development costs are also generally recorded as expenses at 

the time incurred as it is not sufficiently certain that products 

will be marketable or that production processes can be used 

until they have been approved by the authorities and such 

authorisation is typically granted only at the end of the develop-

ment process. therefore, the requirements for capitalisation 

pursuant to ias 38 “intangible assets” are not met in their 

entirety. development expenses incurred after approval is 

received by the authorities are not material.

19  GOvERNMENT GR ANTs FOR REsEARCh 
AND DEvElOPMENT

Government grants for research and development are recog-

nised through profit or loss at the time of the grant or in line 

with the research and development costs incurred. they are 

disclosed under other operating income and not netted against 

research and development costs.

20  FINANCIAl INCOME AND  
FINANCIAl ExPENsE

interest is recognised as expense or income at the time 

incurred. the interest component of lease payments under 

finance leases is determined using the effective interest rate 

method and recognised as interest expense. the effective inter-

est rate method is based on a required interest rate at which 

estimated future cash flows are discounted over the expected 

life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 

financial asset. all income and expenses arising from currency 

translation are recognised in the financial result. in accordance 

with ifrs 7, interest on financial instruments is also disclosed 

separately.
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21 TA xEs

actual tax assets and tax liabilities for the current period and 

for earlier periods are to be measured at the amount of the 

expected refund from or payment to the tax authorities. the 

amount is calculated based on tax rates and tax legislation 

reflecting the respective national tax regulations of the coun-

tries in which Biotest Group companies operate.

deferred taxes are recognised for all deductible temporary 

differences, as yet unused tax loss carryforwards and unused 

tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable income 

will be available against which the deductible temporary differ-

ences and as yet unused tax loss carryforwards and tax credits 

can be offset.

the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed on 

each reporting date and reduced by the amount by which it 

is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be 

available to at least partially offset the deferred tax asset. in 

addition, unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed on 

each reporting date and recognised at the amount at which 

it has become probable that future taxable income will allow 

the deferred tax asset to be realised.

Current tax rates or rates already adopted by parliament are 

used to determine both current tax expense and deferred taxes.

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset 

against each other if there are actionable claims for offsetting 

actual tax refund claims against actual tax liabilities and these 

claims apply to income taxes of the same tax subject levied by 

the same tax authority.

22 uNCERTAIN EsTIMATEs AND JuDGMENTs

Preparation of the financial statements requires certain esti-

mates to be made as part of the recognition and measurement 

of assets and liabilities under ifrs. these estimates affect the 

amount and disclosure of assets and liabilities as well as income 

and expenses recognised during the reporting period. Estimates 

and assumptions represent judgments by the management. 

these are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes are prospec-

tively recognised in the reporting period or in future periods. 

assumptions and estimates are made particularly in connection 

with the measurement of goodwill, provisions, allowances for 

bad debt and inventories, the write-off of receivables under fac-

toring agreements, the measurement of share-based payments 

as well as the determination of fair values. one major judgment 

affects revenue recognition from the partnering agreement 

with abbvie (a global, research-based biopharmaceutical com-

pany formed in 2013 following separation from abbott). such 

estimate- and assumption-sensitive accounting practices may 

change over time and significantly impact the financial position, 

cash flows and results of operations of the Company. 

in making judgments, the management relies on past experi-

ence, assessments by experts (lawyers, rating agencies, trade 

associations) and the results of a careful weighing of different 

scenarios. developments that deviate from these assumptions 

and are beyond the management’s control may cause actual 

amounts to differ from original estimates. if actual develop-

ments deviate from anticipated developments, assumptions 

and, if necessary, the carrying amounts of the assets and liabili-

ties in question are adjusted accordingly. the management 

has indicated that future events often vary from forecasts 

and that estimates require routine adjustment.

the key assumptions and parameters underlying the esti-

mates and judgments made are explained in the notes for 

each situation.
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C. sEGMENT REPORTING

the information disclosed in the segment report has been 

prepared in accordance with ifrs 8 “operating segments”. 

segmentation at the Biotest Group is carried out on the basis 

of products and services in accordance with the internal report-

ing system. at Biotest aG, the chief operating decision maker 

within the meaning of ifrs 8 is the Board of management.

segment information made available to the chief operation deci-

sion maker in the course of the year is based on ifrs amounts 

and primarily comprises information up to and including operat-

ing profit (EBit). operating profit (EBit) is used as a measure of 

segment performance.

since the beginning of financial year 2012, the Biotest Group has 

been divided into the following segments: therapy,  Plasma & 

services and other segments. Previous year figures have been 

adjusted accordingly. the segments were reorganised mainly 

to take advantage of synergies created by merging functionally 

interconnected parts of the business. this is now also formally 

reflected in our financial reporting.

the business segments of the Biotest Group are now as follows:

the Therapy segment essentially combines the previous 

Plasma Proteins and Biotherapeutics segments. it therefore 

comprises the development and production of blood plasma-

based immunoglobulins, clotting factors and albumins, which 

are used in diseases of the immune system, haematological 

diseases and intensive care medicine. it also includes the pre-

clinical and clinical development of monoclonal antibodies, 

indications for which include rheumatoid arthritis and multiple 

myeloma.

the Plasma & services segment includes the areas of plasma 

sales and toll manufacturing.

Other segments is a reporting segment divided into an 

operationally active merchandise business segment and 

a non-operational Corporate segment. Expenses for the 

overall management of the Group as well as other income 

and expenses, which by their nature cannot be allocated to 

therapy or Plasma & services segments, are combined under 

Corporate.

the claim to the subsequent purchase price payment from the 

merck KGaa Group, darmstadt, Germany, is disclosed under 

Discontinued Operation in the current financial year. in the 

previous year, the sale of the microbiological monitoring divi-

sion on 1 august 2011 to merck KGaa was disclosed under the 

same category. the Biotest Group discloses the profit from the 

sale in 2011 separately under discontinued operation, to which 

the microbiological monitoring segment was assigned in 2010 

upon the decision to sell the division. 

the Biotest Group currently receives income from service and 

rental agreements with the merck KGaa Group and Bio-rad 

medical diagnostics Gmbh, dreieich, Germany, for previously 

sold business divisions. the income and expenses from these 

services and leases are disclosed in the current financial year 

under other segments.
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sEGmEnt information By BUsinEss sEGmEnt*

in € thousand therapy Plasma & services
other 

segments
Total Continuing 

Operations
discontinued 

operation total

revenue 
with third parties

2012 330,899 96,990 12,078 439,967 – 439,967

2011 324,741 87,864 9,421 422,027 30,469 452,496

operating profit 
(EBit)

2012 26,246 18,370 37 44,653 10,524 55,177

2011 24,938 18,763 – 2,141 41,560 35,774 77,334

investments in  
associates

2012 2,777 – – 2,777 – 2,777

2011 2,042 – – 2,042 – 2,042

Capital  
expenditure

2012 31,861 2,611 33 34,505 – 34,505

2011 24,992 1,614 110 26,716 635 27,351

scheduled
depreciation

2012 24,193 4,312 915 29,420 – 29,420

2011 23,352 3,796 887 28,035 1,634 29,669

impairment 2012 2,012 – – 2,012 – 2,012

2011 2,793 – – 2,793 – 2,793

*  the figures for financial year 2011 have been adjusted to reflect the new segmentation

rEConCiliation of total sEGmEnt rEsUlts  
to EarninGs aftEr taxEs of thE BiotEst GroUP

in € thousand 2012 2011

Operating profit (EBIT) 44,653 41,560

financial income 20,589 21,052

financial expenses – 29,788 – 34,571

income from associates 1,024 539

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 36,478 28,580

income tax – 13,430 – 9,850

Earnings after taxes from  
discontinued operation  10,373 29,419

Earnings after taxes (EAT) 33,421 48,149

sEGmEnt information By rEGion

Revenue from third parties
by customer headquarters

Revenue from third parties
by company headquarters

Non-current assets 
by company headquarters

in € thousand 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Europe 249,917 258,347 374,673 349,605 173,022 170,574

americas 58,398 74,955 65,294 72,422 141,864 142,238

asia 121,816 77,583 – – – –

rest of world 9,836 11,142 – – – –

Biotest Group 439,967 422,027 439,967 422,027 314,886 312,812

thereof:

Germany 89,385 96,892 292,608 262,613 170,141 163,306

rest of world 350,582 325,135 147,359 159,414 144,745 149,506

thereof: Usa 52,461 69,542 65,247 72,422 141,431 139,460

no significant provision of supplies takes place between the 

individual segments.



50 Biotest GroUP – Notes

D.  ExPl ANATORy NOTEs TO ThE  
sTATEMENT OF INCOME

1 REvENuE

in € thousand 2012 2011

Products of the Biotest Group 372,773 368,459

toll manufacturing 38,118 25,730

revenue from cooperation agreements 16,655 17,413

merchandise 12,078 9,421

other 343 1,004

439,967 422,027

in financial year 2011, the Biotest Group generated revenue 

of the biotherapeutic drug tregalizumab (Bt-061) for the first 

time. this revenue results from an advance payment from 

the agreement regarding the worldwide development and 

marketing of the monoclonal antibody tregalizumab (Bt-061) 

with abbvie (a global, research-based biopharmaceutical 

company formed in 2013 following separation from abbott). 

as the upfront payment of Usd 85 million relates primarily to 

research activities still to be carried out, most of the amount 

was recognised as deferred revenue. Profit will be recognised 

on a straight-line basis over the expected duration of the first 

section of the partnership agreement through 30 June 2014. 

for research services provided in financial year 2012, the Biotest 

Group recognised € 16,655 thousand (previous year: € 17,413 

thousand) through profit or loss. 

revenue from products of the Biotest Group includes revenue 

from the sale of plasma.

2 COsT OF MATERIAls

in € thousand 2012 2011

raw materials and supplies 145,543 148,432

services purchased 22,334 16,645

167,877 165,077

3 PERsONNEl ExPENsEs

in € thousand 2012 2011

wages and salaries 95,203 88,053

social security contributions 16,199 15,649

Pension costs 4,692 2,962

116,094 106,664

Personnel expenses include expenses resulting from the ter-

mination of employment in the amount of € 1,475 thousand 

(previous year: € 3,103 thousand).

the average number of employees, converted to full-time 

equivalents, in financial year 2012 was 1,707 (previous year 

in Continuing operations: 1,652). as of 31 december 2012, 

the Biotest Group had 1,727 (previous year: 1,662) employees, 

converted to full-time equivalents.

in the previous year, discontinued operation had an average of 

284 employees, converted to full-time equivalents, in the first 

seven months of financial year 2011. as of 31 december 2011, 

no employees (converted to full-time equivalents) were assigned 

to discontinued operation.

as of 31 december 2012, the Biotest Group had 1,870 employees 

(previous year: 1,774).

Employees are distributed across operating divisions as follows: 

in full-time equivalents 2012 2011

Production 1,185 1,097

distribution 190 202

administration 208 206

research and development 144 157

1,727 1,662

4 REsEARCh AND DEvElOPMENT COsTs

Expenses for research and development in the amount of 

€ 51,438 thousand (previous year: € 49,406 thousand) are 

recognised in full in the statement of income.
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5 OThER OPER ATING INCOME

in € thousand 2012 2011

income from service agreements 5,168 4,120

derecognition of liabilities 1,692 3,388

reversal of other provisions 1,457 2,227

insurance reimbursements  
and other refunds 1,142 1,603

reversal of pension provisions 868 20

reversal of write-downs 118 79

Gains from the disposal of fixed assets 106 66

reimbursements from the Employment 
office for re-filling positions left vacant 
by partial retirement 82 98

tax refunds 50 219

other 942 1,610

11,625 13,430

income from service contracts relates primarily to contracts 

signed after the sale of the former medical diagnostics and 

microbiological monitoring divisions.

in financial year 2012, the Biotest Group recognised through 

profit or loss € 735 thousand (previous year: € 524 thousand) in 

government grants, including € 551 thousand (previous year: 

€ 328 thousand) in research and development project grants, 

€ 102 thousand (previous year: € 98 thousand) in wage subsidies 

and wage replacement benefits and € 82 thousand (previous 

year: € 98 thousand) in reimbursements from the Employment 

office for re-filling positions left vacant by partial retirement. 

Grants for research and development projects are included in 

research and development costs.

in financial year 2012, the Biotest Group generated € 975 thou-

sand in income from operating leases (previous year: € 719 

thousand). leases in effect on the reporting date which expire 

up to and including 2017 will result in future lease revenues in 

the amount of € 602 thousand for 2013 and € 253 thousand for 

the four subsequent financial years (2014 to 2017). no other 

lease income will accrue as from financial year 2018. income 

from operating leases mainly result from the temporary leasing 

of currently non-operational land and buildings.

6 OThER OPER ATING ExPENsEs

in € thousand 2012 2011

Expenses for the provision of services 4,140 3,881

write-downs of receivables 3,584 730

additions to provisions 2,320 985

impairment 2,012 2,793

losses from the disposal of fixed assets 920 113

damages 346 38

donations 336 314

other 1,502 896

15,160 9,750

write-downs of receivables in the amount of € 3,584 thousand 

(previous year: € 730 thousand) relate to receivables that are no 

longer considered recoverable. this affects primarily receivables 

of Biotest hellas mEPE from Greek end consumers.

additions to provisions in this financial year relate mainly to 

provisions for other tax risks amounting to € 734 thousand, 

provisions for the closure of the Greek subsidiary Biotest hellas 

mEPE amounting to € 412 thousand and litigation provisions 

amounting to € 289 thousand.

impairment losses in the current financial year relate to € 1,301 

thousand for impairment of goodwill and € 711 thousand for 

impairment of capitalised product registrations of the Brazilian 

company Biotest farmaceutica ltda. impairment losses in the 

previous year relate primarily to depreciation and amortisation 

of advance payments at Biotest Pharmaceuticals Corporation, 

Usa. for further explanations, please refer to the statements 

regarding intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.
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7 FINANCIAl INCOME

in € thousand 2012 2011

income from currency translation 19,704 16,424

interest income 539 771

Gain on disposal of  
financial instruments – 1,146

write-ups of investments in associates – 453

other 346 2,258

20,589 21,052

thereof financial instruments  
of the measurement categories  
according to ias 39:

loans and receivables (lar) 535 1,680

financial investments  
held to maturity (htm) – 1

financial assets measured at  
fair value through profit and loss 
(fafvtPl) 4 985

financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost (flaC) 228 141

financial assets held for trading 
(fahft) 1,222 1,377

financial liabilities held for trading 
(flhft) 2,245 1,785

the 50 % impairment loss on the equity stake in Biodarou P.J.s. 

Co. was reversed in financial year 2011 as the reasons for the 

impairment ceased to exist. this resulted in financial income 

of € 453 thousand for the previous year. these are disclosed as 

additions to investments in associates.

income from currency translation includes income from real-

ised foreign exchange gains in connection with foreign currency 

receivables and payables, income from foreign currency hedg-

ing and income from the measurement of foreign currency 

positions on the reporting date.

8 FINANCIAl ExPENsEs

in € thousand 2012 2011

Currency translation expense 22,120 16,498

interest expense 3,639 5,218

interest expense for pensions 2,294 2,328

fair value measurement expense – 8,335

loss on disposal of financial instruments 657 785

interest rate hedging costs 223 693

other 855 714

29,788 34,571

thereof financial instruments  
of the measurement categories  
according to ias 39:

financial assets measured at  
fair value through profit and loss 
(fafvtPl) 657 7,987

financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost (flaC) 3,192 4,967

financial assets held for trading 
(fahft) 1,047 1,139

financial liabilities held for trading 
(flhft) 2,177 2,734

loans and receivables (lar) 1,074 738

Expenses from currency translation include expenses from 

realised foreign exchange losses in connection with foreign 

currency receivables and payables as well as expenses from 

foreign currency hedging.

reported interest rate hedging expenses include expenses from 

the measurement of interest rate hedges at fair value, pay-

ments on interest rate hedging transactions and fees incurred.

in the previous year, fair value measurement expenses relate 

primarily to the measurement of Greek government bonds dis-

closed under financial assets and claims to the issue of Greek 

government bonds in exchange for receivables due from Greek 

hospitals.

in 2012, after the mandatory exchange, all Greek government 

bonds were sold. this resulted in a financial expense of € 657 

thousand for financial year 2012. the bonds were recognised 

on the reporting date of 31 december 2011 at a market value 

of € 4,453 thousand.
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9 INCOME FROM AssOCIATEs 

in financial year 2012, € 1,024 thousand (previous year: € 539 

thousand) in income was earned from associates.

10 INCOME TA x

in € thousand 2012 2011

Current tax expense in respect  
of the financial year 18,245 14,161

Current tax income for previous years – 709 – 527

Current tax 17,536 13,634

Deferred taxes – 4,106 – 3,784

Income tax expense 13,430 9,850

deferred tax income from items credited directly to equity 

totalled € 2,036 thousand (previous year: deferred tax expense 

charged to equity of € – 263 thousand).

applying the nominal income tax rate of 28.8% (2011: 28.8%), 

the expected tax expense for financial year 2011 differed from 

the actual amount as follows:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 36,478 28,580

Expected tax expense 10,506 8,231

Effect of losses not recognised  
in the financial year 727 283

Effect from impairment of goodwill 404 –

write-downs on deferred taxes 962 1,281

tax refunds – 709 – 527

tax effect of adjustments to deferred 
taxes from previous years – 317 – 480

tax effect of capitalisation of tax credits – 224 – 668

tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3,232 1,908

tax effect of the application of  
foreign tax rates and use of foreign 
tax losses carried forward – 1,129 417

tax effect of tax-free income – 58 – 607

other effects 36 12

Income tax recognised in the  
statement of income 13,430 9,850

the calculated tax rate of 28.8 % is based on a corporation tax 

rate of 15 %, a solidarity surcharge of 5.5 % and trade tax rate 

of the municipality of dreieich (registered office of the parent 

company).
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11 DIsCONTINuED OPER ATION

the decision made in 2010 to sell the microbiological monitoring 

division was implemented on 1 august 2011 upon execution of 

the purchase agreement with the merck KGaa Group.

amounts from discontinued operation were disclosed sepa-

rately from those of Continuing operations in the statement 

of income, the segment reports and the cash flow statement. 

in the statement of financial position, assets and liabilities held 

for sale were disclosed under assets of discontinued operation 

and liabilities of discontinued operation.

at the time of sale, a patent lawsuit was pending, in which 

heipha dr. müller Gmbh was accused of infringing a patent of 

the plaintiff. therefore, part of the purchase price was withheld 

by the buyer. the Bundesgerichtshof later declared the enforced 

patent legally null and void. the plaintiff then withdrew the 

action against heipha dr. müller Gmbh, so that Biotest now 

has a claim to payment of the balance of the purchase price 

from the buyer of the sold division.

the results of the discontinued operation are as follows:

in € thousand 2012 2011

income from discontinued operation – 30,693

Expenses from discontinued operation – – 26,761

Earnings before taxes  
from Discontinued Operation – 3,932

income tax from discontinued operation – – 1,269

Earnings after taxes  
from Discontinued Operation – 2,663

results of the measurement/disposal of 
discontinued operation before tax 10,524 30,340

tax on the results of  
measurement/disposal – 151 – 3,584

Results from the measurement/disposal 
of Discontinued Operation after tax 10,373 26,756

Results of Discontinued Operation 10,373 29,419

the results from the sale of discontinued operation are as 

follows:

in € thousand 2012 2011

sale proceeds net of selling costs 10,524 41,770

less tax on profits from the sale – 151 – 3,585

less outgoing assets and liabilities – – 17,451

plus outgoing minority interests – 6,022

Results of the sale  
of Discontinued Operation 10,373 26,756

 
12 AuDITOR FEEs

on 10 may 2012 the annual shareholders’ meeting of Biotest aG 

appointed Ernst & young Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungs gesellschaft 

as the auditor for the 2012 financial year.

fees for the external auditors, Ernst & young Gmbh wirtschafts-

prüfungsgesellschaft, totalled € 371 thousand in financial year 

2012 (previous year: € 273 thousand). these fees consist of € 271 

thousand (previous year: € 234 thousand) for the financial state-

ment audit (of which € 29 thousand was for the previous year), 

€ 49 thousand (previous year: € 14 thousand) for other services 

(including € 8 thousand for the previous year), € 26 thousand 

(previous year: € 25 thousand) for tax consulting services (of 

which € 0 thousand was for the previous year) and € 25 thousand 

(previous year: € 0 thousand) for other assurance services (includ-

ing € 8 thousand for the previous year).
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E.  ExPl ANATION OF ThE sTATEMENT  
OF FINANCIAl POsITION

1 INTANGIBlE AssETs

all intangible assets are allocated to non-current assets.

in € thousand Goodwill
Patents, licenses  

and similar rights leased assets
Payments  

in advance Total

Cost of purchase

status as of 31 December 2010 28,984 57,260 9,626 – 95,870

additions – 1,668 – – 1,668

additions to the consolidation group 1,571 937 – – 2,508

disposals – – 268 – 15 – – 283

Effect of foreign currency translation differences 583 1,271 – – 1,854

status as of 31 December 2011 31,138 60,868 9,611 – 101,617

additions – 889 – 290 1,179

disposals – – 2,267 – – – 2,267

Book transfers – 5 – – 5

Effect of foreign currency translation differences 300 – 912 – – – 612

status as of 31 December 2012 31,438 58,583 9,611 290 99,922

Accumulated depreciation

status as of 31 December 2010 – 25,931 4,998 – 30,929

depreciation for the financial year – 5,453 1,542 – 6,995

impairment – 388 – – 388

disposals – – 268 – 15 – – 283

Effect of foreign currency translation differences – 755 – – 755

status as of 31 December 2011 – 32,259 6,525 – 38,784

depreciation for the financial year – 5,724 1,543 – 7,267

impairment 1,301 711 – – 2,012

disposals – – 2,262 – – – 2,262

Effect of foreign currency translation differences – – 477 – – –  477

status as of 31 December 2012 1,301 35,955 8,068 – 45,324

Carrying amount as of

31 december 2011 31,138 28,609 3,086 – 62,833

31 December 2012 30,137 22,628 1,543 290 54,598

additions to the scope of consolidation in 2011 concerned 

goodwill in the amount of € 1,571 thousand as well as patents, 

licenses and similar rights in the amount of € 937 thousand. 

this addition resulted from the acquisition of a 100 % inter-

est in marcos Pedrilson Produtos hospitalares ltda., Brazil 

(now Biotest farmaceutica ltda.), the former distributor for 

Biotest aG in Brazil. for further explanations, please refer to 

the statements in section f2 mergers.

leased assets relate mainly to an ErP software.

impairment losses in financial year 2012 in the amount of € 2,012 

thousand (previous year: € 0 thousand) include an amount of 

€ 1,301 thousand (previous year: € 0 thousand) relating to the 

goodwill of Biotest farmaceutica ltda. and an amount of € 711 

thousand (previous year: € 0 thousand) relating to product 

registrations in Brazil. these values are allocated to the therapy 

segment. due to delays in the renewal and re-registration of 
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product approvals, product registrations were impaired by € 711 

thousand and goodwill from the acquisition of the shares in the 

amount of € 1,301 thousand was impaired in full.

impairment losses in the previous year of € 388 thousand 

include the impairment of the value of customer lists of Biotest 

hellas mEPE, Greece, due to negative economic developments 

in Greece.

with the acquisition of the plasma protein division of nabi 

Biopharmaceuticals in financial year 2007, two development 

projects were acquired and recognised in the consolidated 

financial statements as intangible assets. these included a 

project regarding the intravenous immunoglobulin Bivigam™, 

which received marketing authorisation in december 2012, 

as well as Civacir®, a drug designed to prevent re-infection in 

the case of necessary liver transplants due to hepatitis C. the 

Civacir project was not depreciated as scheduled in financial 

year 2012, as it remained under development and marketing 

authorisation had not yet been granted. once production 

begins, the value of the projects will be depreciated over ten 

years on a straight-line basis. marketing of Civacir® is expected 

to begin in financial year 2017. the start of marketing activi-

ties depends on authorisation from the relevant authorities. 

scheduled depreciation and amortisation of Bivigam™ will begin 

upon market launch in february 2013.

an impairment test was also carried out for these projects, 

resulting in no impairment as was the case in the previous year.

the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is deter-

mined by calculating the value in use based on cash flow fore-

casts. finally, the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit 

was compared against the recoverable amount to determine 

any need for impairment.

following the realignment of segmentation, goodwill was 

allocated to the new cash-generating units in accordance with 

ias 36.87 on the basis of the relative value in use. the segments 

therapy and Plasma & services represent the cash-generating 

units for impairment testing of goodwill.

to test goodwill impairment for the therapy segment, a 

pre-tax discount rate of 8.10 % based on the relevant waCC 

(weighted average Cost of Capital) was applied. in the 

Plasma & services segment, a discount rate before tax of 

6.55 % was used. Expected cash flows were calculated on the 

basis of five-year financial forecasts made by management. 

Cash flows from the year 2018 onward are extrapolated. 

Perpetual annuities are based on average values for the years 

2013 to 2017. a growth rate of 1 % was applied to perpetual 

annuities.

the two projects were also subject to an impairment test. 

in this case, the after-tax discount rate used for the project 

Bivigam was 5.55 % (previous year: 9.67 %) and 7.00 % for the 

project Civacir (previous year: 9.67 %). these are also based 

on the relevant waCC (weighted average Cost of Capital). 

Expected cash flows for the years 2013 to 2023 were calculated 

on the basis of detailed financial forecasts. for the years 2024 

to 2028 a growth rate of 2 % was assumed. 

in sensitivity analyses, the impact of changes in the discount 

factor applied and a change in the assumed growth rate for 

the development projects was determined.  no realistic change 

in the value of the parameters would lead to impairment of 

development projects or goodwill.

the carrying amounts of intangible assets subject to an impair-

ment test relate to the following cash generating units:

Cash  
generating unit

intangible
asset

Carrying amount  
as of  

31 December 2012  
in € thousand

Carrying amount  
as of  

31 december 2011* 
in € thousand

segment therapy Goodwill 23,266 24,371

segment  
Plasma & services

Goodwill
6,871 6,767

Project Patents, 
licenses and 
similar rights 10,510 10,717

40,647 41,855

* figures for the previous year are adjusted to new segmentation

depreciation and amortisation and impairment losses on intan-

gible assets for the financial year are included in the following 

items of the statement of income:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Production costs 4,452 4,136

distribution costs 143 211

administrative costs 2,607 2,571

research and development costs 65 77

other operating expenses 2,012 388

9,279 7,383
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2 PROPERT y, Pl ANT AND EquIPMENT

all assets listed below are allocated to non-current assets.

in € thousand 
land and 
buildings

technical 
equipment and 

machinery

other facilities, 
office furniture 
and equipment leased assets

Payments  
in advance Total

Cost of purchase / cost of sales

status as of 31 December 2010 159,219 144,953 80,760 1,625 7,712 394,269

additions 743 1,113 4,289 – 18,903 25,048

additions to the consolidation group 446 – 28 – – 474

Book transfers 599 798 1,160 – 22 – 2,535 –

disposals – 192 – 1,920 – 740 – 203 – 60 –3,115

Effect of foreign currency translation differences 1,616 1,314 60 – 95 3,085

status as of 31 December 2011 162,431 146,258 85,557 1,400 24,115 419,761

additions 9,931 5,945 5,252 – 12,198 33,326

Book transfers 7,953 14,828 2,456 – –25,242 –5

disposals –1,637 –7,050 –13,754 – –2,668 –25,109

Effect of foreign currency translation differences –1,062 –792 –58 – –154 –2,066

status as of 31 December 2012 177,616 159,189 79,453 1,400 8,249 425,907

Accumulated depreciation

status as of 31 December 2010 45,683 62,640 54,017 1,180 – 163,520

depreciation for the financial year 3,913 11,570 5,358 199 – 21,040

impairment – – – – 2,405 2,405

Book transfers – 15 4 – 19 – –

disposals – 192 – 1,779 – 676 – 201 – –2,848

Effect of foreign currency translation differences 116 640 31 – – 787

status as of 31 December 2011 49,520 73,086 58,734 1,159 2,405 184,904

depreciation for the financial year 3,945 12,159 5,808 241 – 22,153

disposals –1,632 – 6,263 –13,398 – –2,421 –23,714

Effect of foreign currency translation differences –77 – 382 –26 – 16 –469

status as of 31 December 2012 51,756 78,600 51,118 1,400 – 182,874

Carrying amount as of

31 december 2011 112,911 73,172 26,823 241 21,710 234,857

31 December 2012 125,860 80,589 28,335 – 8,249 243,033

additions to the consolidation group in financial year 2011 in 

the form of land and buildings amounting to € 446 thousand 

relate to properties held by Biotest farmaceutica ltda. acquired 

under the merger.

Payments in advance in financial year 2012, as in the previous 

year, primarily include the expansion of the filling and pack-

aging system at Biotest Pharma Gmbh and the expansion of 

the production facility in Boca raton, florida, Usa. 

Government grants for the acquisition or production of assets 

reduce the acquisition cost or production cost. in financial year 

2012, this resulted in a cumulative reduction of € 103 thousand 

(previous year: € 137 thousand) in the carrying amount of the 

assets.
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Collateral for the syndicated loan agreement, in place since 

2007 and extended in the reporting year, was provided in the 

form of a € 95 million lien on real estate belonging to Biotest 

Pharma Gmbh and Biotest Grundstücksverwaltungs Gmbh as 

third party assignor.

depreciation of property, plant and equipment for the financial 

year is included in the following items on the statement of 

income:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Cost of sales 15,769 14,005

administrative costs 4,829 4,764

research and development costs 1,102 1,844

distribution costs 453 427

other operating expenses – 2,405

22,153 23,445

3 INvEsTMENTs IN AssOCIATEs

investments in associates refer to a 49 % stake held by Biotest 

Pharma Gmbh in Biodarou P.J.s. Co. with registered offices in 

tehran, iran, measured using the equity method.

the purpose of the company is to collect plasma and have it 

processed into immunoglobulins, factors and human albumin 

via Biotest aG and sell the finished products in iran.

the investors intend to gradually provide the company with 

up to € 4,000 thousand in equity capital. the shareholder 

resolutions required for this are adopted separately based on 

financial requirements. to date, Biotest Pharma Gmbh has 

contributed € 1,593 in capital. the capital of Biodarou P.J.s.  Co. 

at 31 december 2012 totals 37.5 billion rials (previous year: 37.5 

billion rials) and is fully paid-in.

as no audited financial statements were available for Biodarou 

P.J.s. Co. when the consolidated financial statements were pre-

pared, previous year figures for Biodarou P.J.s. Co. are reported 

as of 31 december 2011.

the forecast for Biodarou P.J.s. Co. for financial year 2012 con-

tinues to show a very positive performance, a result of the fact 

that the company has a high volume of collected plasma that can 

be efficiently processed into finished products on an industrial 

scale by Biotest aG and then sold in iran. 

the associate had the following assets and liabilities as of the 

2011 reporting date:

on 31 december 2011, the value of non-current assets was 

€ 2,784 thousand (previous year: € 2,706 thousand) and the 

value of current assets was € 9,602 thousand (previous year: 

€ 8,593 thousand).

non-current liabilities at 31 december 2011 were measured at 

€ 209 thousand (previous year: € 401 thousand) with current 

liabilities at € 6,416 thousand (previous year: € 6,903 thousand).

in financial year 2011, sales revenue totalled € 11,078 thousand 

(previous year: € 10,989 thousand) and net profit for year was 

€ 2,089 thousand (previous year: € 1,092 thousand).

in financial year 2012, the Company erected a third plasma-

pheresis centre, which was inspected and licensed by the 

German authorities.

in financial year 2011, Biodarou P.J.s. Co. along with other 

partners founded Plasma Gostar Pars (PJs), based in tehran, 

iran, with the aim of pooling together blood plasma for toll 

manufacturing. Biodarou P.J.s. Co. holds a 60 % interest in 

Plasma Gostar Pars (PJs).

the political situation in iran in 2012 remained tense. the difficult 

payment situation also continued in financial year 2012 due to 

additional sanctions. the Biotest Group does not expect a per-

manent restriction on sales of pharmaceutical products in iran.

4 OThER FINANCIAl INvEsTMENTs

in € thousand 2012 2011

Bond funds (financial assets  
at fair value through Profit and loss) 148 151

loans to associates  
(loans and receivables) 6 22

Greek government bonds (financial assets 
at fair value through Profit and loss) – 4,453

fixed-interest securities  
(held to maturity) – 26

other – 81

154 4,733

in september 2010 in Greece, the Biotest Group exercised the 

option to exchange receivables from government hospitals 

from 2007 to 2009 for zero coupon government bonds with 

staggered maturities. trade receivables from Greek govern-

ment hospitals for the above years were closed out and Greek 
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bonds were recorded in other financial investments. in financial 

year 2012, the Biotest Group sold all its Greek government 

bonds, which (as of 31 december 2011) had a market value of 

€ 4,453 thousand, for € 3,796 thousand and thereby realised a 

loss of € 657 thousand. 

in the previous year, zero coupon Greek government bonds 

were categorised as financial assets at fair value through Profit 

and loss. they were classified as “financial assets at fair value 

through Profit and loss”, as these financial assets were assessed 

and managed on the basis of fair value. this category also con-

tains fund shares, the market value of which was reported by 

the custodian bank in writing as of the reporting date. 

5 DEFERRED TA x AssETs AND lIABIlITIEs

deferred tax assets and liabilities affect the following items on 

the statement of financial position:

Assets Equity and liabilities Recognised through profit or loss

in € thousand 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

intangible assets 175 97 289 579 – 361 – 184

Property, plant and equipment 9 12 16,338 16,181 280 – 1,416

other financial investments 869 444 – 3 – 429 – 4,329

inventories 11,498 6,424 80 51 – 5,129 577

trade receivables 151 103 1,371 2,568 – 1,242 2,615

other provisions 1,612 1,653 45 154 – 88 – 651

financial liabilities – – 154 258 – 104 – 81

Pension provisions 5,750 4,232 – – 518 – 226

other liabilities 859 1,356 1,104 17 1,571 565

other financial position items 168 381 – 1 212 256

tax credit claims 3,495 3,967 – – 407 – 1,456

tax value of the recognised loss carried forward 1,009 1,274 – – 259 546

Total deferred taxes 25,595 19,943 19,381 19,812 – 4,106 – 3,784

less netting of deferred tax assets and liabilities – 11,790 – 12,214 – 11,790 – 12,214

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 13,805 7,729 7,591  7,598

within the Group, tax loss carryforwards in the amount of 

€ 8,753 thousand (previous year: € 9,800 thousand) are available 

to various Group companies with and without time limitations. 

these may be offset against future taxable income of each 

company or other Group companies. of the loss carryforwards 

measured, € 3,891 thousand (previous year: € 3,190 thousand) 

are attributable to tax categories with rates from 5 to 6 %. 
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deferred taxes are not recognised for tax loss carryforwards 

of € 14,988 thousand (previous year: € 2,289 thousand), as the 

utilisation of these carryforwards is not sufficiently certain at 

this time. of these unrecognised tax loss carryforwards, € 0 

thousand (previous year: € 0 thousand) relate to domestic com-

panies and € 14,988 thousand (previous year: € 2,289 thousand) 

relate to foreign companies. at present, loss carryforwards may 

be carried forward indefinitely in Germany. € 2,680 thousand 

(previous year: € 785 thousand) in foreign loss carryforwards 

may be carried forward indefinitely. furthermore, € 0 thousand 

(previous year: € 1,068 thousand) may be carried forward for 

up to ten years and € 12,308 thousand (previous year: € 437 

thousand) for up to five years.

due to insufficient future taxable income, deferred taxes on 

portions of potential tax credits for research and development 

costs of Biotest Pharmaceuticals Corporation in the amount of 

€ 2,880 thousand were not capitalised in the current financial 

year.

in some countries, the Biotest Group has not yet been issued 

a final tax assessment for several years. adequate provisions 

for pending tax assessments have therefore been recognised.

at 31 december 2012, no deferred tax liabilities (previous year: 

€ 0 thousand) were recognised for taxes on unremitted earnings 

of subsidiaries or associates of the Biotest Group. the Biotest 

Group has decided not to distribute any undistributed profits 

of its subsidiaries and associates in the foreseeable future. this 

is because the Biotest Group has entered an agreement under 

which the profits of associates will not be distributed until 

the Biotest Group has granted permission to do so. as of the 

reporting date, the parent company does not intend to grant 

such permission. furthermore, an associate of the Group may 

only distribute its profits when it has received permission to 

do so from all shareholders.

temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries 

and associates for which no deferred taxes are recognised 

amount to € 500 thousand (previous year: € 498 thousand).

6 INvENTORIEs

in € thousand 2012 2011

raw materials and supplies 45,980 45,689

work in progress 101,153 73,034

finished goods and merchandise 37,083 34,260

184,216 152,983

as in the previous year, the Biotest Group had no inventories 

with a turnover of more than one year as of the reporting date.

impairment losses on inventories as of the reporting date 

totalled € 13,507 thousand (previous year: € 9,693 thousand); 

after being written down to their net realisable value, the 

residual carrying amount of inventories was € 48,160 thousand 

(previous year: € 46,409 thousand).

the breakdown of impairment losses on inventories is as follows:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Balance as of 1 January 9,693 9,370

disposals – 2,654 – 4,606

reversals – 3,112 – 1,715

additions 9,781 6,556

Effect of foreign currency  
translation differences – 201 88

Balance as of 31 December 13,507 9,693

reversals of impairment losses on inventories in the financial year 

2012 resulted primarily from the successful reworking of products 

that last year fell outside the specifications.

reversals of impairment losses on inventories in the previous 

year were based on (1) the proportion of inventories originally 

designated for clinical research but used for production and (2) 

testing that revealed that a portion of the impaired inventories 

did in fact meet specifications and can be used for production.
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7 TR ADE RECEIvABlEs

trade receivables are typically due within one year. as in the 

previous year, none of the total trade receivables of € 96,143 

thousand (previous year: € 120,961 thousand) were classified 

as long-term. trade receivables are allocated to the loans and 

receivables (lar) category. they are broken down as follows:

in € thousand 2012 2011

trade receivables (gross) 122,254 144,701

sale of trade receivables – 21,116 – 21,912

allowance for bad debts – 4,995 – 1,828

Trade receivables (net) 96,143 120,961

the provision for doubtful debts is calculated as the difference 

between the nominal amount of the accounts receivable and 

the estimated net recoverable amount. for this estimate the 

Biotest Group uses historical values relating to the payment 

behaviour of specific customers and knowledge about country-

specific circumstances. when testing the impairment of trade 

receivables, account is taken of all changes in credit ratings 

since the payment target was granted and up to the report-

ing date. this applies to changes in country risk and specific 

customer risk. to calculate the allowance for bad debts for 

trade receivables, the Biotest Group uses only specific bad debt 

charges. a general allowance for bad debts is not applied.

due to delayed payments from public hospitals and the lack of 

financial resources in public sector budgets, trade receivables 

were partially impaired.

as of the reporting date, Biotest aG has sold receivables total-

ling € 9,756 thousand (previous year: € 9,665 thousand) under 

factoring agreements. the factoring programme provides for 

the sale of domestic and foreign receivables of Biotest aG, 

whereby each customer has an individual credit limit. Provided 

that the receivables are legally valid, the factor carries the risk 

of the customer’s inability to pay the receivables purchased. 

Biotest hellas mEPE had the option to sell receivables from 

public hospitals in Greece until the third quarter of 2011. as of 

the end of the year, this factoring was no longer in place. thus, 

no receivables (previous year: € 458 thousand) have been sold 

as of the reporting date and no receivables are disclosed under 

other assets as receivables from factoring companies. 

Biotest italia s.r.l. sells some of its receivables from italian cus-

tomers. Provided that the receivables are legally valid, the factor 

carries the risk of the customer’s inability to pay the receivables 

purchased (del credere). as of the reporting date, the italian 

company had sold receivables totalling € 11,360 thousand (pre-

vious year: € 11,789 thousand). as in the previous year, these 

receivables were fully derecognised in accordance with ias 39.

trade receivables include receivables based on the percent-

age of completion method amounting to € 6,947 thousand 

(previous year: € 5,059 thousand). these relate to customer-

specific production contracts valued at the corresponding 

production costs incurred plus a pro rata profit if it can be 

reliably estimated. 

Changes in the allowance for bad debts for trade receivables 

were as follows:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Balance as of 1 January 1,828 4,123

additions 3,584 263

disposals – 326 – 2,433

reversals – 118 – 79

Effect of foreign currency  
translation differences 27 – 46

Balance as of 31 December 4,995 1,828

an analysis of the aging structure of trade receivables yields 

the following information:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Carrying amount 96,143 120,961

Unimpaired and current  
as of the reporting date 55,554 80,741

Unimpaired as of the reporting date but 
past due in the following time bands

< 90 days past due 21,067 16,239

91 – 180 days past due 6,897 7,305

181 – 365 days past due 4,020 5,387

> 1 year past due 1,035 5,516
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of the overdue receivables of the Biotest Group in 2012, re-

ceivables totalling € 8,635 thousand (previous year: € 14,207 

thousand) were due to Biotest italia s.r.l., italy, receivables total-

ling € 3,768 thousand (previous year: € 1,889 thousand) were 

due to Biotest medical s.l.U., spain, and receivables totalling 

€ 2,681 thousand (previous year: € 3,730 thousand) were due 

to Biotest hellas mEPE, Greece.

net trade receivables are denominated in the following cur-

rencies:

in € thousand 2012 2011

EUr 72,334 84,472

Usd 20,174 24,239

GBP 1,570 1,412

hUf 1,544 1,426

rUB 1 8,700

other currencies 520 712

Trade receivables (net) 96,143 120,961

8 OThER AssETs

2012 2011

in € thousand Total Non-current total non-current

value-added and other tax claims 2,438 2 2,379 –

receivables from associated companies 2,052 – 2,347 –

deferred items 2,013 44 2,199 80

Payments in advance 596 20 249 17

derivatives 63 – 567 79

receivables from factoring company – – 458 –

Purchase price claims for distribution rights – – 243 –

other assets 1,045 453 1,490 442

8,207 519 9,932 618
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impairment losses on other assets were as follows:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Balance as of 1 January 964 964

Consumption – 5 –

Balance as of 31 December 959 964

an analysis of the aging structure of trade receivables yields 

the following information:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Carrying amount 8,207 9,932

Unimpaired and current  
as of the reporting date 8,162 9,867

Unimpaired as of the reporting date but 
past due in the following time bands

< 90 days past due – 34

91 – 180 days past due – –

181 – 365 days past due – –

> 1 year past due 45 31

other assets are denominated in the following currencies:

in € thousand 2012 2011

EUr 5,855 6,389

Usd 1,829 2,117

GBP 115 43

hUf 253 1,171

other currencies 155 212

8,207 9,932

9 CAsh AND CAsh EquIvAlENTs

in € thousand 2012 2011

Bank balances 39,207 14,960

short-term deposits 17,576 67,986

Cash in hand 458 253

57,241 83,199

Please refer to the Biotest Group’s cash flow statement for 

details regarding the changes in cash and cash equivalents.

due to EU sanctions against iran, cash and cash equivalents 

in the amount of € 4,004 thousand are subject to availability 

restrictions, as the necessary approvals from the Bundesbank in 

connection with EU sanctions against iran had not been granted 

as of the reporting date. at the time the financial statements 

were prepared, the necessary approvals had been granted.

short-term deposits are time deposits with original maturities 

of up to three months.

10  AssETs AND lIABIlITIEs OF 
DIsCONTINuED OPER ATION

the claim to the subsequent purchase price payment described 

in section d11 results in the following items on the statement 

of financial position:

in € thousand 2012 2011

other assets 18,417 –

Assets from Discontinued Operation 18,417 –

Current income tax liabilities 152 –

other liabilities 7,893 –

liabilities from Discontinued Operation 8,045 –
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11 TOTAl EquIT y

subscribed capital is fully paid in and amounts to € 30,025,152.00 

as of 31 december 2012 (ordinary shares: € 16,883,819.52; 

preference shares: € 13,141,332.48).  as of 31 december 2012, 

it was divided into 6,595,242 ordinary no-par-value shares and 

5,133,333 no-par-value preference shares without voting rights. 

Certification of shares is excluded. the theoretical par value of 

each share is therefore € 2.56 per share class. Profit distributions 

in any financial year are based on the net profit of Biotest aG 

as defined under the German Commercial Code. 

in her letter dated 8 february 2008, dr. Cathrin schleussner 

advised us that her voting interest as of that date was 50.03 %. 

these voting rights are held via oGEl Gmbh, frankfurt/main. 

oGEl Gmbh is controlled by dr. Cathrin schleussner. Based on 

the new rules under section 41 Paragraph 4d of the wphG in 

effect from 1 february 2012, dr. martin schleussner, renate 

schleussner and dr. hans schleussner notified the Biotest Group 

on 22 february 2012 that, effective 1 february 2012, they each 

held a 50.27 % share in Biotest aG with voting rights reportable 

under section 41 Paragraph 4d of the wphG. as of the reporting 

date of 31 december 2012, Kreissparkasse Biberach held 24.36 % 

of the company’s ordinary shares per its last notification.

Capital reserves in the amount of € 153,332 thousand are 

unchanged from the previous year and include premiums on 

the par value of shares issued. 

the proposed appropriation of net profit for the year 2012 

calls for dividend payments in the amount of € 6,172 thousand 

(previous year: € 5,469 thousand). ordinary shares will receive 

a dividend of € 0.50/share (previous year: € 0.44/share) and 

preference shares will receive a dividend of € 0.56/share (previ-

ous year: € 0.50/share). in accordance with a resolution passed 

by the annual shareholders’ meeting regarding dividend pay-

ments, preference shares are entitled to a preference dividend 

of € 0.11 per share. additionally, if holders of ordinary shares 

receive a dividend of more than € 0.11 per share, holders of 

preference shares receive an additional dividend of € 0.06 per 

share. if no dividend is paid on preference shares in one year, it 

shall be paid in the following year. if a dividend is not paid in the 

second year, preference shares shall receive voting rights (cf. 

section 140 (2) of the German stock Corporation act (aktG)).

By resolution of the annual shareholders’ meeting of 6 may 

2010, the Board of management of Biotest aG was authorised 

to purchase ordinary and/or preference treasury shares under 

section 71 (1) no. 8 of the German stock Corporation act (aktG) 

until 5 may 2015 at up to 10 % of the share capital of € 30,025 

thousand at that time.

furthermore, the Board of management was authorised by 

resolution of the annual shareholders’ meeting of 6 may 2010 

to increase the Company’s share capital with approval from 

the supervisory Board by 5 may 2015 through the issue of new 

preference bearer shares with no voting rights in return for 

cash contributions one or more times up to a total of € 3,742 

thousand. the shareholders shall also be granted pre-emptive 

rights to these shares; legal pre-emptive rights may also be 

granted through the takeover of the new preference shares 

with no voting rights by one or more financial institutions 

with an obligation to offer them for sale to the shareholders 

of Biotest aG. the authorisation shall include permission to 

issue additional preference shares equal to previously issued 

preference shares with no voting rights upon the distribution of 

profits or company assets. section 139 (2) of the aktG remains 

hereby unaffected. the Board of management shall be further 

authorised, with approval from the supervisory Board, to define 

additional share rights and share issue terms.

diluted and basic earnings per share from Continuing opera-

tions are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to 

shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average 

number of shares outstanding. Because no changes in ordinary 

or preference shares took place during the last two financial 

years at Biotest aG, diluted earnings equal basic earnings in 

each case.

in € thousand 2012 2011

Earnings after taxes (Eat) 23,035 18,722

additional dividend on preference shares – 308 – 308

Profit adjusted for additional  
dividend rights 22,727 18,414

number of shares outstanding  
(weighted average) 11,728,575 11,728,575

Basic and diluted earnings per share in € 1.94 1.57

additional dividend rights  
per preference share in € 0.06 0.06

Basic and diluted earnings  
per preference share in € 2.00 1.63

no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential 

ordinary shares occurred in the period between the reporting 

date and the approval of the consolidated financial statements. 
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12  PROvIsIONs FOR PENsIONs  
AND sIMIl AR OBlIGATIONs

Benefits are based on the employee’s length of service and salary. 

retirement benefit obligations relate mainly to employees of 

the Group’s German companies. similar obligations are foreign 

obligations payable in a lump sum on retirement and obligations 

of the Biotest pension savings plan.

Pension provisions and similar obligations consist of the follow ing:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Pension benefits 54,823 48,902

similar obligations 2,299  2,147

57,122 51,049

the net value of pension provisions and similar obligations is 

calculated as follows:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Present value of retirement benefit 
obligations funded by provisions 57,122 51,009

Present value of retirement benefit 
obligations funded by pension  
liability insurance 2,258 93

fair value of plan assets – 2,258 – 53

Present value of retirement  
benefit obligations 57,122 51,049

Under a contractual trust arrangement (Cta), assets with 

a carrying amount of € 2,205 thousand were transferred in 

financial year 2012 to a trustee, Biotest vorsorge trust e.v., 

for external insolvency protection of parts of the company 

pension scheme. since the transferred funds qualify as plan 

assets in accordance with ias 19, provisions for pensions and 

similar obligations were netted with the transferred assets. as 

a result, provisions for pensions and similar obligations were 

reduced accordingly.

during the period under review the value of pension provisions 

at Group level changed as follows:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Pension provisions as of 1 January 51,049 49,672

additions to plan assets – 2,205 –

Pension payments in the  
reporting period – 3,007 – 2,784

Pension expense 5,136 5,069

reversal of pension provisions  
due to plan curtailments – 868 – 20

actuarial losses recognised directly 
in equity (previous year: gains) 7,017 – 888

Pension provisions as of 31 December 57,122 51,049

the defined benefit plans generated a total expense of € 5,136 

thousand (previous year: € 5,069 thousand) in the reporting 

period. none of the total expenses were attributable to dis-

continued operation in either the current or the previous year.

total expense for Continuing operations consisted of the fol-

lowing components:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Current service cost 2,842 2,355

retrospective service costs – 386

Expected return on plan assets – – 2

interest expense 2,294 2,330

5,136 5,069

income from plan curtailments – 868 – 20

4,268 5,049

in financial year 2012, actuarial losses of € 7,017 thousand (pre-

vious year: gains of € 888 thousand) were recognised directly in 

equity. in total, actuarial losses and gains of € – 16,978 thousand 

were recognised directly in equity.
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Pension costs are included in the following items in the state-

ment of income:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Cost of sales 1,465 1,371

distribution costs 374 362

administrative costs 511 496

research and development costs 492 512

financial expenses 2,294 2,328

5,136 5,069

other operating income – 868 – 20

4,268 5,049

the calculation is based on the following actuarial assumptions:

in € thousand 2012 2011

discount rate as of 31 december 3.2 % 4.6 %

Expected returns on plan assets 0.3 % 2.0 – 4.2 %

rate of increase for wages and salaries 3.4 % 3.4 %

rate of increase for pensions 2.0 % 2.0 %

Employee turnover rate 0.0 – 6.6 % 3.0 – 6.9 %

with the exception of the discount rate, actuarial assumptions 

are based on empirical values.

the following table shows the reconciliation of the present value 

of the defined benefit obligation (dBo):

in € thousand 2012 2011

Defined benefit obligation as of 1 January 51,102 49,814

Current service cost 2,842 2,355

interest expense 2,294 2,330

actuarial losses (previous year: gains) 7,017 – 887

retrospective service costs – 386

Pension benefits paid – 3,007 – 2,876

Plan curtailments/settlements – 868 – 20

Defined benefit obligation as of 31 December 59,380 51,102

 

the following table shows the reconciliation of the fair value 

of plan assets:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Fair value of plan assets as of 1 January 53 142

Expected income from plan assets – 2

actuarial gains – 1

Employer contributions 2,205 –

Pension contributions paid – – 92

Fair value of plan assets as of 31 December 2,258 53

actual income from plan assets amounted to € 0 thousand in 

this financial year (previous year: € 3 thousand).

for financial year 2013, the Biotest Group expects to make pay-

ments totalling € 2,981 thousand to defined-benefit pension 

plans.

as of the reporting date, plan assets were invested in the follow-

ing asset classes:

in € thousand 2012 2011

reinsurance 53 53

Cash and cash equivalents 2,205 –

2,258 53
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ias 19.120a (p) requires the disclosure of amounts for the current 

year period and the previous four years:

in € thousand 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Present value of defined benefit obligations (dBo) 59,380 51,102 49,814 49,007 44,127

fair value of plan assets 2,258 53 142 720 739

shortfall 57,122 51,049 49,672 48,287 43,388

Experience adjustments:

a) plan liabilities – 1,469 – 979 2,632 4,771 1,273

b) plan assets 1 – 3 – 2 – 8 – 2

Expenses for contribution-based pension plans totalled € 6,580 

thousand (previous year: € 6,533 thousand) in the financial year.

Expenses for contribution-based pension plans are broken down 

as follows:

in € thousand 2012 2011

Contribution-based plans of the Company 916 721

Employer contributions to compulsory 
pension plans 5,664 5,812

6,580 6,533

13 OThER PROvIsIONs

in € thousand Partial retirement
other staff-related 

provisions
miscellaneous 

provisions Total Current

status as of 31 December 2011 684 10,637 11,211 22,532 19,340

additions 734 10,520 5,138 16,392

Use of provisions – 1,093 – 8,453 – 4,747 – 14,293

reversals – – 274 – 1,183 – 1,457

Effect of foreign currency translation differences – – 21 – 132 – 153

accrued interest 52 89 – 218 – 77

status as of 31 December 2012 377 12,498 10,069 22,944 18,998

Under the collective bargaining agreement with the chemical 

industry employers’ association (Bundesarbeitgeberverband 

Chemie e.v.) to promote partial retirement, which was in effect 

until 31 december 2009, a corresponding provision was estab-

lished. the provision covers only obligations relating to ongo-

ing partial retirement relationships (outstanding settlement 

amounts, top-up amounts and severance pay if applicable), 

as upon expiration of the collective bargaining agreement no 

further legal obligations to conclude new partial retirement 

agreements exist. 

other staff-related provisions consist primarily of provisions 

for profit-sharing, the long term incentive Programme, anni-

versaries, severance pay and contributions to the employer’s 

liability insurance association.
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miscellaneous provisions include provisions for guarantees, 

litigation risks and similar issues.

additions in financial year 2012 consist mainly of additions to 

employee profit sharing of € 7,556 thousand (previous year: 

€ 6,266 thousand), to the long term incentive Programme in 

the amount of € 1,615 thousand (previous year: none), to other 

task risks in the amount of € 734 thousand (previous year: € 430 

thousand) as well as severance pay in the amount of € 710 

thousand (previous year: € 2,583 thousand). 

reversals of other provisions relate primarily to other tax risks 

in the amount of € 314 thousand (previous year: none) and 

litigation risks in the amount of € 253 thousand (previous year: 

€ 1,556 thousand).

the total impact of changes in the discount rate on the previous 

year’s present value was € 232 thousand (previous year: € 24 

thousand).

14 FINANCIAl lIABIlITIEs

in € thousand 2012 2011

Non-current liabilities

Collateralised liabilities to banks 63,726 90,283

Unsecured subordinated loans 6,250 7,500

Unsecured other loans 1,058 1,779

liabilities from finance leases – 1,781

71,034 101,343

Current liabilities

Collateralised liabilities to banks 26,303 23,449

Unsecured subordinated loans 11,250 9,955

Unsecured other loans 2,111 2,576

short-term portion of liabilities  
from finance leases 1,781 1,710

41,445 37,690

with the exception of the short-term portion of liabilities 

from finance leases, the amounts of current financial liabilities 

disclosed on the statement of financial position correspond 

approximately to market values due to their short maturities.

the syndicated loan agreement includes a short-term tranche 

of € 33 million, a remaining long-term tranche of € 29 million 

with full amortisation by 2014 as well as a bullet tranche of 

€ 50 million due in 2015.

with effect from 4 november 2012, the short-term tranche 

of € 33 million was extended by a year. the additional € 5 mil-

lion line of credit was extended to cover EUr-Usd exchange 

rate risks in connection with a loan taken out by the Biotest 

Pharmaceuticals Corporation. this ensures that exchange rate 

fluctuations do not restrict available lines of credit, as long as 

their effect does not exceed € 5 million.

of the lines of credit granted under the syndicated loan agree-

ment, € 25,073 thousand (previous year: € 28,345 thousand) 

remained unused as of 31 december 2012. further unused lines 

of credit totalled € 55,971 thousand (previous year: € 58,745 

thousand).

information on the hedging of exchange-rate and interest risks 

is given in section f4 financial risk management.

Unsecured subordinated loans consist mainly of a bullet loan 

taken out in connection with a profit participation agree-

ment dated 25 november 2005 (nominal amount of € 10,000 

thousand) in the amount of € 10,000 thousand (previous year: 

€ 9,955 thousand), for which a letter of subordination was 

agreed. By resolution of the annual shareholders’ meeting of 

8 July 2004, the Board of management is authorised, subject 

to approval by the supervisory Board, to issue profit participa-

tion rights with a nominal amount of up to € 50 million until 

7 July 2009. this authorisation was exercised in financial year 

2005 in the amount of € 10 million. on 25 november 2005, 

the Company set up a profit participation agreement lasting 

until January 2013 for the amount of €10 million, which was 

paid out on 5 december 2005 minus a discount of 3.4 %. the 

subordinated bullet loan with a variable and a fixed inter-

est component was paid in full on its final maturity date of 

15 January 2013. the variable component is dependent on 

the company’s financial indicators.

Unsecured subordinated loans continue to include a long-term 

loan of € 7,500 thousand with a fixed interest rate of 3.6 %, 

which will be repaid on schedule beginning in 2013.

in connection with the syndicated loan agreement, Biotest aG 

is required to maintain certain financial ratios. in connection 

with the syndicated loan agreement, Biotest aG is required to 

maintain certain financial ratios, including net debt to EBitda, 

net debt to liable equity and EBitda to interest expense. these 

ratios are calculated quarterly at the end of the quarter based 

on the annual or quarterly consolidated financial statements. 

as was the case in the previous year, all required financial ratios 

were met in financial year 2012.
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the pricing and repayment terms and the maturity profile of 

financial liabilities are set out below:

2012 (in € thousand) Total
residual maturity

< 1 year
residual maturity

1 to 5 years
residual maturity

> 5 years

Collateralised liabilities to banks: 

EUr – variable at 0.9% 49,941 312 49,629 –

Usd – variable at 1.0% 36,806 25,053 11,753 –

EUr – fixed at 3.8% 3,282 938 2,344 –

other loans:

Usd – fixed at 1.7 – 3.5% 2,618 1,682 936 –

EUr – fixed at 6.0% 485 414 71 –

EUr – variable at 4.5 to 4.8% 51 – 51 –

Brl – fixed at 0.0% 15 15 – –

liabilities from finance leases:

EUr – fixed at 4.6% 1,781 1,781 – –

Unsecured loans:

EUr – variable at 6.9% 10,000 10,000 – –

EUr – fixed at 3.6% 7,500 1,250 6,250 –

112,479 41,445 71,034 –

the pricing and repayment terms and the maturity profile of 

the previous year’s financial liabilities are set out below:

2011 (in € thousand) Total
residual maturity

< 1 year
residual maturity

1 to 5 years
residual maturity

> 5 years

Collateralised liabilities to banks: 

Usd – variable at 1.1 to 2.3% 59,660 22,126 37,534 –

EUr – variable at 2.2 to 3.2% 49,741 273 49,468 –

EUr – fixed at 3.8% 4,331 1,050 3,281 –

other loans:

Usd – fixed at 2.4 to 3.5% 2,717 1,084 1,633 –

EUr – variable at 4.3 to 4.6% 1,076 1,025 51 –

EUr – fixed at 6.0% 545 450 95 –

Brl – fixed at 0.0% 17 17 – –

liabilities from finance leases:

EUr – fixed at 4.6% 3,491 1,710 1,781 –

Unsecured loans:

EUr – variable at 1.4 to 6.9% 9,955 9,955 – –

EUr – fixed at 3.6% 7,500 – 7,500 –

139,033 37,690 101,343 –
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liabilities from finance leases are amortised as follows:

in € thousand Payment interest Principal repayments

2012

due in < 1 year 1,821 40 1,781

due in 1 to 5 years – – –

due in > 5 years – – –

1,821 40 1,781

2011

due in < 1 year 1,825 115 1,710

due in 1 to 5 years 1,821 40 1,781

due in > 5 years – – –

3,646 155 3,491

total future minimum lease payments on the reporting date 

of € 1,821 thousand (previous year: € 3,646 thousand) have a 

present value of € 1,781 thousand (previous year: € 3,491 

thousand).

the Biotest Group has not entered into any lease agreements 

that could result in contingent rent payments.

Collateral for the syndicated loan agreement was provided in 

the form of a € 95 million lien on real estate belonging to Biotest 

Pharma Gmbh and Biotest Grundstücksverwaltungs Gmbh as 

the third party assignor. shares in the Biotest Pharmaceuticals 

Corporation were also pledged as collateral.

15 OThER lIABIlITIEs

in € thousand 2012 2011

Commissions payable 12,139 9,323

received down-payments 6,601 8,033

deferred liabilities 2,918 3,547

value added tax 1,317 1,020

wage tax liabilities 1,110 1,238

deferred items 844 169

social security liabilities 785 1,465

liabilities from derivative  
financial instruments 120 897

other tax liabilities 47 92

liabilities to non-consolidated associates – 359

other liabilities 1,368 349

27,249 26,492

in the current financial year, other liabilities with a residual 

maturity of over one year totalled € 16 thousand (previous year: 

€ 194 thousand).

16 lIABIlITIEs FROM sAlEs sETTlEMENT

on the reporting date the Biotest Group recognised liabilities 

from sales settlement of € 24,983 thousand (previous year: 

€ 41,638 thousand) in connection with the agreement for 

the worldwide development and marketing of monoclonal 

antibody Bt-061 with abbvie (a global, research-based bio-

pharmaceutical company formed in 2013 following separa-

tion from abbott). as the upfront payment of Usd 85 million 

received in 2011 related primarily to research activities still to 

be carried out, most of the amount was recognised as deferred 

revenue. Profit will be recognised on a straight-line basis over 

the expected duration of the first section of the partnership 

agreement through 30 June 2014.
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F. MIsCEll ANEOus NOTEs

1 lONG TERM INCENTIvE PROGR AMME

Biotest aG pursues a business policy focused on the interests 

of shareholders and based on a shareholder value principle 

that promotes long-term growth in the value of the Biotest 

Group. therefore, in 2006 the Company introduced a long term 

incentive Programme (ltiP), renewable annually subject to the 

approval from the supervisory Board.

in 2009 a decision was made with the consent of the supervisory 

Board to renew the long term incentive Programme in 2009. 

the 2009 ltiP was increased in 2010, 2011 and 2012 through the 

addition of a second tranche. however, an additional personal 

investment by eligible participants was required for the 2009 

ltiP. as with the previous ltiPs, the personal investment from 

the first tranche of 2009 may be applied to all later tranches. 

the amounts reported for the 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 

tranches relate to all employees eligible to participate in the 

programme.

2009 lONG TERM INCENTIvE PROGR AMME/ 

2012 TR ANChE (lTIP 2012)  

the programme began on 01 June 2012 and will run until 

31 december 2014. the 2012 tranche is designed in a similar 

fashion to the 2009, 2010 and 2011 tranches and is identically 

structured.

Participation in the programme is subject to a personal invest-

ment by the participant in preference shares of Biotest aG. the 

personal investment consists of new preference shares to be 

acquired under the ltiP (new investment) as well as additional 

preference shares, the quantity of which depends on the invest-

ment in new shares (additional investment).

to take part in the 2012 ltiP, each eligible participant is re-

quired to make an additional investment of 50 % of the number 

of newly acquired preference shares. Eligible participants may 

contribute preference shares acquired or contributed under 

the 2009, 2010 and/or 2011 ltiP as part of their new and/or 

additional investment in the 2012 ltiP. only the new investment 

is used to calculate the incentive payment under the 2012 ltiP.

the personal investment in preference shares is to be held in a 

custody account until the incentive payment is disbursed. for 

legal reasons based on the laws of the Usa, participants from 

the subsidiary Biotest Pharmaceuticals Corporation are not 

required to make a personal investment. accordingly, their incen-

tive payments are 15 % lower than those of eligible Biotest aG 

participants.

on expiry of the programme, each beneficiary will receive an 

incentive payment in cash after the annual shareholders’ meet-

ing scheduled for may 2015; this cash payment will depend on 

the level of new investment, the fixed salary as of 1 october 2012 

and the achievement of two performance targets. Performance 

targets are assigned factors by which the new investment is 

multiplied.

the amount of the incentive payment is calculated using the 

following formula:

new investment x Performance factor 1 
+

new investment x Performance factor 2 annual fixed salary 
as of 1 october 2012 

payment=
100

x
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Performance factor values are based on the extent to which the 

Company has achieved its set performance targets.

Performance target 1 refers to the performance of the share 

price against a relevant benchmark. in this case, the performance 

of Biotest aG preference shares is compared against the perfor-

mance of stocks listed on the sdax index.

Position in relation to the benchmark (sdax stocks) Performance factor 1

Equal to or better than the third quartile  
and a minimum 15% absolute price increase  
over the benchmark maximal 0.05

Equal to or better than the third quartile 0.04

Equal to the median 0.02

Equal to first quartile or minimum 25%  
absolute price increase 0.01

worse than the first quartile and less than a 25% 
absolute price increase 0.00

the key criterion for Performance factor 1 is that in financial year 

2014 the Group must achieve earnings before interest and tax 

(EBit) of at least € 15,000 thousand. if EBit is less than € 15,000 

thousand in 2014, the factor is 0.

Performance factor 2 refers to the average EBit margin achieved 

at the Group level in 2012, 2013 and 2014. this is calculated 

by adding the annual EBit margin for all three years and then 

dividing by three.

Performance factor 2 is also linked to another key criterion. this 

factor applies only when the price of Biotest preference shares 

has outperformed the first quartile of sdax stocks during the 

period or by at least 25 % in absolute terms. it is calculated in 

the same way as Performance factor 1.

average EBit margin 2012 – 2014 Performance factor 2

Better than 13.1 % maximum 0.05

Equal to 13.1 % 0.04

Equal to 11.1 % 0.02

Equal to 10.1 % 0.01

less than 9.6 % 0.00

for targets achieved that lie between the values shown above, 

the factor is determined through linear interpolation.

if both performance criteria are met, on expiry of the perfor-

mance period a minimum of 1 % and a maximum of 10 % of the 

annual fixed salary as of 1 october 2012 is paid if there is a new 

investment of 100 shares.

including the members of the Board of management, 110 

employees of the Biotest Group participated in the 2012 long 

term incentive Programme with a total new investment of 

28,636 preference shares. 6,275 preferences shares were virtually 

allocated to employees of Biotest Pharmaceuticals Corporation.

the valuation was performed by external experts (towers 

watson, frankfurt/main, Germany) using monte Carlo simula-

tion. in assessing both market and non-market conditions in 

accordance with ifrs 2 “share-based remuneration”, conditions 

affecting the incentive payment but not observable in the 

market are viewed separately from observable market condi-

tions. market conditions are determined through a fair value 

assessment. the fair value of the incentive payment based on 

the outperformance of the sdax as of 31 december 2012 equals 

€ 3.59 per 100 preference shares and € 100 of fixed salary. the fair 

value was € 2.52 at the time the incentive payment was made on 

1 June 2012. non-market conditions are taken into account by 

adding Performance factor 2, which is calculated on the basis of 

budget forecasts. as of 31 december 2012, the sum of the two 

factors equalled 5.787 %.
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all market parameters that are not directly observable are deter-

mined by means of statistical estimates. Empirical market data 

is used to estimate volatilities. the applicable risk-free market 

interest rate is determined based on the parameters published 

by the deutsche Bundesbank using the svensson method. to 

calculate the number of persons who are likely to drop out of 

the programme during its term, a 4.0 % turnover rate for eligible 

employees was assumed.

a pro rata provision amounting to € 260 thousand was made on 

31 december 2012 based on the entire period ending 31 decem-

ber 2014. this amount is also equal to the expense for the period 

in 2012.

2009 lONG TERM INCENTIvE PROGR AMME/ 

2011 TRANChE (2011 lTIP) AND 2010 TRANChE (2010)

the 2011 ltiP began on 1 June 2011 and will run until 31 decem-

ber 2013. the ltiP 2010 began on 1 June 2010 and will run until 

31 december 2012. the 2011 and 2011 tranches are designed in 

a fashion similar to the 2009 ltiP and are identically structured. 

its described content is identical to that of the 2012 ltiP. the 

different parameters applied are listed below.

Performance factor 1 of the 2011 ltiP and 2010 ltiP is identical 

to Performance factor 1 of the 2012 ltiP and is as follows:

Position in relation to the benchmark (sdax stocks) Performance factor 1

Equal to or better than the third quartile  
and a minimum  15 % absolute price increase  
over the benchmark maximum 0.05

Equal to or better than the third quartile 0.04

Equal to the median 0.02

Equal to the first quartile 0.01

worse than the first quartile 0.00

the key criterion for Performance factor 1 is that in financial year 

2013 or 2012 the Group must achieve earnings before interest 

and tax (EBit) of at least € 15,000 thousand. if EBit is less than 

€ 15,000 thousand in 2013 or 2012, the factor is 0.

Performance factor 2 is also linked to another key criterion. this 

factor applies only when the price of Biotest preference shares 

has outperformed the first quartile of sdax stocks during the 

period. it is calculated in the same way as Performance factor 1. 

the following applies to the 2011 ltiP:

average EBit margin 2011 – 2013 Performance factor 2

Better than 14.8 % maximum 0.05

Equal to 14.3 % 0.04

Equal to 12.3 % 0.02

Equal to 11.3 % 0.01

less than 10.3 % 0.00

the following applies to the 2010 ltiP:

average EBit margin 2010 – 2012 Performance factor 2

Better than 16.4 % maximum 0.05

Equal to 16.4 % 0.04

Equal to 14.2 % 0.02

Equal to 13.2 % 0.01

less than 12.2 % 0.00

the amount of the incentive payment is calculated as described 

above for the 2012 ltiP; the annual fixed salary in the calculation 

formula is to be replaced with the respective fixed annual salary 

for the corresponding year.

including the members of the Board of management, 88 

employees of the Biotest Group participated in the 2011 

long term incentive Programme with a total new investment 

of 23,540 preference shares. 3,025 preferences shares were 

virtually allocated to employees of Biotest Pharmaceuticals 

Corporation.

including the members of the Board of management, 91 

employees of the Biotest Group participated in the 2010 long 

term incentive Programme with a total new investment of 

23,560 preference shares. 5,800 preferences shares were 

virtually allocated to employees of Biotest Pharmaceuticals 
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Corporation.

a pro rata provision amounting to € 845 thousand for the 

2011 ltiP was made on 31 december 2012 based on the entire 

period ending 31 december 2013. the period expense for the 

2011 ltiP was € 574 thousand in 2012. the sum of the factors 

thus changed as of 31 december 2012 from 3.2156 % (as of 

31 december 2011) to 3.7380 %.

for the 2010 ltiP, a pro rata provision amounting to € 978 

thousand was made on 31 december 2012 based on the entire 

period ending 31 december 2013. the period expense for the 

2010 ltiP was € 455 thousand in 2012. the sum of the factors 

thus changed as of 31 december 2012 from 2.7530 % (as of 

31 december 2011) to 3.0110 %.

2009 lONG TERM INCENTIvE PROGR AMME/ 

2009 TR ANChE (lTIP 2009)  

the 2009 tranche of the long term incentive Programme was 

described in detail in the consolidated financial statements as 

of 31 december 2009. 

there were no payouts for the 2009 tranche in 2012 as targets 

were not met.

FuRThER GENER Al INFORMATION ABOuT ThE lTIP

Entitlement to an incentive payment ceases for the programme 

and all tranches if employment within the Biotest Group ends 

for any reason (other than retirement, early retirement, partial 

retirement, occupational disability or invalidity).

Participants will receive a pro rata incentive payment in the 

event of a change of control in which at least 30 % of the voting 

rights are transferred to a shareholder who did not previously 

hold these voting rights, of a delisting from the stock market 

or of a merger or change in the legal status of the parent com-

pany, or of the exit of the company by which the participant is 

employed from the parent group.

2 MERGERs

there were no mergers in the current financial year. on 18 Janu-

ary 2011, Biotest aG acquired a 100 % interest in marcos Pedrilson 

Produtos hospitalares ltda., Brazil (today: Biotest farmaceutica 

ltda.), the former distributor for Biotest aG in Brazil. 

at the acquisition date, the fair value of the identified assets 

and liabilities of the Biotest farmaceutica ltda. was as follows:

in € thousand

assets 1,441

liabilities 3,012

Total identified net assets at fair value – 1,571

Goodwill arising on acquisition 1,571

Total consideration –

recorded goodwill is assumed to be non-deductible for tax 

purposes. for further details, please refer to the statements in 

section E1 intangible assets. the purchase price allocation was 

completed in the current financial year and no changes were 

made in financial year 2012.

Cash outflows in 2011 resulting from the acquisition were as 

follows:

in € thousand

Analysis of cash outflow due to the acquisition

Cash consideration –

transaction costs of the acquisition – 186

Net cash outflow due to acquisition – 186
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3. FINANCIAl INsTRuMENTs

3.1 Cl AssIFICATION OF FINANCIAl INsTRuMENTs

the Biotest Group classifies financial instruments in accordance 

with their recognition. they are differentiated on the basis of 

their measurement. accordingly, financial assets and financial 

liabilities are divided into assets and liabilities recognised at 

amortised cost of purchase and asset and liabilities recognised 

at fair value. Cash and cash equivalents as well as derivatives 

constitute a separate class. 

one class may contain several different financial position items. 

the Biotest Group classifies financial instruments as follows:

Class of financial instruments item on the statement of financial position measurement category

Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents none

assets recognised at amortised cost of purchase trade receivables lar

other financial investments htm

other assets lar

assets recognised at fair value other financial investments fafvtPl

liabilities recognised at cost financial liabilities flaC

trade payables flaC

other liabilities flaC

liabilities recognised at cost liabilities from finance leases none

derivatives other assets fahft

other liabilities flhft

the measurement categories under ias 39 are abbreviated 

as follows: loans and receivables (lar), investments held to 

maturity (htm), financial assets at fair value through profit 

and loss (fafvtPl), financial assets held for trading (fahft), 

financial liabilities held for trading (flhft) and financial 

liabilities at amortised cost (flaC).

in financial year 2012, as in the previous year, no reclassification 

of financial instruments took place.
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in € thousand measurement basis in the statement of financial position under ias 39
measurement basis 
in the statement of 

financial position 
under ias 17

measurement basis in the statement of financial position under ias 39
measurement basis 
in the statement of 

financial position 
under ias 17

item on the statement  
of financial position

measurement 
category 
under ias 39

Carrying amount 
as of  

31 december 2012

amortised 
cost of 

purchase
Cost of 

purchase

fair value  
recognised  

directly in equity

fair value  
recognised through 

profit or loss
fair value as of 

31 december 2012

measurement 
category 
under ias 39

Carrying amount 
as of

31 december 2011

amortised 
cost of 

purchase

 
Cost of 

purchase

fair value  
recognised  

directly in equity

fair value  
recognised through 

profit or loss
fair value as of  

31 december 2011

Assets

trade receivables lar 96,143 96,143 – – – – 96,143 lar 120,961 120,961 – – – – 120,961

other assets

 other receivables lar 8,144 8,144 – – – – 8,144 lar 9,365 9,365 – – – – 9,365

derivatives not designated 
as a hedging instrument fahft 63 – – – 63 – 63 fahft 567 – – – 567 – 567

other financial investments

Pension funds (previous year: 
Greek government bonds/
pension funds) fafvtPl 148 – – – 148 – 148 fafvtPl 4,604 – – – 4,604 – 4,604

fixed income investments htm – – – – – – – htm 26 26 – – – – 26

advances to associates lar 6 6 – – – – 6 lar 22 22 – – – – 22

other afs – – – – – – – afs 81 81 – – – – 81

Equity and liabilities

trade payables flaC 47,373 47,373 – – – – 47,373 flaC 34,678 34,678 – – – – 34,678

financial liabilities

Collateralised liabilities 
to banks flaC 90,029 90,029 – – – – 90,217 flaC 113,731 113,731 – – – – 113,935

Unsecured liabilities to 
banks flaC 17,500 17,500 – – – – 18,126 flaC 17,456 17,456 – – – – 18,238

liabilities from finance 
leases n.a. 1,781 – – – – 1,781 1,926 n.a. 3,491 – – – – 3,491 3,743

other unsecured loans flaC 3,169 3,169 – – – – 3,101 flaC 4,355 4,355 – – – – 4,355

other liabilities

Primary financial liabilities flaC 27,129 27,129 – – – – 27,129 flaC 25,595 25,595 – – – – 25,595

derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument flhft 120 – – – 120 – 120 flhft 897 – – – 897 – 897

3.2  RECONCIlIATION OF FINANCIAl POsITION ITEMs TO MEAsuREMENT  

CATEGORIEs As wEll As ThEIR vAluATION BAsIs AND FAIR vAluEs

Cash and cash equivalents with a carrying amount of € 57,241 

thousand (previous year: € 83,199 thousand) are not included in 

the above table, as these financial instruments are not assigned 

to an ias 39 measurement category.
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in € thousand measurement basis in the statement of financial position under ias 39
measurement basis 
in the statement of 

financial position 
under ias 17

measurement basis in the statement of financial position under ias 39
measurement basis 
in the statement of 

financial position 
under ias 17

item on the statement  
of financial position

measurement 
category 
under ias 39

Carrying amount 
as of  

31 december 2012

amortised 
cost of 

purchase
Cost of 

purchase

fair value  
recognised  

directly in equity

fair value  
recognised through 

profit or loss
fair value as of 

31 december 2012

measurement 
category 
under ias 39

Carrying amount 
as of

31 december 2011

amortised 
cost of 

purchase

 
Cost of 

purchase

fair value  
recognised  

directly in equity

fair value  
recognised through 

profit or loss
fair value as of  

31 december 2011

Assets

trade receivables lar 96,143 96,143 – – – – 96,143 lar 120,961 120,961 – – – – 120,961

other assets

 other receivables lar 8,144 8,144 – – – – 8,144 lar 9,365 9,365 – – – – 9,365

derivatives not designated 
as a hedging instrument fahft 63 – – – 63 – 63 fahft 567 – – – 567 – 567

other financial investments

Pension funds (previous year: 
Greek government bonds/
pension funds) fafvtPl 148 – – – 148 – 148 fafvtPl 4,604 – – – 4,604 – 4,604

fixed income investments htm – – – – – – – htm 26 26 – – – – 26

advances to associates lar 6 6 – – – – 6 lar 22 22 – – – – 22

other afs – – – – – – – afs 81 81 – – – – 81

Equity and liabilities

trade payables flaC 47,373 47,373 – – – – 47,373 flaC 34,678 34,678 – – – – 34,678

financial liabilities

Collateralised liabilities 
to banks flaC 90,029 90,029 – – – – 90,217 flaC 113,731 113,731 – – – – 113,935

Unsecured liabilities to 
banks flaC 17,500 17,500 – – – – 18,126 flaC 17,456 17,456 – – – – 18,238

liabilities from finance 
leases n.a. 1,781 – – – – 1,781 1,926 n.a. 3,491 – – – – 3,491 3,743

other unsecured loans flaC 3,169 3,169 – – – – 3,101 flaC 4,355 4,355 – – – – 4,355

other liabilities

Primary financial liabilities flaC 27,129 27,129 – – – – 27,129 flaC 25,595 25,595 – – – – 25,595

derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument flhft 120 – – – 120 – 120 flhft 897 – – – 897 – 897
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3.3 AGGREGATION OF ThE MEAsuREMENT CATEGORIEs INCluDING ThEIR MEAsuREMENT BAsIs AND FAIR vAluEs

in € thousand

measure-
ment 
category  
per ias 39

Carrying 
amount as of
31 december 

2012

measurement basis in the statement of financial position under ias 39

measurement 
basis in the 

statement of fi-
nancial position 

under ias 17 

fair value as of 
31 december 

2012Categories

amortised  
acquisition 

cost
acquisition 

cost
directly in equity 

at fair value

fair value 
recognised 
in income 

through profit 
or loss

loans and  
receivables lar 104,293 104,293 – – – – 104,293

financial  
investments 
held to maturity htm – – – – – – – 

financial assets 
recognised at  
fair value fafvtPl 148 – – – 148 – 148

financial assets  
held for trading fahft 63 – – – 63 – 63

financial liabili-
ties measured at  
amortised cost flaC 185,200 185,200 – – – – 185,946

financial  
liabilities held 
for trading flhft 120 – – – 120 – 120

in € thousand

measure-
ment 
category  
per ias 39

Carrying 
amount as of
31 december 

2011

measurement basis in the statement of financial position under ias 39

measurement 
basis in the 

statement of fi-
nancial position 

under ias 17 

fair value as of 
31 december 

2011Categories

amortised  
acquisition 

cost
acquisition 

cost
directly in equity 

at fair value

fair value 
recognised 
in income 

through profit 
or loss

loans and  
receivables lar 130,348 130,348 – – – – 130,348

financial  
investments 
held to maturity htm 26 26 – – – – 26

financial assets 
recognised at  
fair value fafvtPl 4,604 – – – 4,604 – 4,604

financial assets  
held for trading fahft 567 – – – 567 – 567

financial liabili-
ties measured at  
amortised cost flaC 195,815 195,815 – – – – 196,801

financial  
liabilities held 
for trading flhft 897 – – – 897 – 897
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most trade receivables and other accounts receivable have times 

to maturity of less than a year. therefore, carrying amounts as 

of the reporting date roughly correspond to fair values.

in the case of other non-current receivables and investments 

held to maturity with times to maturity of more than one 

year, fair values correspond to present values of payments 

relating to the assets taking into account current interest rate 

parameters reflecting market- and partner-specific changes 

in terms and expectations.

trade payables as well as other liabilities normally have times 

to maturity of less than one year. therefore, in this case as well, 

carrying amounts correspond approximately to fair values.

the fair values of liabilities to banks and other financial liabili-

ties are measured as the present values of payments relating 

to the debt based on the respective applicable yield curve as 

well as the analysed credit spread curve for each currency.

as of 31 december 2012, the Biotest Group held no material 

investments categorised as available for sale in its portfolio. 

the financial instruments recognised at fair value in the state-

ment of financial position are to be assigned under ifrs 7.27a 

to a three-level fair value measurement hierarchy. the level 

reflects the closeness to the market of the data used to calcu-

late fair value. fair value hierarchy levels are described below:

level 1:  quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active 

markets,

level 2:  information other than quoted prices that is directly 

(such as prices) or indirectly (such as derived from prices) 

observable, and

level 3:  information on assets and liabilities that is not based on 

observable market data.

in the case of derivative financial assets or liabilities (currency 

transactions) the mark-to-market measurement performed 

is based on quoted exchange rates and yield curve structures 

obtainable on the market. fair value classification takes place 

in hierarchy level 2.

the fair value of the pension fund is allocated to hierarchy level 1.
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3.4 NET REsulT By MEAsuREMENT CATEGORIEs

the net result for financial year 2012 by measurement category 

is as follows:

in € thousand

from interest

from subsequent measurement

from disposal net result 2012Categories at fair value Currency translation impairment

loans and receivables 535 – – 1,074 – 3,466 – – 4,005

financial investments held to maturity – – – – –

financial assets recognised at fair value 4 – – – – 657 – 653

financial assets held for trading – 175 – – – 175

financial liabilities held for trading – 68 – – – 68

financial liabilities measured at  
amortised cost – 3,165 – 201 – – – 2,964

Total – 2,626 243 – 873 – 3,466 – 657 – 7,379
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the net result for the previous financial year 

by measurement category is as follows:

in € thousand

from interest

from subsequent measurement

from disposal net result 2011Categories at fair value Currency translation impairment

loans and receivables 770 – 587 – 184 – 415 758

financial investments held to maturity 1 – – – – 1

financial assets recognised at fair value 5 – 7,987 – – 980 – 7,002

financial assets held for trading – 238 – – – 238

financial liabilities held for trading – – 949 – – – – 949

financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost – 4,709 – – 117 – – – 4,826

Total – 3,933 – 8,698 470 – 184 565 – 11,780

all components of net earnings are recorded under other finan-

cial expenses or other financial income, except for bad debt 

provisions for trade receivables, which are disclosed under other 

operating expenses. 

the subsequent measurement of financial instruments 

assigned to the category financial assets and liabilities held 

for trading resulted in a gain of € 243 thousand (previous year: 

loss of € 711 thousand) including interest rate as well as cur-

rency effects.
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in € thousand

Carrying amount as of 
31 december 2012

Cash flows in 2013 Cash flows in 2014 Cash flows in 2015 Cash flows in 2016 Cash flows in 2017 Cash flows after 2017

financial position items
fixed 

interest
variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

Primary financial liabilities:

liabilities to financial institutions – 107,529 – 364 – 699 – 37,553 – 250 – 506 – 15,191 – 125 – 422 – 53,438 – 16 – – 1,719 – – – – – –

liabilities from finance leases – 1,781 – 40 – – 1,781 – – – – – – – – 

other interest-bearing liabilities – 3,169 – 63 – – 2,111 – 26 – – 967 – – – 92 – – – – – – – – –

trade payables – 47,373 – – – 47,373 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

other liabilities – 27,129 – – – 27,129 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

– – – – – – –

Derivative financial liabilities: – – – – – – –

Currency derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument – 120 – – – 120 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

Financial asset derivatives:

Currency derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument 63 – – 63 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

in € thousand

Carrying amount as of 
31 december 2011

Cash flows in 2012 Cash flows in 2013 Cash flows in 2014 Cash flows in 2015 Cash flows in 2016 Cash flows after 2016

financial position items
fixed 

interest
variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

Primary financial liabilities:

liabilities to financial institutions – 131,187 – 411 – 2,307 – 33,449 – 364 – 1,653 – 27,188 – 250 – 1,230 – 15,971 – 124 – 1,120 – 53,438 – 16 – – 1,719 – – –

liabilities from finance leases – 3,491 – 115 – – 1,710 – 40 – – 1,781 – – – – – – – – 

other interest-bearing liabilities – 4,355 – 41 – 44 – 2,576 – 66 – – 1,127 – 46 – – 617 – 1 – – 35 – – – – – –

trade payables – 34,678 – – – 34,678 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

other liabilities – 25,595 – – – 25,401 – – – 171 – – – 17 – – – 6 – – – – – –

– – – –

Derivative financial liabilities: – – – –

Currency derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument – 874 – – – 874 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

interest rate derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument – 23 – – – – – – – – – – – – – 

Financial asset derivatives:

Currency derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument 488 – – 488 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

interest rate derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument 79 – – – – – – – – – – – – – 

3.5 CAsh FlOw IN PERIODs

the tables below show the contractually agreed, undiscounted 

interest payments and principal repayments relating to primary 

financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments with 

positive and negative fair values. the second table contains 

comparative values for cash flows in specific periods based on 

the previous financial year.

all instruments held in the portfolio as of the reporting date for 

which payments were already contractually agreed are included. 

forecast figures for future new liabilities are not included. for-

eign currency amounts are translated at the exchange rate as 

of the reporting date. variable interest payments on financial 

instruments are calculated using the last fixed interest rate 

prior to 31 december 2012. financial liabilities repayable at 

any time are always assigned to the earliest time period.
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in € thousand

Carrying amount as of 
31 december 2012

Cash flows in 2013 Cash flows in 2014 Cash flows in 2015 Cash flows in 2016 Cash flows in 2017 Cash flows after 2017

financial position items
fixed 

interest
variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

Primary financial liabilities:

liabilities to financial institutions – 107,529 – 364 – 699 – 37,553 – 250 – 506 – 15,191 – 125 – 422 – 53,438 – 16 – – 1,719 – – – – – –

liabilities from finance leases – 1,781 – 40 – – 1,781 – – – – – – – – 

other interest-bearing liabilities – 3,169 – 63 – – 2,111 – 26 – – 967 – – – 92 – – – – – – – – –

trade payables – 47,373 – – – 47,373 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

other liabilities – 27,129 – – – 27,129 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

– – – – – – –

Derivative financial liabilities: – – – – – – –

Currency derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument – 120 – – – 120 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

Financial asset derivatives:

Currency derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument 63 – – 63 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

in € thousand

Carrying amount as of 
31 december 2011

Cash flows in 2012 Cash flows in 2013 Cash flows in 2014 Cash flows in 2015 Cash flows in 2016 Cash flows after 2016

financial position items
fixed 

interest
variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

fixed 
interest

variable 
interest

Principal 
repayments

Primary financial liabilities:

liabilities to financial institutions – 131,187 – 411 – 2,307 – 33,449 – 364 – 1,653 – 27,188 – 250 – 1,230 – 15,971 – 124 – 1,120 – 53,438 – 16 – – 1,719 – – –

liabilities from finance leases – 3,491 – 115 – – 1,710 – 40 – – 1,781 – – – – – – – – 

other interest-bearing liabilities – 4,355 – 41 – 44 – 2,576 – 66 – – 1,127 – 46 – – 617 – 1 – – 35 – – – – – –

trade payables – 34,678 – – – 34,678 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

other liabilities – 25,595 – – – 25,401 – – – 171 – – – 17 – – – 6 – – – – – –

– – – –

Derivative financial liabilities: – – – –

Currency derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument – 874 – – – 874 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

interest rate derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument – 23 – – – – – – – – – – – – – 

Financial asset derivatives:

Currency derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument 488 – – 488 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

interest rate derivatives not designated  
as a hedging instrument 79 – – – – – – – – – – – – – 
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4 FINANCIAl RIsk MANAGEMENT

in the course of its ordinary operations and due to existing 

international trade relationships, Biotest is exposed to currency 

and interest rate risks. 

to hedge currency positions, Biotest uses derivative financial 

instruments to minimise risks inherent in exchange rate fluc-

tuations. in addition, Biotest also used interest rate hedging 

instruments during the financial year. derivative financial 

instruments are generally subject to changes in market prices.

Biotest is not in full compliance with the formal requirements of 

ias 39 for hedge accounting. Consequently, all gains and losses 

arising from market valuation of derivative financial instruments 

used to hedge interest rate and currency risks are recognised 

through profit or loss.

financial instruments are recognised at the time that the corre-

sponding contracts are concluded. they are initially recognised 

at cost of purchase and then measured at their respective mar-

ket values as of the reporting date. financial instruments are 

derecognised once contractual obligations have been fulfilled 

by both parties or upon the closing out of the instrument.

the market values of derivative financial instruments are dis-

closed in the statement of financial position under other assets 

or other financial liabilities. as of 31 december 2012, € 63 thou-

sand (previous year: € 567 thousand) are disclosed under other 

assets and € 120 thousand (previous year: € 897 thousand) under 

other liabilities.

CREDIT RIsks

a credit risk is the financial risk that a contractual partner will 

not meet his payment obligations. Biotest counters default risk 

through the continuous management of receivables. Credit 

terms and other conditions are based on the customer’s credit 

rating. in addition, portions of domestic receivables and selected 

foreign receivables are sold to factoring companies or banks.

as of the reporting date, receivables from Greek customers 

were impaired by € 2,700 thousand (previous year: € 0 thou-

sand). Countries that account for more than 10 % of the total 

receivables value are italy and iran. in italy, receivables amount-

ing to € 613 thousand (in the previous year € 431 thousand) 

were impaired. as in the previous year, loans to customers in 

iran were not impaired.

for certain customers in selected countries, credit insurance has 

been obtained from various companies. a deductible of up to 

10 % was agreed in the existing credit insurance policy.

specific bad debt allowances are made for potential default risks 

in connection with primary financial instruments. 

to present the maximum default risk of financial assets, the 

corresponding carrying amount is used as an equivalent for the 

maximum default risk:

in € thousand 2012 2011

trade receivables 96,143 120,961

other assets 8,207 9,932

other financial investments 154 4,652

other financial investments in the previous year include Greek 

government bonds in the amount of € 4,453 thousand. in 2012 

all Greek government bonds were sold.

MARkET RIsks

market price risks result from changes in market prices. these 

lead to fluctuations in fair values or future cash flows from 

financial instruments. market risks comprise foreign exchange 

risks, interest rate risks and other price-related risks.
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FOREIGN CuRRENCy RIsks

the Biotest Group is exposed to currency risks that arise mainly 

from an imbalance in global cash flows. this imbalance is due 

primarily to higher sales in Usd offset by lower purchases in 

Usd. the Biotest Group protects itself as a matter of principle 

against identifiable future currency risks whenever it anti-

cipates such exposure. in addition, the Group selectively hedges 

risks in the statement of financial position. the Biotest Group 

makes use of opportunities to offset currency risks naturally 

and to use currency futures to manage currency risks.

the Biotest Group holds the following positions in foreign 

currencies that are material to the Group:

Foreign currency risk usD GBP huF RuB

in € thousand 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Cash reserves 1,250 1,586 518 465 224 520 12,362 1,225

trade receivables 20,174 24,239 1,570 1,412 1,544 1,426 1 8,700

other primary financial assets 1,829 2,117 70 40 253 827 – – 

other derivative financial assets – – 45 3 – 344 18 66

trade payables – 9,166 – 6,532 – 186 – 199 – 47 – 84 – 171 – 

liabilities to financial institutions – 39,423 – 62,377 – – – – – – 

other primary financial liabilities – 5,935 – 4,760 – 36 – 28 – 344 – 235 – 26 – 25

other derivative financial liabilities – 60 – 451 – – 366 – – – 60 – 56

Net disclosure – 31,331 – 46,178 1,981 1,327 1,630 2,798 12,124 9,910

as of the reporting date, the following currency option contracts 

and currency futures were in place:

in € thousand Nominal amount Market values

2012 2011 2012 2011

Currency options – 2,500 – 74

Currency futures 70,610 51,309 – 57 – 460

the following times to maturity were applicable to currency 

futures (nominal amounts: Usd 75,000 thousand, GBP 1,300 

thousand, rUB 495,349 thousand) as of the reporting date

see section B3 for information about principal exchange rates 

during the reporting period.

in € thousand Total residual maturity < 1 year

31 december 2012 70,610 70,610

31 december 2011 53,809 53,809
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INTEREsT R ATE RIsks

due to changes in the yield curve, the present values of payment 

flows change whenever discount rates change. a change in the 

present value of an individual financial instrument may result 

from a shift in the risk-free interest rate curve (swap curve) or a 

change in credit-based premiums (spread risks) included in the 

prices of the financial instruments.

the Biotest Group is exposed to interest rate risks on existing 

loans (see also section E14 financial liabilities). to minimise 

these risks, interest rate hedging was used in the previous year; 

these hedges were reversed early in the current financial year.

in the previous year the following interest rate hedges were in 

place

in € thousand Nominal amount 2011 Market values  2011

interest rate caps 70,000 79

interest rate swaps 20,000 – 23

90,000 56

the nominal amount is the sum of all purchase and sale amounts 

for derivative financial transactions. the market values of inter-

est rate hedging instruments are determined by the correspond-

ing banks. they result from the measurement of outstanding 

positions at market prices without consideration of contrary 

performance from underlying transactions. they correspond to 

expenses or income for the realisation of derivative contracts 

on the reporting date.

lIquIDIT y RIsks

liquidity risk is the risk that a company will be unable to meet 

its financial commitments to a sufficient extent. a shortage of 

financial capital may result in an increase in financing costs.

the Biotest Group manages its liquidity by maintaining sufficient 

liquid funds and credit lines with banks in addition to cash flows 

from business operations.

as of 31 december 2012 the Biotest Group had access to the 

following contractually established credit lines:

2012 2011

in € thousand drawn 
down

drawn 
down

Credit lines granted  
(freely available) 191,743 110,699 218,533 134,518

fixed loan commitments 
received (subject to specific 
terms and conditions) 5,000 5,000 5,268 1,025

196,743 115,699 223,801 135,543

the individual corporate divisions supply the central treasury 

with the necessary information for creating a liquidity profile. 

all financial assets, financial liabilities and expected cash flows 

from planned transactions are included.

a maturity overview illustrating how cash flows from liabilities 

as of 31 december 2012 impact the Group’s liquidity position 

is provided in section f3.5.

the available liquidity, short- and long-term credit lines and the 

option of generating cash flows by securitising receivables give 

the Biotest Group sufficient flexibility in covering its funding 

needs. due to the diversification of funding sources and liquid 

funds, the Biotest Group is not exposed to a concentration of 

risk in terms of liquidity.
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5 sENsITIvITy ANAlysIs PuRsuANT TO IFRs 7.40

the Biotest Group is exposed to market risks comprising foreign 

currency risks and interest rate risks.

By using sensitivity analyses, the effects of any changes in the 

relevant risk variables on profit or loss and on equity as of the 

reporting date are determined for each type of risk.

FOREIGN CuRRENCy RIsks

for the analysis of foreign currency risks, a sensitivity analysis is 

performed for specific currencies that pose a significant risk to 

the Biotest Group. the following major currencies are analysed: 

Usd, GBP, hUf and rUB.

if the euro had appreciated by 10 % against all currencies as of 

31 december 2012, the financial result would have been € 5,165 

thousand higher (previous year: € 2,995 thousand higher).

if the euro had depreciated by 10 % against all currencies as 

of 31 december 2012, the financial result would have been 

€ 4,743 thousand lower (previous year: € 2,854 thousand lower).

specifically, the hypothetical impact on profit or loss of € 5,165 

thousand or € – 4,743 thousand results from the following 

currency sensitivities:

in € thousand appreciation of the 
EUr by 10 %

depreciation of the 
EUr by 10 %

EUr to Usd 4,908 – 4,736

EUr to GBP 124 – 116

EUr to hUf – – 

EUr to rUB 122 – 123

EUr to other currencies 11 – 14

5,165 – 4,743

it should be noted that the sensitivity analysis required by 

ifrs 7 only takes into account exchange rate risk on financial 

assets and liabilities but not translation risk. taking into account 

translation risk would have different effects.

INTEREsT R ATE RIsks

for interest rate risks, a sensitivity analysis serves to illustrate 

the effects of changes in market interest rates on interest 

income and expenses, other income components and, where 

applicable, equity.

Changes in the market interest rates of primary financial instru-

ments with fixed interest rates only impact income if recognised 

at fair value. financial instruments with fixed interest rates 

measured at amortised cost are therefore not exposed to inter-

est rate risks as defined by ifrs 7.

Changes in the market interest rates of interest rate derivatives 

(interest rate swaps, interest rate/currency swaps and interest 

rate caps) that do not form part of a hedging relationship under 

ias 39 impact other financial income (measurement result from 

the adjustment of financial assets to fair value) and are there-

fore incorporated in income-related sensitivity calculations.

Currency derivatives and changes in their value due to interest 

rate changes were not taken into account in calculating interest 

rate sensitivities.

the sensitivity analysis is based on the net effect of interest-

bearing liabilities and bank balances. if the market interest rate 

level as of 31 december 2012 had been 100 basis points higher, 

the fair values of the financial instruments would have been € 0 

thousand (previous year: € 1,392 thousand) higher. the hypo-

thetical effect on earnings of € 396 thousand (previous year: 

€ 669 thousand) arises from the potential effects of interest rate 

derivatives of € 0 thousand (previous year: € 945 thousand) and 

non-derivative financial liabilities of € 396 thousand (previous 

year: € 276 thousand).

Given the low reference interest rates as of the reporting date, 

no sensitivity analysis for downward changes in market interest 

rates was conducted on de minimis grounds. the figures for the 

previous year are based on 70 basis points. if the market interest 

rate level as of 31 december 2011 had been 70 basis points lower, 

the fair values of the financial instruments would have been 

€ 791 thousand lower. the hypothetical effect on earnings of 

€ – 273 thousand was based on the potential effects of interest 

rate derivatives of € – 469 thousand and non-derivative financial 

liabilities of € 193 thousand.

if the market interest rate level as of 31 december 2012 had been 

100 basis points higher or 0 basis points lower, equity would 

have remained unchanged.
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MARkET RIsks

the figures for the sensitivity analysis in accordance with ifrs 

7.40 (b) include both fair value risk and cash flow risk. since 

these values were determined simultaneously using computer 

models, no specific, differentiated statements can be made 

with regard to the individual values.

OThER PRICE-REl ATED RIsks

as part of the presentation of market risks, ifrs 7 also requires 

information about how hypothetical changes in risk variables 

affect the prices of financial instruments. Possible risk variables 

are, in particular, stock market prices or indices.

other price-related risks have no material impact on the prices 

of financial instruments held by the Biotest Group.

6 CAPITAl MANAGEMENT

the primary objective in managing capital is to ensure an 

attractive overall rating for investors and to maintain adequate 

capital ratios in order to guarantee the strategic business 

develop ment of the Biotest Group.

the equity of the Biotest Group – that is the focus of capital 

structure optimisation efforts – is the equity disclosed on the 

statement of financial position which is attributable to the 

owners of Biotest aG as the parent company. share capital 

consists of 6.6 million ordinary voting shares and 5.1 million 

non-voting preference shares. non-controlling interests play only 

a minor role in capital management due to the low volume. the 

subordinated bullet loans received strengthen the Company’s 

long-term financial strength in terms of liability, but are managed 

as part of the Company’s borrowed capital.

strategic capital management analyses are based on long-

term forecast calculations, which are used to determine the 

corresponding future values and indicators. in the short term, 

budget forecasts for the following year serve as the basis for 

financial indicators.

as part of its strategy, the Biotest Group seeks to main an 

equity ratio of at least 40 %. the equity ratio of the Biotest 

Group as of 31 december 2012 was 54.1 % (previous year: 

50.8 %). in addition, both long-term and special quarterly 

financial data, as defined by the underwriting banks, are used 

for analysis and control purposes. one of the key indicators 

here is the leverage factor, calculated as the ratio of net debt 

to EBitda.

in financial year 2012, no changes were made to the objectives 

or processes for managing capital.

the Biotest Group has various options at its disposal for 

achieving its capital management objectives. these include 

capital increases through the issue of new shares with or with-

out preemptive rights, dividend policies and the repurchase of 

shares. Efforts to optimise capital structure are also supported 

through debt reduction measures and active management of 

working capital.

7  CONTINGENT AssETs AND  
CONTINGENT lIABIlITIEs

a contingent asset is a potential asset that arises from past 

events and whose existence is confirmed by the occurrence or 

non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events that 

are not fully under the control of the Company.

Contingent liabilities are potential commitments resulting from 

past events. their existence must be confirmed by the occur-

rence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 

that are not within the full control of the Company. however, 

contingent liabilities may also stem from current commitments 

resulting from past events that are not recorded because either 

the outflow of resources plus losses in economic benefit is not 

probable or the amount of the commitment cannot be esti-

mated with sufficient reliability.

the Biotest Group has contingent liabilities from guarantees 

in the amount of € 21,715 thousand (previous year: € 13,464 

thousand). these relate materially to guarantees for goods and 

services, in which the probability of a claim against the Biotest 

Group is considered low.

in italy, there is a risk that the italian health authorities will 

request reimbursement from the launch of Zutectra® in 2010 

with respect to additional revenues generated by Zutectra® 

in 2011 and 2012 in the retail market. Biotest classifies this 

claim as not justified, as the overall market for hepatitis B 

immunoglobulins in 2011 and 2012 remained more or less at 

the same level as in 2010 and the italian public health system 

experienced no disadvantages but only advantages through the 

launch of Zutectra®. for this reason, no provision for the claim 

was recognised in the consolidated financial statements. the 

risk is estimated to be in the low single-digit millions.
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8 OThER FINANCIAl COMMITMENTs

in € thousand in 2013 2014 to 2017 as of 2018 Total

obligations under long-term service agreements 10,626 37,942 8,346 56,914

future payments for rental and operating lease contracts 3,881 7,644 2,541 14,066

obligations for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 4,356 – – 4,356

obligations for the acquisition of intangible assets 1,391 – – 1,391

other financial obligations 218 208 – 426

status as of 31 December 2012 20,472 45,794 10,887 77,153

Payments for approved investments in fixed assets will be made 

within one year.

obligations under long-term service agreements relate to pur-

chase commitments under two toll manufacturing agreements 

for the period from 2013 to 2018 totalling € 56,914 thousand 

(previous year: € 67,851 thousand).

the Biotest Group rents or leases operating equipment as a 

lessee. operating leases include vehicle and office equipment 

with a base rental term of two to five years. in financial year 2012 

expenditure on rental and operating lease contracts amounted 

to € 4,208 thousand (previous year: € 5,051 thousand).

some rental, lease and operating lease agreements in con-

nection with plasma stations run by Plasma service Europe 

Gmbh include clauses allowing price adjustments based on 

the German consumer price index.

9  REl ATIONshIPs TO REl ATED COMPANIEs 
AND PERsONs

the Biotest Group maintains reportable relationships with the 

associate Biodarou P.J.s. Co., tehran, iran, and its subsidiary 

Plasma Gostar Pars P.J.s., tehran, iran, with the members of the 

Board of management and the supervisory Board and related 

parties as well as with shareholders with significant influence 

over Biotest aG.

A) AssOCIATEs

in the reporting year, Biodarou P.J.s. Co. acquired goods and ser-

vices from the Biotest Group companies totalling € 1,568 thou-

sand (previous year: € 4,677 thousand). the resulting receivables 

from associates totalled € 1,928 thousand on the reporting date 

(previous year: € 2,527 thousand).

B) OThER REl ATED PARTIEs

dr. Cathrin schleussner notified the Biotest Group that, as of 

19 december 2007, her voting rights in the Company totalled 

50.03 %. these voting rights are held via oGEl Gmbh, frank-

furt/main, Germany. oGEl Gmbh is controlled by dr. Cathrin 

schleussner.

the members of dr. hans schleussner’s family are also deemed 

related parties as defined by ias 24. Expenses for other related 

parties in the schleussner family amounted to € 18 thousand 

(2009: € 18 thousand). shareholder loans did not give rise to 

interest expense in financial years 2012 or 2011.

as a related party of the Biotest Group, Kreissparkasse Biberach 

maintains employee custody accounts for the long term incen-

tive Programme. the Biotest Group received interest income 

through 31 december 2012 of € 56 thousand (previous year: 

€ 504 thousand) on a no longer existing term deposit in the 

amount of € 20,000 thousand.

in the reporting year, Plasma Gostar Pars P.J.s. acquired goods 

and services from the Biotest Group companies in the amount 

of € 9,842 thousand (previous year: € 3,644 thousand). the 

resulting receivables from the subsidiary of the associate 

totalled € 7,989 thousand (previous year: € 3,644 thousand) 

as of the reporting date.
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C)  suPERvIsORy BOARD AND  

BOARD OF M ANAGEMENT

Board members

as of 31 december 2012, the members of the supervisory Board 

and the Board of management also served on statutory super-

visory boards and comparable controlling bodies of commercial 

enterprises as follows:

Supervisory Board

Dr. Alessandro Banchi,  

former management Board spokesman  

for the Boehringer ingelheim Group, milan, italy, 

Chairman of the supervisory Board, Enel s.p.a., rome, italy 

(supervisory Board Chairman since 10 may 2012)

Dr. Cathrin schleussner,  

CEo of oGEl Gmbh, neu-isenburg, Germany, 

deputy Chairperson

Dr. Christoph schröder,  

Partner and managing director  

of the investment firm odewald & Compagnie, Berlin, Germany, 

Pritidenta Gmbh, leinfelden-Echterdingen, Germany, 

oberberg Kliniken Gmbh, Berlin, Germany 

(supervisory Board member since 10 may 2012)

kerstin Birkhahn,  

engineer, langen, Germany

Thomas Jakob,  

businessman, Ulm, Germany, 

deputy Chairman of the management Board  

of Kreissparkasse Biberach, Biberach, Germany, 

aktiengesellschaft für Umsatzfinanzierung s.a.,  

senningerberg, luxembourg

Jürgen heilmann,  

administrative staff member, dreieich, Germany

supervisory Board remunerations

the remuneration of the supervisory Board for financial year 

2012 is laid down in the articles of association that were 

valid until 10 may 2012. the amendments to the articles of 

10 may 2012 enter into effect on 1 January 2013. Each super-

visory Board member receives an annual fixed remuneration 

of € 15 thousand. the Chairman of the supervisory Board 

receives twice this amount and his/her deputy one-and-a-

half times this sum. an additional € 3 thousand is paid for 

work performed on a supervisory Board committee, with 

the committee chairman receiving € 5 thousand. Biotest aG 

reimburses the value added tax payable on supervisory Board 

remuneration. members of the supervisory Board also receive 

a variable remuneration of € 1 thousand for every € 0.01 by 

which the dividend paid for the financial year exceeds € 0.24. 

this variable remuneration is limited to a maximum of € 10 

thousand. the members of Biotest aG’s supervisory Board 

are, like members of the Board of management, covered by 

the Group’s professional indemnity insurance (d&o liability 

insurance).

Biotest pays the insurance premiums for all members of the 

supervisory Board. the members of the supervisory Board also 

receive personal liability coverage in addition to the existing 

employer’s liability insurance. no other non-cash benefits were 

granted. 
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the supervisory Board members received the following 

compensation for their activities in financial year 2012:

in € thousand 
2012

fixed
remuneration

variable
remuneration

Total
compensation

dr. alessandro Banchi
(Chairman)
(since 10 may 2012) 33 16 49

dr. thorlef spickschen 
(Chairman)
(until 10 may 2012) 18 9 27

dr. Cathrin schleussner
(deputy Chairperson) 29 15 44

Kerstin Birkhahn 15 10 25

thomas Jakob 21 10 31

Jürgen heilmann 18 10 28

dr. Christoph schröder
(since 10 may 2012) 15 6 21

Prof. dr. marbod muff
(until 10 may 2012) 8 4 12

157 80 237

the members of the supervisory Board were paid the following 

compensation for financial year 2011:

in € thousand 
2011

fixed
remuneration

variable
remuneration

Total
compensation

dr. thorlef spickschen 
(Chairman) 51 25 76

dr. Cathrin schleussner
(deputy Chairperson) 28 15 43

Barbara arnold-schlosser
(until 1 august 2011) 10 6 16

Kerstin Birkhahn 15 10 25

thomas Jakob 18 10 28

Jürgen heilmann
(since 22 september 2011) 5 3 8

Prof. dr. marbod muff 23 10 33

150 79 229

in addition to the listed supervisory Board compensation, 

additional amounts paid in financial years 2012 and 2011 to 

employee council employee representatives on the supervisory 

Board under their employment agreements were also expensed. 

these amounts were based on collective bargaining agreements 

and/or company pay rates for non-pay-scale employees.

Board of Management

Prof. Dr. Gregor schulz,  

Umkirch, Germany,  

Chairman of the Board of management 

Dr. rer. pol. Michael Ramroth,  

mörfelden-walldorf, Germany,  

Chief financial officer 

total remuneration of active members of the Board of manage-

ment in financial year 2012 amounted to € 1,018 thousand 

(previous year: € 1,141 thousand). 

of this total, Prof. dr. Gregor schulz received a fixed salary of 

€ 340 thousand plus allowances (such as for insurance poli-

cies) as well as benefits in kind (company vehicle) totalling € 46 

thousand. his performance-related remuneration amounted 

to € 158 thousand.

dr. michael ramroth received a fixed salary of € 300 thousand 

plus allowances (such as for insurance policies) as well as 

benefits in kind (company vehicle) totalling € 35 thousand. 

his performance-related remuneration amounted to € 139 

thousand.

the Board of management agreement signed by both members of 

the Board of management includes a supplementary agreement 

regarding severance pay in the event of the early termination 

of the Board of management agreement due to circumstances 

clearly defined as a change of control. severance pay includes 

fixed compensation through the end of the term of the contract 

and is limited to a maximum of three times the annual fixed 

salary. Pro-rata bonuses calculated on the basis of the average 

for the previous two financial years plus compensation for the 

value in use of the Company vehicle provided are also paid. in 

addition to these entitlements, the severance payment shall also 

include a sum equal to twice the annual fixed salary. in total, 

however, the severance payment may not exceed three times 

the annual fixed salary.

there shall be no entitlement if the Board of management 

agreement is terminated for good cause, illness or incapacity 

to work, or if the Board of management member in question 

has reached the age of 60 or 65, respectively, at the time of 

termination or received remuneration or benefits from a third 

party in connection with the change of control.

no other one-off or recurring commitments exist in the event 

of termination of a Board of management assignment.
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Participation by members of the Board of management in 

the long term incentive Programme is not included in total 

remuneration and is as follows:

in € thousand Personal investment in preference 
shares (in number of share)

Fair value of options as of  
31 December

Total cost of the stock option 
plan in the financial year

2012
(2010, 2011 and 2012 tranches)

Prof. dr. Gregor schulz 1,800 673 216

dr. michael ramroth 1,800 593 190

3,600 1,266 406

2011
(2009, 2010 and 2011 tranches)

Prof. dr. Gregor schulz 1,800 280 55

dr. michael ramroth 1,800 246 49

3,600 526 104

the long term incentive Programme/2009 tranche was not 

paid out in financial year 2012 as targets were not met.

Pension entitlements for the current members of the Board of 

management total € 4,195 thousand (previous year: € 3,005 

thousand). of this amount, € 2,517 thousand (previous year: 

€ 1,908) was attributable to Prof. dr. Gregor schulz and € 1,678 

thousand (previous year: € 1,097 thousand) to dr. michael 

ramroth. for insolvency protection of pension entitlements, 

assets in the amount of € 1,471 thousand were transferred to 

Biotest vorsorge trust e.v. on 31 december 2012.

Provisions of € 4,234 thousand (previous year: € 3,975 thou-

sand) were recognised for pension commitments to former 

members of the Board of management and their dependents. 

as of the reporting date, there were no loans outstanding to 

members of the Company’s management bodies.

in financial year 2012 pension payments of € 415 thousand 

(previous year: € 415 thousand) were made to former members 

of the Board of management.
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10 PARTICIPATING INTEREsTs

the following is a list of the companies in which Biotest aG 

holds a direct or indirect participating interest in accordance 

with section 313 (2) of the German Commercial Code (hGB). 

all amounts were calculated for the purposes of the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with iasB rules.

Company name Company headquarters Total equity 
in € million

share of equity 
in %

Earnings after taxes 
in € million

Biotest Pharma Gmbh dreieich, Germany 103.1 100.00 1.3

Biotest Grundstücksverwaltungs Gmbh * dreieich, Germany 5.4 98.00 0.6

Biotest (UK) ltd. Birmingham, UK 2.1 100.00 0.4

Biotest italia s.r.l. milan, italy 9.3 100.00 0.4

Biotest austria Gmbh vienna, austria 2.1 100.00 0.5

Biotest (schweiz) aG rupperswil, switzerland 1.4 100.00 0.4

Biotest hungaria Kft. Budapest, hungary 3.7 100.00 0.4

Biotest farmaceutica ltda. são Paulo, Brazil – 0.1 100.00 – 3.0

Biotest hellas mEPE athens, Greece – 8.3 100.00 – 0.2

Biotest medical s.l.U. Barcelona, spain 0.2 100.00 0.1

Plasmadienst tirol Gmbh * innsbruck, austria 0.4 100.00 0.0

Plasma service Europe Gmbh */ ** dreieich, Germany 0.4 100.00 0.0

Biotest Pharmaceutical Corporation * Boca raton, Usa 75.1 100.00 – 8.2

Biotest Us Corporation Boca raton, Usa 77.4 100.00 0.0

Plazmaszolgálat Kft.* Budapest, hungary 0.4 100.00 0.1

Biodarou P.J.s. Co.* tehran, iran 5.8 49.00 2.1

Biotest Pharma ooo *** moscow, russia 0.0 100.00 0.0

Biotest seralc° n.v.*** mechelen, Belgium 0.0 100.00 0.0

* indirect interest
** after assumption of profit under the hGB by Biotest Pharma Gmbh
*** non-consolidated company
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Prof. dr. Gregor schulz dr. michael ramroth dr. Georg floß 

Chairman of the Board of management member of the Board of management  member of the Board of management  

11  PENDING AND IMMINENT lEGAl 
PROCEEDINGs

Provisions of € 640 thousand (previous year: € 1,429 thousand) 

were recognised for pending and imminent legal proceedings 

as of the reporting date.

12 EvENTs AFTER ThE REPORTING DATE

after the reporting date, the supervisory Board of Biotest aG 

appointed dr. Georg floß to the Board of management. as Chief 

operations officer (Coo), a newly created position, dr. floß is 

responsible for the areas of Production and operations. dr. floß 

has been employed with Biotest in a management capacity 

since 2008.

13 CORPOR ATE GOvERNANCE

the Board of management and the supervisory Board of Biotest 

aG have issued the declaration of Compliance required under 

section 161 of the German stock Corporation act (aktG) and 

have made it permanently available to shareholders on the 

Company’s website.

dreieich, Germany, 7 march 2013
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DEClARATION OF ThE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT IN ACCORDANCE wITh 
sECTION 37y NO. 1 OF ThE GERMAN sECuRITIEs TRADING ACT (wPhG) IN 
CONJuNCTION wITh sECTION 297 (2) sENTENCE 4 AND sECTION 315 (1) 
sENTENCE 6 OF ThE GERMAN COMMERCIAl CODE (hGB)

“to the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the 

consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 

position and profit or loss of the Group, and the Group management report includes a fair 

review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, 

together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected 

development of the Group.”

 

dreieich, 7 march 2013

Biotest aktiengesellschaft

management Board

Prof. dr. Gregor schulz dr. michael ramroth dr. Georg floß 

Chairman of the Board of management member of the Board of management  member of the Board of management  
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AuDIT OPINION

we have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Biotest aktiengesellschaft, 

dreieich, comprising statement of income, the statement of comprehensive income, the state-

ment of financial position, the cash flow statement, the statement of changes in equity, and the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the group management report for 

the fiscal year from 1 January 2012 to 31 december 2012. the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements and the group management report in accordance with ifrss (international 

financial reporting standards) as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German 

commercial law pursuant to sec. 315a (1) hGB (“handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code) 

is the responsibility of the Company’s management. our responsibility is to express an opinion 

on the consolidated financial statements and the group management report based on our audit.

we conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with sec. 317 hGB 

(“handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code) and German generally accepted standards for 

the audit of financial statements promulgated by the institut der wirtschaftsprüfer (institute of 

Public auditors in Germany) (idw). those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 

such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position 

and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with (German) 

principles of proper accounting and in the group management report are detected with reasonable 

assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the 

Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination 

of audit procedures. the effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and 

the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group 

management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. the 

audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, 

the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 

principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report. we 

believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

our audit has not led to any reservations.

in our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply 

with the with ifrss as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial 

law pursuant to sec. 315a (1) hGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position 

and results of operations of the Group in accordance with German principles of proper accounting. 

the group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as 

a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities 

and risks relating to future development.

Eschborn/frankfurt am main, 7 march 2013

Ernst & young Gmbh 

wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Kretschmer   Kaefer 

German Public auditor  German Public auditor
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suPERvIsORy BOARD REPORT

during the past financial year, the supervisory Board fulfilled its duties in accordance with the law, the 

articles of association and rules of procedure. it supervised and advised the Board of management 

regularly and carefully. the Board of management regularly, promptly and comprehensively informed 

the supervisory Board, both orally and in writing, of all issues of fundamental importance to the 

Company. these included issues relating to planning, business performance, further development, 

the risk situation and risk management. wherever the business did not perform as projected, the 

Board of management explained these deviations in detail and worked closely with the supervisory 

Board to coordinate and implement the strategy within the Company.

during financial year 2012 the supervisory Board held six regular meetings. in addition to the 

supervisory Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board of management regularly informed the 

Chairman of the supervisory Board about current business developments and major business 

transactions. Business transactions of material importance to the Company were discussed in 

detail based on reports by the Board of management. the supervisory Board was involved in 

decisions from an early stage. the Board of management duly submitted detailed documentation 

on business transactions requiring approval by the supervisory Board. in addition to discussing 

the topics indicated below at supervisory Board and committee meetings as well as the written 

and oral explanations given by the Board of management, the supervisory Board received monthly 

reports in writing on the business situation and business developments. these reports also included 

explanations of any deviations from current or planned developments. in addition, the Chairman 

of the supervisory Board and the Chairman of the audit Committee automatically received all 

internal audit reports. no conflicts of interest involving members of the Board of management and 

supervisory Board, which must be immediately disclosed to the supervisory Board and reported 

to the annual shareholders’ meeting, arose during the reporting year.

MAIN FOCus OF suPERvIsORy BOARD DElIBER ATIONs

topics regularly discussed by the supervisory Board included planning and the Company’s current 

business performance as well as its strategic direction, various transactions and financial position. 

another topic of focus was the marketing authorisation procedure for Bivigam™ in the Us.

at the meeting held on 20 march 2012, the supervisory Board reviewed the current business per-

formance, discussed Biotest aG’s single-entity financial statements and the consolidated financial 

statements for financial year 2011 together with the auditors from Ernst & young Gmbh and 

addressed individual financial statement items in detail. the single-entity financial statements of 

Biotest aG and the consolidated financial statements for financial year 2011 were subsequently 

approved. the annual financial statements were thereby adopted. other agenda items included 

a resolution regarding the appropriation of net profit and the adoption of the Corporate Govern-

ance and supervisory Board reports. also, proposed resolutions were added to the agenda for the 

annual shareholders’ meeting and a new instalment of the long term incentive Programme for 

the Board of management and corporate management members was approved. the Chairman of 

the supervisory Board reported on the target attainment by the Board of management members 

in financial year 2011 and presented the agreed Board of management targets for 2012. the Board 
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of management also reported on the current status of the marketing authorisation procedure for 

Bivigam™ in the Us and on the market for polyspecific immunoglobulins. the Board of management 

and supervisory Board further discussed environmental protection efforts at Biotest as well as the 

expansion of the policy concerning environment, health and safety. 

in a supervisory Board meeting held on 10 may 2012 directly prior to the annual shareholders’ 

meeting, the supervisory Board discussed the search of the Company’s business premises conducted 

by the frankfurt public prosecutor’s office. the search resulted from an anonymous tip alleging 

embezzlement and bribery by Biotest aG employees among others, in business dealings in russia. 

the supervisory Board and Board of management decided to hire a law firm to examine Biotest 

business dealings in russia from a compliance perspective, independently of the public prosecu-

tor’s investigation. the results of this examination will be reported directly to the Chairman of the 

supervisory Board. the Board of management also reported on the current status of the marketing 

authorisation procedure for Bivigam™ in the Us. furthermore, the Board of management provided 

information on the current state of the business based on performance figures for q1 2012 as well 

as on potential partnerships with regard to the monoclonal antibody Bt-062. finally, the supervisory 

Board prepared for the annual shareholders’ meeting. 

directly following the 2012 annual shareholders’ meeting, the supervisory Board held its first 

constitutive meeting on 10 may 2012. the supervisory Board appointed dr. alessandro Banchi 

as Chairman of the supervisory Board and dr. Cathrin schleussner as deputy Chairperson. in the 

same meeting, the members of the Personnel, Presiding and audit Committees were selected. 

the committee members are listed in the section Changes in the Board of management and 

supervisory Board. 

in the supervisory Board meeting of 28 June 2012, the Board of management informed the 

supervisory Board of the company’s current business outlook. the CEo of Biotest Pharmaceuticals 

Corp., Boca raton, florida, Usa, then reported on the current status of the expansion of the 

facilities in Boca raton and the status of the marketing authorisation procedure for Bivigam™. in 

addition, the Board of management gave an overview of the current status of the investigation for 

embezzlement and bribery in business dealings in russia. that same day, the contracted attorney 

notified the Personnel and Presiding Committees of the results of his examination regarding the 

business of Biotest in russia. the Board of management also reported on the market for plasma 

proteins, Biotest’s performance versus its competitors and the Company’s strategy. the Board 

of management discussed revisions to the environmental, health and safety policy. 

in the supervisory Board meeting of 19 september 2012, the Board of management reported on 

the current business outlook of the Company, in particular on its outstanding accounts payable. 

the Board of management also reported on possible participation in a tender process in russia. 

after discussing the opportunities and risks, the supervisory Board approved participation in 

the tender. the Board of management also discussed the timing and status of the marketing 

authorisation procedure for Bivigam™. the Board of management provided an overview of the 

“Centers of Excellence”. these expert teams will be tasked with determining future requirements 

for specific indication areas, licensing new products and initiating suitable business acquisitions 
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before they are officially implemented by the Board of Management. The head of each “Center of 

Excellence” reported on potential business acquisitions, partnerships and licensing in the respective 

indication area. The Supervisory Board discussed the presented projects in detail and proposed 

further examination by appropriate experts. During this meeting, the Supervisory Board also 

discussed the key elements of the five-year plan and the budget for 2013.  

In the Supervisory Board meeting of 5 December 2012, which took place at the subsidiary Biotest 

Pharmaceutical Corp. in Boca Raton, Florida, USA, the Board of Management reported on current 

business performance, including the expected figures for the 2012 financial year and the status 

of the marketing authorisation procedure for Bivigam™ in the US. The Board of Management 

further reported on the signing of new marketing agreements in China and Greece. The Board of 

Management discussed the expected growth in demand for immunoglobulins, the Biotest strategy 

and proposed measures for expanding Biotest’s capacity. The Supervisory Board discussed the 

ideas presented by the Board of Management and supported further internal growth. The Board 

of Management also presented its initial thoughts on a medium-term financing plan, including 

financing of possible acquisitions and capacity expansions. The Supervisory Board discussed 

the presented financing plan in detail. A decision on the financing plan will be made at the next 

Supervisory Board meeting in March 2013. Finally, the budget for financial year 2013 was dis-

cussed. The Supervisory Board approved the budget. The Board of Management also discussed 

risk management and the ten largest risks. The Chairman of the Audit Committee confirmed the 

results of the risk management review. The main focus areas for the audit of the 2012 financial 

statements were also established in coordination with Ernst & Young. 

Committees

The Supervisory Board was assisted in its work by the committees formed by it: the Personnel 

and Presiding Committee and the Audit Committee. 

The Personnel and Presiding Committees held two meetings with the Board of Management plus 

two additional meetings without the Board of Management. In the meeting of 20 March 2012, 

the Board of Management reported on the status of the marketing authorisation procedure for 

Bivigam™ in the US, the continuation of the Long Term Incentive Programme and the restructuring of 

payout criteria. The upcoming Supervisory Board appointments, the target attainment by the Board 

of Management in 2011 and the new Board of Management targets for 2012 were also discussed. 

In the second meeting on 28 June 2012, the status of the investigation by the public prosecutor’s 

office regarding embezzlement and bribery in business dealings in Russia was discussed, as were 

the status of the internal examination and the findings of the retained attorney to date. In the 

meetings of 19 September 2012 and 4 December 2012 which were not attended by the Board of 

Management, ideas for the future management structure of Biotest AG were discussed. 
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the audit Committee met on two occasions in 2012. in the first meeting held on 15 march 2012, it 

discussed the single-entity and consolidated financial statements for financial year 2011 as well as 

the findings of the auditors. in the second meeting on 30 november 2012, the Committee defined the 

focus areas for the 2012 annual financial statement audit, reviewed the internal audit report, adopted 

the 2013 audit plan, explained the risk management system and examined the ten largest risks.

CORPOR ATE GOvERNANCE

the supervisory Board monitored the development of corporate governance standards within 

the Company in 2012 on a continual basis. the Board of management and the supervisory Board 

reported on corporate governance in accordance with section 3.10 of the German Corporate Govern-

ance Code in the Corporate Governance report, which was published along with the declaration of 

conformity with the recommendations of the government commission on the German Corporate 

Governance Code in accordance with section 161 of the German stock Corporation act (aktien-

gesetz or aktG). in march 2013, the Board of management and the supervisory Board of Biotest aG 

issued a declaration of conformity with the recommendations of the government commission on 

the German Corporate Governance Code in accordance with aktG section 161.

ChANGEs IN ThE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT AND  
ThE suPERvIsORy BOARD

the supervisory Board appointed dr. floss as a member of the Board of management by circular 

resolution on 9 January 2013. dr. floss will serve a three-year term and was granted full represen-

tative authority. in addition, the supervisory Board approved the extension of Professor schulz’s 

term through 31 december 2014.

in light of the expiration of the term of all supervisory Board members at the conclusion of the 

annual shareholders’ meeting on 10 may 2012, both the annual shareholders’ meeting of 10 may 

2012 and the employees appointed new members to the supervisory Board. dr. alessandro Banchi, 

dr. Cathrin schleussner, dr. Christoph schröder and thomas Jakob were appointed as shareholder 

members of the supervisory Board. the employees appointed Kerstin Birkhahn and Jürgen heilmann 

as their representatives. dr. thorlef spickschen and Professor marbod muff will be departing 

the supervisory Board. the Chairman of the supervisory Board would like to thank the departing 

members for their longstanding loyal collaboration. 

in the first constitutive meeting of the supervisory Board following the 2012 annual share-

holders’ meeting on 10 may 2012, the supervisory Board appointed dr. alessandro Banchi as 

Chairman of the supervisory Board. dr. Cathrin schleussner was appointed deputy Chairperson. 

during the same meeting, the supervisory Board appointed the members of the committees. the 

Presiding Committee members are dr. alessandro Banchi (Chairman), dr. Cathrin schleussner and 

dr. Christoph schröder. the Personnel Committee consists of dr. alessandro Banchi (Chairman), 

dr. Cathrin schleussner and thomas Jakob. appointed to the audit Committee were dr. Christoph 

schröder (Chairman), dr. alessandro Banchi and Jürgen heilmann.



101

sINGlE-ENTIT y AND CONsOlIDATED FINANCIAl sTATEMENTs

Ernst & young Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft audited the single-entity financial state-

ments of Biotest aG and the consolidated financial statements as of 31 december 2012 along 

with the management report and Group management report and issued an unqualified opinion. 

the abovementioned documents, the auditor’s report and the Board of management’s proposal 

on the appropriation of net profit were submitted to all members of the supervisory Board in a 

timely manner. they were discussed in detail at the meeting of the audit Committee on 18 march 

2013 as well as at the meeting of the supervisory Board on 22 march 2013. in both meetings, the 

auditors reported on the material results of the audit and were on hand to answer questions and 

provide additional information.

after reviewing and discussing the single-entity and consolidated financial statements, the 

management report and Group management report and the Board of management’s proposal 

on the appropriation of the net profit, the supervisory Board raised no objections and approved 

the auditor’s report. the supervisory Board approved the single-entity and consolidated financial 

statements for financial year 2012 as prepared by the Board of management. the annual financial 

statements are thereby adopted. the supervisory Board approved the Board of management’s 

proposal on the appropriation of net profit. 

the supervisory Board would like to thank the Board of management and all employees for their 

commitment and successful work in financial year 2012.

dreieich, Germany, 22 march 2013

the supervisory Board

dr. alessandro Banchi 

Chairman
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CorPoratE GovErnanCE rEPort

JOINT REPORT By ThE BOARD OF M ANAGEMENT 

AND ThE suPERvIsORy BOARD OF BIOTEsT AG IN 

ACCORDANCE wITh suBPAR AGR APh 3.10 OF ThE 

GERMAN CORPOR ATE GOvERNANCE CODE (GCGC)

Corporate governance principles

the management and control practices of Biotest aG are aimed 

at securing the Company’s long-term success. the Board of 

management and the supervisory Board work closely together 

and base their actions on internationally recognised standards 

of good corporate governance. the Company’s management 

and control practices meet all applicable legal requirements 

and the recommendations (prescribed targets) of the German 

Corporate Governance Code except where expressly indicated 

in the declaration of Compliance. amended and expanded 

many times over recent years, the recommendations and sug-

gestions of the Code represent a high standard in our view, 

including at an international level.

Notes regarding the GCGC

the government commission on the German Corporate Gov-

ernance Code, in its plenary session on 15 may 2012, adopted 

changes to the Code. since the changes came into force during 

the fiscal year 2012, the following declaration of compliance 

applies to both the old version of 26 may 2010 as well as the 

new version of 15 may 2012.

DECl AR ATION OF COMPlIANCE

Declaration by the Board of Management and the 

Supervisory Board of Biotest AG on the recommendations of 

the German Corporate Governance Code in accordance with 

Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)

since the last declaration of Compliance dated 20 march 2012, 

which referred to the German Corporate Governance Code as 

amended on 26 may 2010, Biotest aG has complied with all of 

the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance 

Code as amended on 26 may 2010 with the following exceptions:

•  Biotest aG has not followed the recommendation in sec-

tion 3.8 (3) of the German Corporate Governance Code to 

set a deductible on d&o insurance for the members of the 

supervisory Board in the amount prescribed in aktG section 

93 (2) sentence 3 for members of the Board of management. 

Biotest aG has established in its view an appropriate deductible 

for members of its supervisory Board. however, this does not 

meet the deductible amount for supervisory Board members 

required by law. in Biotest’s view, an increase in the deductible 

set would be out of proportion with current remuneration for 

supervisory Board duties.

•  Biotest aG has not followed the recommendation in section 

5.3.3 of the German Corporate Governance Code to form a 

supervisory Board nomination committee. Biotest aG’s super-

visory Board comprises only four shareholder representatives. 

Biotest aG considers the formation of a committee from the 

small number of shareholder representatives to be unnecessary. 

the improvement in transparency of the selection procedure at 

which the recommendation is aimed is also ensured at Biotest 

aG in full meetings of the supervisory Board. 

•  section 5.4.1 of the German Corporate Governance Code 

recommends that the supervisory Board set specific tar-

gets with regard to its composition, taking into account the 

international activities of the Company, potential conflicts 

of interest, an age limit for supervisory Board members (to 

be defined) and diversity in light of the Company’s specific 

situation. these specific targets should include adequate 

female representation. the supervisory Board must take 

these targets into account when making recommendations to 

the selection committees. the targets and the status of their 

implementation are to be published in the Corporate Govern-

ance report. the supervisory Board of Biotest aG has already 

set a specific target with regard to the maximum age of its 

members. in addition, female members make up one-third 

of the supervisory Board. an internal analysis found that, in 

the case of Biotest aG, due to past and also future above-

average participation by women on the supervisory Board, 

no express targets are required. to this extent, an exemption 

from section 5.4.1 (2) of the German Corporate Governance 

Code is declared. accordingly, corresponding statements in 

the Corporate Governance report cannot be made. therefore, 

an exemption from section 5.4.1 (3) of the German Corporate 

Governance Code is also declared.

the Board of management and supervisory Board further declare 

their compliance with all the recommendations of the German 

Corporate Governance Code as amended on 15 may 2012, with 

the following exceptions:

•  Biotest aG will continue not to follow the recommendation 

in section 3.8 (3) of the German Corporate Governance Code 

to set a deductible on d&o insurance for the members of the 

supervisory Board in the amount prescribed in aktG section 

93 (2) sentence 3 for members of the Board of management. 

the reasons explained above remain valid.



103

•  Biotest aG will also continue not to follow the recommendation 

in section 5.3.3 of the German Corporate Governance Code to 

form a supervisory Board nomination committee. the reasons 

explained above remain valid.

•  the revisions to the German Corporate Governance Code of 

15 may 2012 include new recommendations under section 

5.4.1 paragraphs 2 and 3 of the German Corporate Governance 

Code, which state that the supervisory Board is to establish 

specific targets with regard to its composition, taking into 

account the international activities of the Company, potential 

conflicts of interest, the number of independent supervisory 

Board members per section 5.4.2 of the German Corporate 

Governance Code, an age limit for supervisory Board members 

(to be defined) and diversity in light of the Company’s specific 

situation. these specific targets should include adequate 

female representation. the supervisory Board must take 

these targets into account when making recommendations 

to the selection committees. the targets and the status of 

their implementation are to be published in the Corporate 

Governance report. the supervisory Board of Biotest aG was 

reappointed in may 2012. it continues to consist one-third of 

female members and, with the new Chairman of the super-

visory Board, who is an italian citizen, reflects the international 

activities of the company. 

  Based on the above considerations regarding the exemption 

from section 5.4.1 of the German Corporate Governance Code 

as amended on 26 may 2010, Biotest aG will continue not 

to follow the recommendations in section 5.4.1 (2) and (3) 

of the German Corporate Governance Code as amended on 

15 may 2012. 

  Biotest aG will not follow the new recommendation to set 

a target for the number of independent supervisory Board 

members. the articles of association includes a clause giving 

oGEl Gmbh the right to appoint members to the supervisory 

Board. in addition, one supervisory Board member has a busi-

ness relationship with Kreissparkasse Biberach as a major 

shareholder. the supervisory Board is convinced, that the 

number of independent persons is sufficient for the super-

visory Board of Biotest aG. in addition has an internal analysis 

shown that, under its current situation and shareholder 

structure, Biotest aG is not required to set specific targets 

for supervisory Board membership. 

•  section 5.4.6 (2) of the German Corporate Governance Code 

has been amended. it recommends that performance-based 

remuneration granted to members of the supervisory Board 

be based on the long-term performance of the company. this 

is generally understood as a multi-year basis for calculating 

performance-based remuneration. Biotest aG will not follow 

this recommendation. Pursuant to section 16 (1) (b) of the 

articles of association, the members of the supervisory Board 

of Biotest aG will receive annual variable remuneration for 

each past financial year based on the amount of the dividends 

paid. Biotest aG is of the opinion that the currently specified 

variable remuneration for the supervisory Board is appropri-

ate as a calculation basis and in its amount. if, as part of its 

regularly scheduled review of the remuneration system, the 

Company comes to the conclusion that the performance-

based remuneration system should be adjusted, it will take 

into account the recommendation of section 5.4.6. (2) of the 

German Corporate Governance Code in its analysis. 

•  the recommendation of section 5.4.6 (3) has been amended 

to the effect that the remuneration of the supervisory Board 

no longer needs to be disclosed in the Corporate Governance 

report but rather in the notes to the financial statements or 

the management report. the Company will continue to disclose 

supervisory Board remuneration in the Corporate Governance 

report. however, the latter is part of the management report 

of Biotest aG, so that there is no exemption from the recom-

mendation in 5.4.6 (3) to report.

dreieich, Germany, 22 march 2013

for the Board of management                  for the supervisory Board

 

Prof. dr. Gregor schulz dr. michael ramroth dr. Georg floß              dr. alessandro Banchi
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CORPOR ATE GOvERNANCE IN ThE FINANCIAl yEAR

the annual shareholders’ meeting of Biotest aG took place 

on 10 may 2012 in frankfurt/main, Germany. 89.71 % of the 

voting capital (ordinary share capital) was represented. all 

resolutions submitted (appropriation of net profit, approval of 

the actions of the members of the Board of management and 

supervisory Board, selection of the external auditors, appoint-

ment of (new) members to the supervisory Board, adjust-

ment of supervisory Board remuneration and miscellaneous 

changes to the articles) were approved by a clear majority.

DIRECTORs’ DEAlINGs (REPORTED TR ANsACTIONs By 

MEMBERs OF MANAGEMENT PuRsuANT TO wPhG § 15A)

in financial year 2012 the following reportable share purchase 

and sale transactions were undertaken by members of execu-

tive bodies and other senior executives of Biotest aG: 

Date:
Reporting 
Party Role

Transaction 
Type and venue

Financial 
Instrument IsIN

Number 
of units

Price  
in €

Transaction 
volume in €

11 may 2012
dr. michael  
ramroth Chief financial officer

Purchase / 
otC

Preference 
shares dE0005227235 500 40.3600 20,180.00

5 June 2012
dr. martin  
reinecke

head of Plasma Business division,  
alliances and Protein supply

Purchase / 
xetra

Preference 
shares dE0005227235 300 37.5000 11,250.00

17 august 2012 ogel Gmbh Closely related company
Purchase / 
otC

ordinary 
shares dE0005227201 2,843 41.8317 118,927.52

16 november 2012 ogel Gmbh Closely related company
Purchase / 
xetra

ordinary 
shares dE0005227201 3,000 46.9620 140,886.00

23 november 2012 ogel Gmbh Closely related company
Purchase / 
xetra

ordinary 
shares dE0005227201 1,288 46.9609 60,485.63

REMuNER ATION OF ThE BOARD OF M ANAGEMENT 

AND ThE suPERvIsORy BOARD

an explanation of the structure of the remuneration system 

and of the remuneration paid to active members of executive 

bodies in 2012 as part of the Corporate Governance report.

the remuneration report also forms part of the Group manage-

ment report.

Board of Management remuneration

the supervisory Board determines the remuneration of mem-

bers of the Board of management. it consists of a fixed salary, 

a bonus and a component that entails a long-term incentive 

effect and risk elements. added to this are benefits in kind. 

the criteria for determining appropriate remuneration take 

into account the duties of the individual Board of management 

member, his/her personal performance, the economic situation, 

the success and future prospects of the Company, the typical 

remuneration paid at peer companies and the remuneration 

structure that otherwise applies at the Company. in accord-

ance with subparagraph 4.2.3 of the GCGC, the following is an 

outline of the Company’s remuneration structure for Board of 

management members, including non-monetary components.

Fixed remuneration

the non-performance-related fixed remuneration of members 

of the Board of management is composed of their fixed salary 

plus benefits in kind. the amount is based on Biotest’s financial 

situation and future prospects and on the level of remuneration 

paid in the competitive environment. the annual fixed salary 

is specified for the entire term of the respective contract of 

employment and paid in twelve monthly instalments.
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Benefits in kind

in addition to their fixed salary, members of the Board of 

management receive benefits in kind. Board members Prof. 

dr. Gregor schulz and dr. michael ramroth are covered pro-

fessionally and personally by Biotest aG’s collective accident 

insurance policy. in addition to the existing employer’s liabil-

ity insurance, they also receive personal liability coverage. 

furthermore, the members of the Board of management 

receive an allowance towards their social security and direct 

insurance contributions.

in accordance with the statutory regulations, Biotest aG has 

obtained directors and officers (d&o) liability insurance coverage 

for the members of the Board of management with an appropri-

ate deductible. the deductible equals 10 % of the insured event 

and is limited to 150 % of the fixed annual remuneration of each 

member of the Board of management and meets the require-

ments of section 93 (2) sentence 3 of the aktG. Both members of 

the Board of management are provided with a top-of-the-range 

company vehicle free of charge; personal use of the vehicle is 

permitted.

Bonuses

the performance-related remuneration component (bonuses) 

is based on the achievement of corporate and personal targets. 

in calculating bonuses, EBit and return on capital employed 

(roCE) are each weighted at 30 % and achievement of personal 

targets set in the previous financial year at 40 %. a separate 

bonus for the achievement of targets of particular significance 

may also be determined by the supervisory Board’s Presiding 

Committee.

Remuneration component with a long-term  

incentive effect and risk elements

the remuneration component with a long-term incentive 

effect and risk elements is based on the long-term incentive 

Programme (ltiP) of Biotest aG. in addition to the members 

of the Board of management, selected managers who have 

a significant impact on the success of the company through 

their position within the Group, their decisions, leadership and 

actions also participate in the programme.

the programme is designed in accordance with established 

capital market criteria for systems of this kind and complies with 

the requirements of the GCGC. Participation in the programme 

requires a personal investment by the participant in the form of 

a purchase of preference shares of Biotest aG. the programme is 

described in detail in section f1 of the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, including the process for calculating incen-

tive payments. it is anticipated that participants will be paid 

the incentive component in may of the year following expiry 

of the tranche.

Total remuneration paid to the Board of Management

for their work in financial year 2012 the active members of the 

Board of management in 2012 were paid a total remuneration 

of € 1,018 thousand (2011: € 1,141 thousand). of this total, 

Prof. dr. Gregor schulz received € 544 thousand and dr. michael 

ramroth received € 474 thousand.

the fixed salary of Prof. schulz in 2012 totalled € 340 thousand 

plus benefits in kind valued at € 46 thousand and a bonus of 

€ 158 thousand. in financial year 2012 dr. ramroth was paid a 

fixed salary of € 300 thousand and fringe benefits worth € 35 

thousand. his bonus amounted to € 139 thousand.

in addition, ltiP amounts not yet paid out over the entire period 

totalled € 394 thousand for Prof. schulz and € 347 thousand for 

dr. ramroth as of the 31 december 2012 reporting date. no 

loans or advances were granted to the members of the Board 

of management in financial year 2012. in the previous financial 

year, no member of the Board of management received pay-

ments or services or any such commitments from a third party 

in respect of his work as a member of the Board of management.
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Pension entitlements

the Board of management is covered under Biotest aG’s com-

pany pension scheme. members have been given individual com-

mitments in accordance with the terms of the Biotest aG pension 

plan. for this purpose, provisions are recognised in accordance 

with ifrs. as of the reporting date, pension entitle ments 

amounted to € 4,195 thousand, of which € 1,471 thousand were 

reinsured. the amount of the entitlement is dependent on the 

length of service, eligible salary and applicable benefits scale 

above and below the contribution limits of Germany’s statutory 

pension scheme.

€ 184 thousand has been set aside under the current deferred 

compensation programme in place at Biotest.

measurement is based on actuarial reports prepared by an 

independent actuary and calculated in accordance with the 

projected unit credit method. for a more detailed explanation 

see section B12 of the notes to the consolidated financial state-

ments.

assets in the amount of € 1,471 thousand were transferred 

to Biotest vorsorge trust e.v. for the insolvency protection of 

pension entitlements.

Change of control

in the event of the premature termination of the contracts of the 

members of the Board of management due to a clearly defined 

change of control, both contracts include a severance payment 

provision. this provision is described in the notes to the financial 

statements in accordance with section 315 (4) of the German 

Commercial Code (hGB).

Remuneration system for former members of the  

Board of Management and their surviving dependants

former Board of management members and their surviving 

dependants receive contractually agreed pension benefits. 

Pension entitlements amount to € 5,112 thousand, of which 

€ 878 thousand are reinsured. Pension provisions are measured 

in accordance with ias 26.

Supervisory Board remuneration

the remuneration of the supervisory Board for financial year 

2012 is laid down in the articles of association that were valid 

until 10 may 2012. the amendments to the articles of 10 may 

2012 enter into effect on 1 January 2013. members receive an 

annual fixed remuneration of € 15 thousand each. the Chair-

man of the supervisory Board receives twice this amount and 

his/her deputy one-and-a-half times this sum. an additional € 3 

thousand is paid for work performed on a supervisory Board 

committee, with the committee chairman receiving € 5 thou-

sand. Biotest aG reimburses the value added tax payable on 

supervisory Board remuneration. members of the supervisory 

Board also receive a variable remuneration of € 1,000 for every 

€ 0.01 by which the dividend paid for the financial year exceeds 

€ 0.24. this variable remuneration is limited to a maximum of 

€ 10,000.

the members of Biotest aG’s supervisory Board are, like members 

of the Board of management, covered by the Group’s professional 

indemnity insurance (d&o liability insurance).

Biotest pays the insurance premiums for all members of the 

supervisory Board. the members of the supervisory Board are 

insured for personal liability under the existing public liability 

insurance. no other non-cash benefits were granted. supervisory 

Board remuneration, including reimbursement of value added tax 

payable in some cases, is listed by individual in the following table.

€ thousand
2012

fixed  
renumeration

variable  
renumeration Total

dr. alessandro Banchi
(since 10 may 2012) 33 16 49

Kerstin Birkhahn 15 10 25

Jürgen heilmann 18 10 28

thomas Jakob 21 10 31

Prof. dr. marbod muff
(up to 10 may 2012) 8 4 12

dr. Cathrin schleussner 29 15 44

dr. Christoph schröder
(since 10 may 2012) 15 6 21

dr. thorlef spickschen 
(up to 10 may 2012) 18 9 27

Total 157 80 237
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A

AlBuMIN (OR huM AN AlBuMIN)

Protein produced in the liver that acts to maintain the colloid osmotic 

pressure of the blood and as a transport vehicle for many physiological 

and pharmacological substances.

ANTIBODIEs

Proteins in the blood plasma that are produced by special cells of the 

immune system as a defence reaction against various disease pathogens.

ANTIBODy DEFICIENCy syNDROME

the body’s inability to react to an antigen stimulus with sufficient anti-

body production. a distinction is made between primary (congenital) 

and secondary (acquired) antibody deficiency syndromes.

AuTOIMMuNE DIsEAsE

activity of the immune system directed against tissues and cells of 

one’s own body.

B

B- CElls

a subclass of the white blood cells, which play a key role in combating 

foreign pathogens by the immune system.

BIOThER APEuTIC(s)

Biotechnologically manufactured drugs.

C

ClOT TING FACTORs 

Proteins responsible for blood coagulation. the 13 different clotting 

factors are designated with the roman numerals i to xiii.

Cy TOMEGAly/Cy TOMEGAlOvIRus (CMv) 

Usually harmless infection caused by cytomegalovirus (Cmv). if it occurs 

during pregnancy, it can cause serious damage to the unborn child. one 

of the most common virus infections in organ transplantation, which 

can lead to loss of the transplant.

D

DEx A METhAsONE

a drug that is used, among other things, in combination with lena-

lidomide to treat multiple myeloma and in the treatment of various 

tumours. dexamethasone has an anti-inflammatory action and a 

dampening effect on the immune system.

F

FIBRINOGEN

Protein produced in the liver that plays a central part in blood clotting. 

during clotting, it is converted to fibrin, which acts like a glue in the 

blood for sealing wounds. a fibrinogen deficiency is one possible cause 

of blood clotting disorders.

h

hAEM ATOlOGy

the branch of medicine that involves the blood and diseases of the blood.

hAEMOPhIlIA

a blood clotting disorder resulting from defective or missing coagulation 

factors viii or ix (type a or B haemophilia).

hEPATITIs

inflammation of the liver, which can be attributed to various causes, 

especially virus infections and autoimmune diseases. it leads to damage 

and death of liver cells and to impairment or even cessation of the 

liver’s metabolic functions. liver transplantation is often necessary.

hyPERIMMuNOGlOBulINs

immunoglobulin (antibody) preparations that contain defined antibody 

specificity in a higher and standardised concentration.

Glossary / tEChniCal tErms
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I

IMMuNE sysTEM

totality of all factors responsible for recognising and defending against 

infectious agents, and which exercise control over self-destructive 

processes. 

IMMuNGlOBulIN M (IGM)

largest antibody molecule in the plasma. in conjunction with the com-

plement system (a system of plasma proteins activated as part of the 

immune response), it destroys bacteria and neutralises bacterial toxins.

IMMuNOCONJuGATE

the result of the binding of an antibody to a second functional mol-

ecule. in the case of Bt-062, the immunoconjugate consists of the 

monoclonal antibody and a highly active toxin.

IMMuNOGlOBulINs

immunoglobulin (antibody) preparations that contain defined antibody 

specificity in a higher and standardised concentration. 

IMMuNOlOGy

the science of immune defence and immune regulation to maintain 

the body’s integrity, i.e. distinguishing self from non-self.

INDIC ATION

the therapeutic use for which an active substance or medication can 

be developed and approved.

INTENsIvE CARE MEDICINE

the branch of medicine that deals with the diagnosis and treatment 

of life-threatening conditions.

INTR A MusCul AR ADMINIsTR ATION

administration of a medication by injection into a muscle.

INTR AvENOus

administration of a medication by injection into a vein.

l

lENAlIDOMIDE

a drug that is used in combination with dexamethasone especially for 

the treatment of multiple myeloma; one of its actions is to inhibit the 

division of certain tumour cells.

M

METhOTREx ATE

a drug for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and other auto-

immune diseases (for example, psoriasis and multiple sclerosis) and 

various tumours.

MONOClONAl ANTIBODIEs (mAb)

antibodies whose production can be traced back to a single cell and 

which each specifically recognise and bind only a certain antigen.

MulTIPlE MyElOM A

malignant plasma cell growth in the bone marrow.

MulTIPlE sClEROsIs

Chronic inflammatory disease of the central nervous system, which can 

lead to abnormalities of the nervous system, such as difficulty walking 

or disturbances of vision.

P

PAul EhRlICh INsTITuTE (PEI)

the German federal agency for serums and vaccines. the PEi is 

responsible, among other things, for the approval of clinical trials, 

the authorisation of vaccines and preparations derived from human 

plasma, and for the release for sale of production batches.

PhARM ACODyNA MICs

the sum of all processes caused by the action of a medication in the 

body, from the description of the activity profile and the dose-response 

relationship to the mechanism of action.

PhARM ACOkINETICs

the sum of all processes that a medication undergoes in the body, from 

absorption of the medication to its distribution in the body, biochemical 

conversion and breakdown, and elimination of the substance (release, 

absorption into the blood stream, distribution in the body, metabolism, 

elimination).
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Pl ACEBO

a dummy medication. medicinally inactive substance that is used to 

meet a subjective need for drug therapy. in many clinical trials, a control 

group is treated with placebo. the results are compared with those of 

the participants who have received the trial drug. 

Pl AsM A PROTEINs

Collective term for the proteins that occur most commonly in the blood 

plasma. 

Pl AsM A PROTEIN ThER APEuTICs AssOCIATION (PPTA)

association of the world’s leading manufacturers of plasma proteins.

Pl AsM APhEREsIs

obtaining of plasma from donated blood. the cellular components are 

returned to the donor. this leaves blood plasma, a clear yellowish fluid, 

which contains the blood’s soluble protein components.

Pl ACEBO

a dummy medication. medicinally inactive substance that is used to 

meet a subjective need for drug therapy. in many clinical trials, a control 

group is treated with placebo. the results are compared with those of 

the participants who have received the trial drug.

PRIM ARy IMMuNE DEFICIENCy (PID)

Congenital defect of the immune system that leads to a deficiency 

of antibodies.

PRIONs

Proteins that can occur in both normal and pathogenic structures in 

the human or animal body. 

PsORIAsIs

scaly patches. Chronic skin disease.

R

RECOMBINANT

recombinant proteins are produced with the aid of genetically modified 

micro-organisms or cell lines.

RhEuM ATOID ARThRITIs

Chronic inflammatory disease of the joints.

s

sEPsIs

Generalised inflammatory response of the body to infection cause by 

disease pathogens.

sERuMPROTEINE

name given to proteins contained in blood serum.

suBCuTANEOus ADMINIsTR ATION (sC)

administering a drug by injecting it beneath the skin.

suBsTITuTION ThER APy

medicinal use of a substance that is not being produced sufficiently 

by the body itself.

sysTEMIC luPus ERy ThEM ATOsus (slE)

autoimmune disease that often starts with fever; patients usually 

have rheumatoid arthritis-like joint pains. Erythema (redness of the 

skin due to dilation of the capillaries) occurs. other organs can also be 

affected by this disease.

T

ThROMBOGENIC ACTIvIT y

increased thrombogenic activity, that is, an increased content of throm-

bogenic factors in a medication, can increase the risk of thrombosis 

in treated patients

Z

ZOsTER vIRus (vARICEll A ZOsTER vIRus)

a virus belonging to the herpesvirus family. initial infection usually 

causes chickenpox. reactivation, for example when the immune system 

is weakened, can lead to shingles.
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A

AssOCIATED COMPANy

a Group company that is not fully consolidated (participating interest 

< 50 %) and that is significantly influenced by the parent company.

C

C Ash FlOw

actual movement of cash into or out of the company in a period (inflows 

and outflows). an indicator of a company’s internal financing ability.

CONTRIBuTION M ARGIN

a category used in cost accounting. the difference between revenue 

and variable costs.

CuRRENCy OPTIONs

derivative financial instruments used to hedge against risks from 

exchange rate fluctuations. the buyer of a currency option acquires 

the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell a currency at a specific 

exchange rate on a specified date.

D

D&O INsuR ANCE

directors and officers liability insurance. Professional liability insurance 

cover that is taken out by a company for its directors (Board of manage-

ment and supervisory Board members, for example) and executives.

DEFERRED TA xEs

income taxes payable or receivable in the future, which do not yet 

constitute actual receivables or liabilities as of the reporting date.

DERIvATIvE

a financial instrument, the price of which is generally based on market-

related factors. Used among other things to hedge against fluctuations 

in value.

DIRECTORs’ DEAlINGs

transactions in securities issued by a listed company undertaken 

by the company’s management or by related companies or parties.

DIsAGIO

a discount from the par value of a security; the opposite of agio 

(premium).

E

EBIT

Earnings before interest and taxes. 

EBT

Earnings before taxes.

Glossary / finanCial tErms
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F

FACTORING

a financial service. the factor acquires a company’s accounts receivable 

due from the company’s debtors.

FAIR vAluE

a rational and unbiased estimate of the potential market price of an 

asset.

FINANCIAl AssETs AT FAIR vAluE ThROuGh  

PROFIT AND lOss (FAF v TPl)

a financial instrument category as defined under ifrs 7.

FORwARD FOREIGN ExChANGE TR ANsACTION

Binding agreement to exchange one currency for another on a specific 

date at a specified rate.

h

hEDGE ACCOuNTING

accounting technique. Creates hedging relationships between under-

lying transactions and derivative financial instruments used for hedging 

purposes.

hElD TO M ATuRIT y (hTM)

a financial instrument category as defined under ifrs 7.

l

lOANs AND RECEIvABlEs (l AR)

a financial instrument category as defined under ifrs 7.

lONG TERM INCENTIvE PROGR A MME

a variable, success-based compensation system.

M

MONTE- CARlO -sIMul ATION

stochastic process in which probability theory is used in an attempt to 

obtain numerical solutions to problems that are difficult or impossible 

to solve analytically.

P

PROFIT PARTICIPATION RIGhTs

Under a profit participation agreement,  the holder of the participation 

rights agrees to make a certain amount of capital available to the issuer 

of the rights. in return, the holder is granted asset rights to which 

shareholders of the issuer are also typically entitled (such as a share of 

the issuer’s profits, a share of its liquidation proceeds or option rights).

R

RETuRN ON CAPITAl EMPlOyED (ROCE)

a measure of the return that a company realises on its capital.

s

sENsITIvIT y ANAlysIs

Used to determine the impact of specific factors on certain performance 

indicators.

swAP

Exchange of receivables and payables in the same or a foreign currency 

with the aim of obtaining a debt, interest rate or yield advantage.

syNDICATED lOAN

loan provided to a single borrower by a group of banks.

w

wORkING CAPITAl

short-term tied-up capital.
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